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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in the provision of foundation works (include
the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel H-piles and driven
steel H piles, and other civil work, which includes site formation
works, and road and pavement works) and tunneling works (include
pipe jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over tunnel works) in
Hong Kong and overseas.

In late March 2021, the Group has diversified and expanded to
premises revitalisation and enhancement business by entering
two cooperation agreements which relate to premises situated in
Guangzhou, a first-tier city in the PRC.

The Group has also invested in an associated company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project. The
Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments
situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2023, 96.4% of the apartments have been sold and
the share of profits from the Birmingham Property Project for the
2023 Financial Year was approximately HK$1.7 million.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

RESULT SUMMARY

During the 2023 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue from the continuing operations of approximately
HK$707.8 million, representing a decrease of 3.8% from the 2022
Corresponding Year. Gross profit from the continuing operations
of the Group amounted to HK$76.2 million, a decrease of 26.7%
from the 2022 Corresponding Year. Profit attributable to owners
of Company from the continuing operations amounted to HK$12.1
million representing a decrease of 65.0% as compared to that in the
2022 Corresponding Year. Earnings per share from continuing and
discontinued operations was HK$0.02 for the 2023 Financial Year
comparing with HK$0.07 for the 2022 Corresponding Year. The
Group maintains healthy financial position with net current assets of
HK$259.0 million and net cash position at the financial year end.

Despite the challenges and difficulties, brought by the COVID-19
pandemic with the dedicated support of our staff and customers,
the Group has been awarded 11 contracts with original contract
sums of totaling HK$866.1 million and the outstanding contract
value (based on the original contract value) as at 31 March 2023
amounted to approximately HK$869.4 million.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, despite of the lifting of zero-COVID policies in
Mainland China and the relaxation of social distancing measures
in Hong Kong earlier this year, the operating environment remains
uncertain. The recovery of the global economy is still halted by
various factors such as the hiking of inflation rate and the rising of
interest rates.

In tandem with the well-established foundation and tunneling
business, the Group will continue to develop the premises
revitalization and enhancement projects in Guangzhou, a first-tier
city in the PRC. The Group will continue to lease premises whose
asset value have declined. In order to scale up the premises
revitalization and enhancement business and to increase the
operating revenue, the Group will improve their design, convenience
and security, and introduce environment-friendly features, based on
“value plans” that reflect local characteristics and tenant needs. The
Group will also assess and monitor regularly the performance of the
portfolio.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

With a focus on improving shareholder returns, the Group will seek
opportunities to diversify its business and broaden the revenue
stream by expanding into other business fields. The National 14th
Five-Year Plan established a clear positioning for Hong Kong's
future development, particularly expresses clear support for the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area to develop into
an international I&T centre. In the Chief Executive’s 2022 Policy
Address, the Hong Kong SAR Government also emphasize to
enhance the I&T ecosystem and achieve re-industrialisation in Hong
Kong by promoting commercialization of research and development
outcomes; development of technology industry and strengthen
infrastructure and facilities. We seek there opportunities and we will
carefully study how to leverage the Group’s resources and network
to support the economy of Hong Kong in particular areas.

APPRECIATION

I would like to this opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation
to the Board members, management team and staff for their
dedication and their valuable contributions.

| would also like to thank our customers, subcontractors and
suppliers, other business partners and, most importantly, our
Shareholders of their continue support to the Group for the past
years.

Jim Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in the provision of foundation works (including
the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel H-piles and driven
steel H piles, and other civil work, including site formation works,
and road and pavement works) and tunneling works (including pipe
jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over tunnel works) in Hong
Kong and overseas.

In late March 2021, the Group has diversified and expanded to
premises revitalisation and enhancement business by entering into
two cooperation agreements which relate to premises situated in
Guangzhou, a first-tier city in the PRC. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group has entered into four cooperation agreements which relate
to premises situated in Guangzhou and the aggregate estimated
gross leasable areas after renovation and enhancement works is
approximately 78,000 square meters.

The regional outbreak of the COVID-19 in Guangzhou during April
and November 2022 has affected the overall business and economic
activities in Guangzhou, which inevitably have an adverse effect on
the premises revitalization and enhancement business. For example,
the overall progress of the premises renovation and enhancement
work have been behind schedule and the series of precautionary
and control measures implemented by the Chinese Government
have also affected the confidence of the target tenants.

Three out of the four projects have been completed during the 2023
Financial Year and were under active promotion and sub-leasing.
As at 31 March 2023, 31.2% of the gross leasable areas have
been sub-leased or occupied. Following the reopening of borders
of the PRC in January 2023 and the better economic environment
expected, as at date to this annual report, 39.6% of the gross
leasable areas have been sub-leased or occupied.

The Group has also invested in an associate company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project. The
Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments
situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2023, 96.4% of the apartments have been sold and
the share of profits from the Birmingham Property Project for the
2023 Financial Year was approximately HK$1.7 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

On 28 January 2022, the Group completed the disposal of its 70%
equity interests in Shenzhen BGlI Fisheries Sci & Tech Co, Ltd (“BGI
Marine”) and the breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products
and related services business was duly terminated. In accordance
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the Group’s
breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products and related services
business will be presented as a discontinued operation, and the
comparative financial statements of this announcement have been
restated to reflect the impact of the disposal of the equity interests
of BGI Marine. The Group currently retains three business segments,
namely the foundation and other civil works business, tunneling
works business and premises revitalisation and enhancement
business (the “continuing operations”).

For the 2023 Financial Year, the revenue from the continuing
operations of the Group decreased to approximately HK$707.8
million (2022 Corresponding Year: HK$736.0 million), a decrease of
3.8%.

During the 2023 Financial Year, the Group has been awarded 11
contracts with original contract sums of approximately HK$866.1
million of which 8 contracts are for foundation works and 3
contracts are for tunneling works in the sum of approximately
HK$529.5 million and HK$336.6 million respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 25 major contracts
on hands with the outstanding contract value in Hong Kong
(based on the original contract value) amounted to approximately
HK$869.4 million (as at 31 March 2022: HK$906.9 million) to be
completed.

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has placed strong emphasis on its quality assurance
systems. We have strong commitment to works' quality, safety,
occupational health and environmental management to ensure
delivery of quality works to the customers on a timely basis.

The Group has implemented a stringent management system to
regulate its works’ quality, safety and environmental management
standards, which complies with international standards. The Group
has met the requirements of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 45001, 1SO
50001-and {SAS 18001 accreditation for our quality management
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

Same as previous years, the Group has maintained accident rates at
the construction sites lower than the industry average.

During the 2023 Financial Year, the Group has received the
following awards from Hong Kong SAR Government departments,
public utility companies and industry organizations to recognize our
effort in promoting and maintaining site safety:

- Merit in Non-Public Works Sites — New Works and CCSA-
Sliver by 28th Development Dureau Considerate Contractors
Site Award Scheme

- Best Safety Enhancement Program for Confined Space by
Occupational Safety and Health Council 23rd Construction
Safety Award

FINANCIAL REVIEW FOR CONTINUING
OPERATIONS

Revenue

For the 2023 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$707.8 million, a decrease of
approximately 3.8% when compared with the revenue of
approximately HK$736.0 million for the 2022 Corresponding Year.
The decrease in revenue is mainly due to the combined effect of
the decrease in the revenue of foundation and other civil works by
approximately HK$30.5 million and the decrease in the revenue of
tunneling works by approximately HK$1.0 million and rental income
and management fee income of approximately HK$3.2 million
recognised for the 2023 Financial Year.

Revenue from the foundation and other civil works segment
decreased from approximately HK$594.3 million for the 2022
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$563.8 million for the 2023
Financial Year, a decrease of approximately 5.1%. The decrease
in the revenue of the foundation works was primarily due to the
absence of one-off gain in the 2023 Financial Year as compared to
the one-off gain of approximately HK$30.5 million resulting from
the settlement of a claim recognised in 2022 Corresponding Year.

Revenue from the tunneling works segment for the 2023 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$140.8 million representing a
slight decrease of approximately 0.7% from the 2022 Corresponding
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

Rental income and management fee income under premises
revitalization and enhancement business for the 2023 Financial Year
amounted to approximately HK$3.2 million.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The overall gross profit of the Group decreased from approximately
HK$103.9 million for the 2022 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$76.2 million for the 2023 Financial Year, representing a decrease
of approximately 26.7%.

The gross profit in relation to the foundation and other civil works
decreased by approximately HK$30.0 million from approximately
HK$89.3 million for the 2022 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$59.3 million for the 2023 Financial Year. The significant decrease
in gross profit was mainly due to the absence of HK$30.5 million
revenue recognized in the 2022 Corresponding Year as a settlement
of a claim. If excluding this settlement of a claim, the gross profit
margin for the foundation and other civil works would slightly
increased from approximately 10.4% for the 2022 Corresponding
Year to approximately 10.5% for the 2023 Financial Year, mainly
due to the increase in overall construction costs.

Gross profit in relation to tunneling works increased by
approximately HK$4.6 million from approximately HK$13.0 million
for the 2022 Corresponding Year to approximately HK$17.6
million for the 2023 Financial Year. The gross profit margin for
the tunneling works segment increased from approximately 9.2%
for the 2022 Corresponding Year to approximately 12.5% for the
2023 Financial Year as a result of the commencement of high profit
margin projects during the 2023 Financial Year which are offset by
the increase in the overall construction costs.

Other income and gain

Other income and gain for the 2023 Financial Year amounted to
HK$26.1 million, comparing with that of HK$9.6 million for the 2022
Corresponding Year. The increase in other income and gain mainly
due to (i) the receipt of grants under the "Anti-epidemic Fund”
and the “Employment Support Scheme” of the Hong Kong SAR
Government in the 2023 Financial Year of approximately HK$7.5
million, and (ii) the increase in service income of approximately
HK$8.2 million from joint operations and an associate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERE Wk

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the 2023 Financial Year
amounted to HK$0.9 million, comparing with that of HK$0.2 million
for the 2022 Corresponding Year. The selling and distribution
expenses was mainly marketing and promotion expenses incurred by
the premises revitalisation and enhancement business.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the 2023 Financial Year
amounted to HK$75.3 million, comparing with that of HK$66.1
million for the 2022 Corresponding Year. The increase in
administrative and other expenses was mainly attributable to the
increase in the staff costs of approximately of HK$4.5 million and
other general corporate expenses.

Finance costs

Finance cost of the Group for the 2023 Financial Year was
approximately HK$27.1 million, compared to approximately HK$7.1
million for the 2022 Corresponding Year. The increase in finance
cost was mainly attributable to the increase in interests on lease
liabilities from the premises revitalisation and enhancement business.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% interest in
an associate for the purpose of developing the Birmingham Property
Project. The Group’s share of profit of an associate for the 2023
Financial Year was approximately HK$1.7 million.

Income tax credit/(expenses)

Income tax credit for the 2023 Financial Year was approximately
HK$2.6 million (2022 Corresponding Year: income tax expense of
approximately HK$8.3 million). The change was mainly due to the
decrease in the assessable profits and increase in the deferred tax
assets recognized in the 2023 Financial Year.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company from
continuing operations

The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the Company
from the continuing operations amounted to approximately
HK$12.1 million for the 2023 Financial Year when compared to
approximately HK$34.6 million for the 2022 Corresponding Year, a
decrease of 65.0%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Return on total assets for the 2023 Financial Year decreased to
1.1%, from 3.9% for the 2022 Corresponding Year. The decrease
was due to the decrease in profits for the year. Return on equity for
the 2023 Financial Year was 2.5% when compared to 7.3% for the
2022 Corresponding Year. The decrease was due to the decrease in
profits attributable to the owners of the Company.

Capital expenditure

The Group incurred capital expenditure, primarily on investment
properties, machinery and equipment and motor vehicles, of
approximately HK$70.6 million for the 2023 Financial Year, (2022
Corresponding Year: approximately HK$43.5 million) which was
financed by internal resources and borrowings.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$127.2 million (as at 31 March 2022: HK$161.4
million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank and other borrowings
of approximately HK$122.3 million (as at 31 March 2022:
approximately HK$58.8 million) out of which approximately HK$54.7
million (as at 31 March 2022: HK$34.6 million) were classified as
current liabilities.

As at 31 March 2023 the Group had lease liabilities of approximately
HK$336.5 million (as at 31 March 2022: HK$237.1 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$259.0 million (as at 31 March 2022:
approximately HK$241.8 million).

The Group's current ratio (which is calculated on the basis of current
assets over current liabilities) as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March
2022 was approximately 2.3 times and 2.6 times respectively. The
gearing ratio (which is calculated on the basis of total debt over total
equity. Total debt includes bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022
was approximately 97.0% and 62.4% respectively.

Capital| coffimitments

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's capital commitments relating

to the r_.enol“ tion work of investment properties and purchase of
equipment was approximately HK$50.5 million (as at

machinery-ar
:HK$41.2 million).
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Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged to other financial
institutions deposits of approximately in total HK$39.8 million
(31 March 2022: HK$30.9 million) to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Segmental information
Details of segmental information are set out in the note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant Investment

The Group’s significant investment comprised interest in an associate
for the purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property
Project as disclosed in the Note 18 “Interest in an associate” to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group's interest in an
associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method and the carrying amount of the interest in
an associate represented 6.5% of the Group's total assets as at 31
March 2023 (31 March 2022: 8.6%).

Investment Strategy

The Birmingham Property Project is developed for the purpose of
participating in the property related business in United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2023, 96.4% of the apartments of the Birmingham
Property Project have been sold and the Group intend to dispose the
remaining apartments in the near future.

Foreign exchange risk management

Apart from the interest in an associate of which the underlining
functional currency is GBP, and the subsidiaries in the Philippines
and the PRC of which the underling functional currencies are PHP
and RMB respectively, the revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar
(which is the presentation currency of the financial information),
same as the functional currency of the Group.

For the 2023 Financial Year, apart from the interest in an associate
in the United Kingdom and subsidiaries in the Philippines and the
PRC, there was no significant exposure to the foreign currency
rate fluctuations from the operations of the Group. The Group
did not maintain any hedging policy against foreign currency risk.
The management will closely monitor the exposure to the foreign
currency risk and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.
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Contingent liabilities
Details of contingent liabilities are set out in the note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has 348 employees in Hong
Kong (as at 31 March 2022: 398), 41 employees in the Philippines
(as at 31 March 2022: 65) and 58 employees in PRC (as at 31
March 2022: 48). The remuneration package of the Group for
its employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
allowances. In general, employee salaries are determined based on
each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and the
market remuneration rate. The Group has an annual review system
to assess the performance of our employees, which forms the
basis with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.
Some in-house site staff are employed as daily workers and their
remuneration package includes salary and overtime allowances. The
employee remuneration expense and Directors’ emoluments from
both the continuing and the discontinued operations (including
salaries, other benefits and retirement benefit costs) amounted
to approximately HK$178.1 million (2022 Corresponding Year:
HK$198.0 million) for the 2023 Financial Year.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends has been paid by the Group during the 2023
Financial Year (2022 Corresponding Year: Nil).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend to
the Shareholders of the Company for the 2023 Financial Year (2022
Corresponding Year: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company commit to
achieve a high standard of corporate governance, to formulate good
corporate governance practice for improvement of accountability
and transparency in operations, and to strengthen the internal
control and risk management systems from time to time so as
to ensure to protect the rights of the shareholders and enhance
shareholder value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG
code under Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the code provision of the CG Code during the 2023
Financial Year.

CULTURES AND VALUES

The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive
culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the
Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s Employee Handbook (including
therein the Group’s code of conduct), the Anti-corruption
Policy and the Whistleblowing Policy of the Group. Trainings
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required
standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a feeling
of commitment and emotional engagement with the Group’s
mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive workforce
that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent and
produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s
strategy in the business development and management are
to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while
having due considerations from environment, social and
governance aspects.

Annual Report 2022/23 “F 3R

EEERER
AAREEERERELERNEREK
THREESE  HERTNOCEEARE
BAIR R P T M R B B AR - 3 TR A
% P RS L 92 B A RE R (R AR
F s R -

KARIEIERM FH R BSR40 EE R
STRIATEL ST RIS o 28R Bl 20234F BF I
FEEETEEEATAUMTRNE -

XEREER
ARTBANEBMEERN T - D
RABSIN T LHRADTOHER -
BEE R EHEREY 5

1. BERETA
REBYH IR AES REBDR
R EE’JF‘?%L@&&%* A e
EE EEEMBIHAEUEE
EYBEMNAEENRETE M
FRERERGRAEHNAEHE
INENER  TMALREENE
IFM(EPHBAEREENETT
) RESHERBREKRETR
BEZF o« KRR ETHEI
VAINS® 38 78 N s 77 E ey L ZZER o

2. TR
REERR BOARBBHNER
THRSMZERER  ZT(ERA
FEZRNXL AEREHAS
BEmEERBRBERRA-ER

BVBASMETEBETER
ks BEEMBREFTHA

A YEEESEEN T IFRE -
SO RRBREBERNMEET
HHEEERZERDZERE
LREARAFTEMNBAT BRRE

RENMAFENER -




16

Mr. WONG C \Ke.yr]g Johnny

Yee Hop Holdings Limited 3% & 1ZX AR A 7

Corporate Governance Report
TERERBH

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiries
with all the Directors and all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the standards required by the Model Code
during the 2023 Financial Year (the “CG Reporting Period").

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging its
corporate accountability. The Directors, individually and collectively,
must act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders and fulfill their fiduciary duties by applying the required
level of skills, care and diligence to a standard in accordance with
the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating Group policies and business
directions, and monitoring internal controls and performances. The
management has been delegated the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the operations of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 March 2023, the Board comprises eight members who
include four Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and
three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The current Board members are:
Name Present position

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel Non-executive Director

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. YU Hon Kwan Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director

Chairman of the Board
Vice Chairman

Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director

The cojvpo
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ion of the Board has a balance and diverse skill,
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The biographies details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. Save as those disclosed in this annual report, there is
no family relationship among the Directors.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management in
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board and
with at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board is headed by the Chairman Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin, with
the assistance of the Vice-chairman, Mr. Chui Mo Ming. The roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yan Chi Tat, are
segregated and not exercised by the same individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are discussed by
the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the management of the Group’s business
and the implementation of the approved strategies of the Group. In
addition, each Executive Director is responsible for the management
of the different functions of the business of the Group.

With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures
that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising from
Board meetings and be provided with adequate information in a
timely manner.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board. These Independent Non-executive Directors
are individuals from diversified backgrounds and industries and
one member has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies,
performance and control, as well as ensure that the interests of
all shareholders are considered. All Independent Non-executive
Directors possess appropriate academic, professional qualifications or
related financial management experience. None of the Independent
Non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the Directors’ independence annually with regards to all
relevant factors related to the Independent Non-executive Directors
including the following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability
to fulfill their roles;

° time commitment and attention to the Company'’s affairs;

o firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as Independent
Non-executive Directors;

o no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor
in any relationship or circumstances which would affect the
exercise of their independent judgement; and

o the Chairman meets with the Independent Non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the Executive
Directors.

The Board has conducted an annual review on these mechanisms
and considered they are in place and are effective.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company copsiders such Directors to be independent in accordance

it iaset out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
or letter of appointment with the Company with a fixed term,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles
of the Company.

According to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
re-election. Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement or
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with Articles of
the Company.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors may terminate his/her appointment by giving a
three-month/one-month prior written notice to the Company
or in accordance with the terms set out in the respective service
agreement or letter of appointment.

The Articles of the Company provides that any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office until
the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee for overseeing specific
aspects of the Company’s affair under its defined scope of duties
and term of reference. The terms of reference of each of the Board
Committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Details of each committee are discussed below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised terms of reference has been adopted on 30 December 2022
to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are, among other things, to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control and risk management
systems of the Group.
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As at 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three
members who are the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi Keung
Johnny. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held four
meetings and performed following work:

o Reviewed the Group’s audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022 in conjunction with the Auditor and the
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2022,

o Reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 which
are set out in the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022;

o Reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

. Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by independent professional adviser;

o Reviewed the risk assessment and internal control report and
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
system;

o Reviewed the continuing connected transactions conducted by
the Group; and

o Considered and made recommendations on the
re-appointment of the Auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

The members of the Audit Committee have a private meeting with
the Auditors, without the presence of the management, to discuss
matters in relation to the audit of the Group.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee pursuant
to a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
A revised terms of reference has been adopted on 30 December
2022 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among other things,
to review and to determine the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and
senior management, including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment and to review and/or
approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2023, the Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has
held one meeting. The major work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included reviewing the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration level
of comparable companies, and responsibilities, performance and
contributions of Directors and senior management. No Director is
allowed to take part in any discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of remuneration of the members of senior management by
band for the 2023 Financial Year are set out below:
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HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 75 #500,0007T £ 7% 1,000,0007T 2
e e _ -

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 751,000,001 7T 2 & #1,500,0007TC 3

21



22

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 AA R A &

Corporate Governance Report
EEERHRSE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised term of reference has been adopted on 30 December 2022
to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary function of
the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and the
management of the Board succession. It also oversees the diversity
policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
held one meeting. The major work performed by the Nomination
Committee included assessing the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, reviewing the rotation of the Directors for
the re-election at the AGM and reviewing the composition, the size
and the diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board Diversity
Policy adopted by the Company.

Pursuant to the CG Code, a separate ordinary resolution will be
proposed at the 2023 AGM for Shareholders to consider and
approve the re-election of the retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognised
and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to the made on a merit basis,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on
the Company’s Board Nomination Policy and a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational sbackground, experience (professional or otherwise),
ethnicity, ski and knowledge and length of service.
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In terms of the overall capability and professionalism, the Board
achieved a balance among operational judgment and management
capabilities, accounting and financial analytical capabilities, crisis
management capabilities, industry knowledge, leadership, and
decision-making capabilities. As of the date of this annual report,
the Board has one female Director out of eight Directors. The Board
will maintain at the least the current level of female representation
on the Board, and in any event not less than the requirements
under the Listing Rules. The Board is committed to further enhance
gender diversity as and when suitable candidates are identified.
The Board would ensure that an appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices. Similar
considerations shall also be applied for selecting potential candidate
of the senior management team from time to time.

As of 31 March 2023, 13% of our colleagues are female. The Board
considers that the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group,
including the Senior Management, is appropriate for the operations
of the Group and will strive to maintain this ratio.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors. The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the
Board members as of the date of this annual report:
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50-59 60 and above
Name of Directors EENR 50 -59%% 605 & M £
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERAESA v
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HmRBALEE v
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEELE v
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RN FE v
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FRFEXT v
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu PRI EE v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan R A Vv
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FTEBEE v
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Professional Experience
EXER
Business
Engineering management
and Accounting and
construction Law and Finance development
Name of Directors BEpg IRRESE pixed B RBE EBEEREE
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERERA |
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BRRALA |
Mr. YAN Chi Tat gEERE |
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RUER TS |
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FRERL |
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FHAEE {
Mr. YU Hon Kwan RESLE |
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny i e |

The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy and considered it to be effective for the 2023
Financial Year.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations to
Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint
as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
profgs ional experience, talents, skills, knowledge, length of

Bt

ications which include professional qualifications, skills,
kn_:pwl ge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;
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6.  the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and
3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for
achieving diversity on the Board; and

9.  such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional
Director or a member of senior management, the following
procedure will be followed:

1. The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the selection
criteria, possibly with assistance from external agencies and/or
advisors;

2. The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary of
the Company will then provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

3. The Nomination Committee would then make
recommendation to the Board on the proposed candidate(s)
and the terms and conditions of the appointment;

4. The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board;
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5. In the case of the appointment of an Independent 5. WMZE—RBBEUIFRTEE RSB

Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/ ZEER/NESSAESEESR
or the Board should obtain all information in relation to the EEHFHENMBEAR FEFgA
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess the 1B R BI%3.081% « 3.0915 &
independence of the Director in accordance with the factors 3A3MGRPHE = (BT & T E
set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules, LAERMEE]) HEF A B M IE L
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock BRI &

Exchange from time to time; and

6.  The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment 6. EFcERKBANREZESNHE

based upon the recommendation of the Nomination EBREEEERERAEEBAEMT -
Committee.

BOARD MEETINGS EEEE3

The Company generally convenes four regular Board meetings per ~ ARAR—REFEHNATHEETSSH

year or more meetings when necessary. During the CG Reporting IR EBERERENS RN - RDEEER

Period, 17 Board meetings were held, inter alia, to consider and WEHE BTI7TAES2 S U (H
approve the matters recommended by the Board Committees, FREB)ZEERMEEESLZESHESR
including the interim report and annual report, the continuing WEE  BEFHRERER FHEWE
connected transactions, subscription of bonds, to review and X5 REES Wi RilmAS B
discuss the financial operation of the Group and appointment of an BEIERZEPITES - TRIINEGME
Executive Director. The table below sets out the attendance of each FHER2023FHRFERITHRRBF
Director at the AGM and the meetings of the Board and other Board AEhETSREMESTSZRESLEN
committees held during the 2023 Financial Year: D

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
AGM Board Committee committee committee

RREFAE EZ¢ ENZEE  FHMZEE  REZEE

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin EREAE 1/1 1517 NATER 1/1 1/1

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming REBEE i 1517 NATER NATER NATER

Mr. YAN Chi Tat FELE /1 17117 NATER NATE A NIATE A

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 24k 554 1/1 1717 NATER NATER NAT &R

Mr. XU JunMin (resigned on 31 July  REX£E (R202257A318 NATER 6/ NATE NAT @ NATE
2022) BT)

Non-executive Director FHTES

Mr. WANG Jian (resigned on TREAE 0 6/17 NAT @R NATEF NATER
31 May 2023) (R2023F5A31HEHE)

Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

it |\
Mr. LEE Tuk Shigi kLA 1/1 1717 414 11 11
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REHLE 111 1717 414 1/1 11
eung Johnny TEREE 1/1 1717 414 17 17

Mr. WONG Ch K

L
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Formal notices of Board meeting have been given to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, or reasonable time period as
allowed by the Directors. Notices and agenda of the Board meeting
are prepared by the Company Secretary as delegated by the
Chairman. All Directors are given opportunity to include any matters
which they believe to be appropriate in the agenda of the Board
meetings.

Agenda and relevant information of Board meeting with adequate
background information and supporting analysis are made available
to the Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of the
Board meeting. All Directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for further information
and enquiries. The Company Secretary and senior management
will attend all the meetings of the Board and Board Committees to
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance and financial
matters.

Any material matters that would have conflict of interest between
the Directors/substantial shareholders and the Company will be dealt
with in the Board meeting. Pursuant to the Articles, a Director is not
entitled to vote on (nor is counted in the quorum) any resolution of
the Board in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other
proposal whatsoever in which he or any of his associates (including
any person who would be deemed to be an “associate” of the
Directors under the Listing Rules) has any material interest, except in
certain special circumstances. The Chairman of the Board meeting is
required to ensure that each Director is aware of such requirement
at the commencement of each Board meeting and declaration of
interest is properly made in the Board meeting where conflicts of
interest arise.

Directors have access to advices and services of the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company in relation to the Board
procedures. Draft minutes of the Board/Board Committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient details. The matters considered by
participants of such meetings and decisions reached are forwarded
to participants for comments within a reasonable time after the
meetings and final versions of minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committee are kept by the Company Secretary,
which are open for inspection by any Directors at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties properly.
Directors may seek independent professional advice at the
Company'’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of the Board.
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During the CG Reporting Period, the Chairman has held a private
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to keep abreast of their responsibilities
as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company from time to time updates the
Directors on the latest regulatory and governance developments.

Directors are encouraged to participate in professional development
courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills relating to the roles, functions and duties of a Director
of a listed company. Directors are regularly updated on the latest
development on the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure their contributions to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors participated in
the following trainings:

REXERREHE  EFEFIIERT
EEHHMATESTRENBRATET—

RIFAFEH -
ESMRIIREREE

ARRSBABESERTIEFRESTNE
T YEARBWRT EHEBRER
Wik - ARBFHRAEFRESAORE
RERBERNEMESR -

ZAYN T*ﬁEbﬁ?//\é%?EéEﬁu%k&ﬁﬂ
WNE UBRREKEFEEBERLTA
BB - H%%%&H%WE’J%D%&B‘ZQ%
EETHEBELTRANEMEREER
EZRIER  MEREHESSELM
EEEl

HE2023F3A3IB I FE - BEFLET
LI

Types of training

EA|R
Executive Directors HITES :
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin BRI A A B
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming REBALE A A, B
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEESE A B
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIER T A A, B
Mr. XU JunMin (resigned on 31 July 2022) BER &4 (202267 A31 B & F) A, B
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. WANG Jian (resigned on 31 May 2023) TS (7202345 431 H B ) A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES:
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FrREREE A, B
Mr. YU Hong Kwan FOER A A B
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FEBEE A, B

A attending in-house training sessions.

papers, journals and updates distributed by the Group relating
‘§nomy general business and regulatory matters.

A BEARNIEIIRIE o

B: Eﬁ%%ﬁ;‘%%ﬁﬁ’)ﬁﬁﬁﬁélﬁ [EE ISR
PIERAT - M REINE ©



Corporate Governance Report
EEERHRSE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash
flows and in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and
principles and the disclosure requirements under applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2023, the generally accepted accounting principles
in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards are adopted, with consistent use of
appropriate accounting policies, for making reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates. The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The reporting responsibilities of the Auditors are set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, pursuant to which
the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum and
Articles of the Company and the applicable laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands, any other laws and regulations
applicable to the Company and the factors set out in the Dividend
Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the actual and expected
operation and financial performance of the Group; the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; the expected
working capital requirement and economic outlook for business
strategy and future expansion plan of the Group; the financial
and liquidity position of the Group; the financial covenants and
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
lenders of the Group; the statutory and regulatory restrictions
and taxation implications; the general economic conditions and
other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business of the Group; and other factors that the Board may
consider relevant when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends.

The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The systems aim
to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Company does not establish an internal audit function. The
Group has engaged an external internal control consultant to
review various aspects of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
has reviewed the result of the work of the external internal control
consultant in relation to the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group, including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. The Audit Committee
oversees the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group and reports any material issues to the Board.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, the Board
considered that proper internal control and risk management
systems are in place and implemented effectively.

The Group has implemented the management and quality assurance
standards in accordance with the standards of International
Organisation for Standardisation in respect of ISO 9001 (quality
management systems), ISO 14001 (environmental management
system) and ISO 50001 (energy management system). In addition,
the Group has implemented the occupational health and safety
management system in accordance with the requirements of I1SO
45001 (Occupational Health and Safety) and OHSAS 18001 of
Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Specification. The
Group has met the requirements of the annual review conducted by
the external consultants.

és':-engaged Registered Safety Auditors to conduct

'safety and health audit in relation to the effectiveness,
efficienay an!r" reliability of safety and health management systems
in accordance| with the requirements under the Code of Practice on
Safety Mahagement for various construction sites during the CG
Reportlp_grﬂqmd Improvements had been |mp|emented according
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to avoid any future competition between the Group and
the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling Shareholders
has executed a deed of non-competition dated 25 November 2015
(the "Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company.
Pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition, each of
the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken, among others, in
favour of the Company that he/it will not and will procure his/its
close associates not to engage in any business which may be in
competition with the business carried on by the Group from time to
time. The Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders
with the Deed of Non-Competition and as far as the Independent
Non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of
the Deed of Non-Competition.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited

and its affiliated company in respect of the audit services and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:
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Fee paid/
payables
g ENER
HK$'000
Nature of Services PR 7 1 & BB T
Audit services BNz R
— consolidated financial statements of the Group ~ — N5 E2023F B L FE 47 4 B 7%
for the 2023 Financial Year R 980
Non-audit services IEBZ IR
— Agreed upon procedures on interim report for  — 1% &8 B 75 3R &5 ¥ A 55440055
the period ended 30 September 2022 TH B REZ=202249A308 1
under HKFRS 4400 R T ERENIEF 170

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is the primary contact person of the Board for all
matters relating to corporate governance and board procedures.
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the CG Reporting Period, he had taken relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The details of the biographical of the Company Secretary are
set out on page 39 of this annual report.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 in Part 2 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) on 30 March 2022 which provides formal channels and
guidance to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees
of the Group (the "Employee”) and those who deal with the Group
(e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) (the “Third Parties”,
each a "Whistleblower”), in confidence, without fear of reprisals.
Procedures have been formulated to enable the Whistleblower to
report to the Group directly (addressed to the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group) suspected improprieties.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 in Part 2 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) on 30 March 2022 which sets out the guidelines and
responsibilities of the Employees, the Third Parties and those acting
in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group. The Group
Is committed to maintaining a high standard of integrity, openness
and discipline in its business operations. The Anti-corruption Policy
forms an integral part of the framework, including the CG Code
and Whistleblowing Policy, outline the Group’s expectations and
requirement of business ethics, as well as the investigation and
reporting mechanism of suspected corruption practices.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
enables Shareholders and investors to make appropriate investment
decisions.

All the members of the Board and Board committees (except
Mr. Wang Jian) and the Auditor have attended the 2022 AGM to
answer Shareholders’ questions. Circular and notice of the 2022
AGM have been distributed to all Shareholders before the 2022
AGM in accordance with the timeline requirement as laid down in
he-tisting-RUles and the Articles. All the resolutions proposed to be
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As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information
are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any
enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an

extraordinary general meeting (“EGM")

Pursuant to the Articles 64 of the Articles of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting can be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth (10%) of
the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the capital
of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board and adding resolutions to the agenda of
the meeting for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

2) Procedures for putting forward proposals at

Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders
to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.

3) Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns together
with their names and contact information to the Board by
addressing them to the head office in Hong Kong at Units
1104-1106, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post or email to
info@yee-hop.com.hk for the attention of the Chairman of the
Board. The Board will reply the enquiries and concerns as soon
as possible.
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For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice and
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

The Board has carried out an annual review on the above policy
regarding shareholders' communication, and considered that such
policy has been properly implemented during the 2023 Financial
Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of
the Company (the “Constitutional Documents”) were approved for
amendment by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of
the Company on 22 August 2022.

The changes were mainly to conform with the core shareholder
protection standards (set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules) that
applied to all listed issuers to provide the same level of protection to
all investors.

A copy of the Company’s updated Constitutional Documents is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin (&#&) , aged 61, an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board, a member of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Jim is one of the founders of the Group. He is also a
director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jim has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Jim is responsible for formulating
corporate strategies and planning the business development of
the Group. Mr. Jim graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying and holds a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Management from
the Brighton University.

Mr. Chui Mo Ming (#RiXH83) , aged 70, an Executive Director and
the Vice-chairman of the Board. Mr. Chui is one of the founders of
the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Chui has over 45 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Chui is responsible for the formulating the
corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. Chui has been a construction
supervisor member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers since August 2003.

Mr. Yan Chi Tat (alias: Andrew) (EEK#Z) , aged 56, an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Yan
joined the Group in October 2010. He is also a director of Yee Hop
Engineering.

Mr. Yan has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Yan is responsible for formulating
corporate and business strategies and operations of the Group.
Mr. Yan graduated from the South Bank University with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is an associate of The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a professional associate of
The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. He has been a Registered
Professional Surveyor since July 2004.

HITES

BEBELE 615 RPTEERESE
TR ARERBLZBELFHEZBEEN
KB BERERRNEBAEIMAZ— - I
RAEEZEMNBRRNES -

ERERIRREEEBAIFLR &
EEBERELERBERRENERNE
TEEE - BERAERENE T KZE(University
of Reading) * BUfS TR} SIFEE 21y -

I #5 5 1 F 18 KX E(Brighton University) &
BETHERELT S -

BREAXE 705 RRTEEHRESFS
BIEF - HREERAEENRIPAZ— -
BARARETRMBRARNES -

BEER IR RBEEERBASTLES -5
EEBELHEFTEAEENMERRE %
S AEBE2003F8ARK AR EEHEMETY

ETe8 .

WmEERLE 5608 RWTTESHRAEE
TTHEE - BIEAR2010F10A IARSE
B RITAEETIEMNES -

BAAERNTIENBEEBENSFLER - W
EEBEBELEREBRBEURRE
BB 258 o B 4 5 50 = K 2 (South
Bank University) * BN /S TR Al SR B8+
B -HARBIEMEeeaREHRE
RETAEMESEEESE - 1§ 52004F
7R AFMEEREA -




36

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 AA R A &

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EENRGREEEEE

Mr. Leung Hung Kwong Derrick (R#¥) , aged 54, an
Executive Director. Mr. Leung joined the Group in August 2008. He
is also a director of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Leung has been the Technical Director of Yee Hop Engineering
for its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
and Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works
category with the Buildings Department since 2008 and 2011
respectively. He has over 25 years of experience in the engineering
and construction industry. Mr. Leung is responsible for formulating
the corporate business strategies. Mr. Leung graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor's Degree of Science in
Engineering. He holds a Master’s Degree of Philosophy in Civil &
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology. He is currently a Registered Professional Engineer
(Geotechnical, Structural). He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Derrick Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director of Chi
Ho Development Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 8423), the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The principal
business of Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd is the provision of
renovation, maintenance and fitting-out works.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. Lee Sze Wing Mabel (Z&£58), aged 53, Non-Executive
Director. Ms. Lee joined the Group in 2023 and was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director on 31 May 2023.

Ms. Lee has more than 15 years of experience in various fields of
business management and development, such as administration,
human resources and sales and marketing. Ms. Lee has been the
sales and marketing manager of Fullrich Financial Services (Asia)
Limited (&7 (Z5M) BFRAR]) since 2014,
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Luk Shiu (alias: Vincent) (Z#&JK) , aged 65, an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial accounting
and corporate finance. Mr. Lee is currently a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and was a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
for about 22 years. He graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with a
Diploma in Business Administration. Mr. Lee has worked in the
Stock Exchange for around 15 years where his duties included
regulating and monitoring Hong Kong listed companies in relation
to their compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new
listing applications. His last position with the Stock Exchange was
an Assistant Vice President of the Listing Division. Mr. Lee was
also a senior consultant of an investment bank for 5 years. He is
an Independent Non-executive Director of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holding Co. Ltd (stock code: 6893), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yu Hon Kwan (alias: Randy) (&), aged 60, an
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Yu graduated from the University of Reading with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is a Member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Yu is the General
Manager (Community Relations) of Henderson Land Development
Company Limited. Mr. Yu was a lecturer (non- clinical) in the
Department of Real Estate and Construction of the University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong and also a New
Territories Justices of the Peace. He has dedicated a significant
proportion of his time in community service. Mr. Yu is currently
the Chairman of the Islands District Council, a member of the
Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation Department’s Country
and Marine Parks Board, a member of Community Investment &
Inclusion Fund and a member of the Independent Police Complaints
Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He was awarded a Medal of Honour
in July 2015 in recognition of his long and dedicated public and
community services.

Mr. Yu is a Director of the Business Environment Council from April
2016 (formerly also a Director of the same Board from June 2011
to February 2015). He was also a Director of the Hong Kong Green
Building Council from January 2014 to February 2015.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny (E7&3#&) , aged 64, an
Independent Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of London with a
Bachelor's Degree of Laws with Honours and holds a Master’s
Degree of Laws from the University of London. He is a solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England & Wales and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme
Court of th Australia Capital Territory, Australia. He is currently a
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Mr. Wong has served as a member of the Provisional Regional
Council from 1997 to 1999, a member of the Tai Po District Council
from 1999 to 2003, a member of the Liquor Licensing Board
from January 2000 to January 2004, and a member of the Appeal
Tribunal Panel under the Buildings Ordinance from December 2000
to December 2004. He obtained the HKSAR Medal of Honour in
October 2002. Mr. Wong was also an appointed member of the
Yuen Long District Council from January 2008 to December 2011.
He was an Independent Non- executive Director of SkyOcean
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Allied Overseas
Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 593)
for the period from June 1993 to August 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan King Yip (alias: Kelvin) (BRE#k%) , aged 49, Project
Director of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in April 2006.
Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in handling engineering
and construction projects. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
project management. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science.

Mr. Wai Aoting (alias: Paul) (Ef#) , aged 44, directors and
legal representatives of certain subsidiaries in the PRC and the chief
operating officer of the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business of the Group. Mr. Wai joined the Group in March 2021.

Mr. Wai has over 18 years of experience in real estate development
and revitalizing historic buildings. Mr. Wai graduated from the Sun
Yat-sen University (71 KX2%) with a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration in Marketing.

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (3E3X38) , aged 45, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chong joined
the Group in November 2019.

Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree of Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chong is currently
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Mr. Chong has over 20 years of experience in audit and finance and
is responsible for the financial management, internal control and
company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chong is currently
also serving as the company secretary of China Partytime Culture
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1532) since May 2015 and an Independent
Non-executive Director of Taung Gold International Limited (stock
code: 621) listed on the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong Lok Man Vicko (E#&#) , aged 42, Environmental
and Safety Manager of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
November 2007.

Ms. Wong has over 17 years of experience in industrial safety
industry. Ms. Wong holds a Professional Diploma of Legal Executive
from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education, a Diploma
in Occupational Health & Safety from the Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (formerly known as the Open University of Hong
Kong) and a Bachelor’'s Degree of Science in Environmental and
Occupational Safety & Health from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a registered safety officer under the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Officers and Safety Supervisors)
Regulations and a safety auditor. She is currently a chartered
building engineer of the Chartered Association of Building Engineer
and a full member of the International Institute of Risk and Safety
Management.

Ms. Wong has also obtained other relevant certificates such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Council Certificate for Safety
& Health Supervisor (Construction) in July 2002, the Certificate
of Occupational Safety and Health Trainer in February 2004, the
Occupational Health and Safety Council Combined Certificate for
Safety, Health & Environmental Supervisor (Construction) in June
2005, the Certificate of Site Audit Inspection Standards (Safety &
Roadwork Obligations) Course — Highways Department in 2010, the
Certificate of Occupational Health and Safety Council Fire Prevention
(Construction Industry) in March 2010, the Certificate of Supervision
of Tree Works Course in June 2011, the Certificate of Continuing
Professional Development for 1SO14001:2004 Environmental
Management System Introduction and Internal Auditing in October
2012, the C r_tificate for ISO45001:2016 Lead Auditor.

Mr. Cluu.ljhetlng Wing (#R[E%) , aged 64, Project Director of the
‘M, Chui" Heung Wing served the Group from September
2016 and re-joined the Group in April 2019.
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He is currently the Authorised Signatory of Yee Hop Engineering
under its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
in the foundation works category with the Buildings Department.
He has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Chui holds a Diploma in Structural Engineering and a
Higher Certificate in Structural Engineering from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic) and a Bachelor's Degree of Civil Engineering from the
Washington InterContinental University and a Master of Science
Degree in Civil Engineering and Construction Management from
the Heriot-Watt University. He is a chartered building engineer
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers. He has also
been one of the Authorised Signatories of the Registered General
Buildings Contractors and the Registered Specialist Contractors in
the foundation works category of the Buildings Department since
May 2008 and March 2013 respectively. He is a fellow member
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers, a member of
the Australian Institute of Building, a chartered environmentalist
of the Society for the Environment. He has also obtained the I1SO
14001:2004 Environmental Management System Internal Auditor
Training at the Hong Kong Certification Services Ltd from September
to December 2005. He has completed the Lead Assessor course of
Quality Assurance from BSI Quality Assurance in June 1993 and a
visiting lecturer of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Institute
for Enterprise in July 2003.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (alias: Douglas) (# X% ), aged 65, the
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Wu joined the Group in
October 2014 as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary and
re-designated as Senior Vice President in November 2019. Mr. Wu
has over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Bolton (formerly known as
the Bolton Institute of Higher Education) with a Bachelor’'s Degree
of Arts in Accountancy and holds a Master's Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate of
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (3£ 3X8), the Company Secretary
of the Company. Details of his biography are set out in the
paragraph headed “Senior management” in this section. Mr. Chong
was appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2019.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries comprise (i) provision of foundation and
other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Kong and overseas;
and (i) premises revitalisation and enhancement in the PRC. The
principal activities of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
42 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the 2023 Financial Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 71 in this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the 2023 Financial Year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity and note 41(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Details of segment information are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends was paid by the Group during the 2023
Financial Year (2022 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company for the 2023 Financial Year (2022
Corresponding Year: nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the 2023 Financial
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 14 of this annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operation, financial conditions, business and prospectus
are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. The following
principal risks and uncertainties are identified by the Group. In
addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties which are not
known to the Group or may not be material now but could be
turned out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

1.

The provision of foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works are on project basis and non-recurring basis.
The future growth in revenue and financial results depend
on, among others, the success to secure new tenders and
contracts awarded.

The operations of the Group are mainly focus in Hong Kong,
which are affected by various factors, inter alia, the general
economic conditions in Hong Kong, general property market
in Hong Kong and government policies on the infrastructure
and property development and planning.

The demand of tunnelling services in Hong Kong is dominated
by a relatively small number of customers, mainly Hong
Kong SAR Government, public utilities companies and MTR
Corporation Limited. Though the Group has established long
and stable business relationships with the two electricity
supplies in Hong Kong, it is uncertain that our existing
customers will continue to provide us new contracts and the
Group will be able to secure contracts from new customers.

The financial performance of each project is subject to the risk
of underestimation of the project cost and the complexity as
well as the length of the projects.

The Group is required to obtain or maintain certain registration
and/or certificates under the laws in jurisdictions in which it
operates in order to carry on the business. It is uncertain that
all the required registrations, certificates or licences can be
maintained or renewed in a timely manner. Any changes to
the existing policies by the government authorities may have
significant impact on the ability of the Group to carry on the
existing business.
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The tenders which were awarded to the Group is based on
the estimated project costs (which include mainly wages and
construction material cost). The financial results of the Group
is subject to the risk of price fluctuation of material price and
the availability of the quality of construction materials will
always meet the required standards.

The construction business by nature is subject to the claims
and disputes with customers, subcontractors, workers in
relation to the substandard of works, completion of works in
time, labour compensations or personal injuries. Regardless of
the merits of the claims, the disputes and litigation will affect
the reputation of the Group in the industry it operates and
in turn, adversely affect the business operations and financial
results of the Group.

The inherent risk of the foundation and tunnelling business
is subject to the unforeseen ground conditions. The actual
ground condition may be different from the information
provided by the customers. The Group may be exposed to the
risk of cost overrun if the customers disagree to compensate
the Group for the additional cost incurred as a result of the
unforeseen ground conditions.

The Group is subject to the environmental regulations and
guidelines in the jurisdictions in which it operates, such as
Hong Kong, the PRC, the United Kingdom and the Philippines.
Any changes in the such regulations and guidelines may have
adverse impact on the operations and the financial results.

The results of the Group are affected by the trends in the
industries in which it operates, including the construction
(including the foundation and other civil works and tunnelling
works) and the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business. The change in the government budgets and
spending in infrastructures as well as the changes in customer
tastes and preference for may have adverse impact on the
revenue and operation results of the Group.
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The success and the growth of the Group is, to a large extent,
attributable to the continued commitment of the Directors
and senior management team. Profile of Directors and senior
management is set out on pages 35 to 41 of this Annual
Report. Any unanticipated departure of the Directors and
senior management team without appropriate replacement
may have a material adverse impact on our business operations
and profitability.

The subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
exposed to the following risks conducting business in the PRC:

o Under the PRC laws and regulations, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to various dividend
policies. Limitations on the ability of the operating
subsidiaries in the PRC to pay dividends to the Group
and/or subject to higher withholding tax rate could have
a material adverse effect on the ability of the Group to
conduct business;

o The PRC government control over foreign currency
conversion and fluctuations in exchange rates may have
restriction on the PRC subsidiaries of the Group to access
foreign currency to pay dividends in foreign currencies
to the Shareholders and to obtain foreign exchange for
capital expenditure for the PRC subsidiaries.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 or any other natural disasters
or infectious diseases may severely affect and restrict the level
of economic activity in Hong Kong and the PRC which may
in turn have a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial position and results of operations.

14. The Group’s premises revitalization and enhancement business

is subject to the regulatory environment and measures affecting
the property related industries in the PRC. In particular, the
Group's business performance primarily depends on the total
contracted and revenue-bearing gross leasable area and the
number of properties the Group manages, but the Group's
business growth is, and will likely continue to be, affected by
the PRC government regulations relating to the industries in
which the Group operates.

11.

12.

13.

14.
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Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including interest
rate, liquidity and credit risks. Details of financial risks are set out
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Joint Venture Partner Risk

The Group conducts some of its business through an associated
company/joint operations in which it shares control with the joint
venture partner. There are uncertainties that the joint venture
partner will continue the relationship with the Group in the future or
their goals or strategies are in line with the Group. Furthermore, the
joint venture partner in the associated company/joint operations may
undergo a change of control or financial difficulties which may have
adverse impact on the Group’s financial conditions and operation
results of the Group.

Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Outlook” in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the “Business Review"” and
“Financial Review"” section in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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Important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the 2023 Financial Year

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware
of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environment protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to prevent pollution, reduce waste and enhance waste
recycling. The Group has adopted environmental management
practices in accordance to 1SO14001:2004 (Environmental
management system) and 1SO50001:2011 (Energy management
system). The Group promotes environment-friendly construction
worksites and implements appropriate facilities to improve the
environments of the construction worksites.

Relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
others

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees and
had not experienced any significant disruptions to the operation due
to labour dispute. The Group is committed to providing a safe and
healthy workplace for the staff and have arranged an annual safety
conference for staff of all levels to enhance their knowledge on site
safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contact with the customers
and has conducted regular reviews of the requirements of the
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers on regular basis.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and risks of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group has on-going review of new enacted laws and
regulations which may affect the operations of the Group. During
the 2023 Financial Year, there is no incidence of non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact
on the business of the Group.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 205.
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DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the 2023 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$23,200 (2022 Corresponding
Year: approximately HK$102,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the 2023 Financial Year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movement in investment properties of the Group during
the 2023 Financial Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of in share capital of the Company during the 2023 Financial
Year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
There were no movements in share capital during the 2023 Financial
Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the 2023 Financial Year, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities
of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act amounted to approximately HK$121.9 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
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For the 2023 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 15.82% (2022
Corresponding Year: approximately 23.56%) of the total costs of
revenue of the Group and the largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 4.58% (2022 Corresponding Year:
approximately 7.48%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the 2023 Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick

Mr. XU JunMin (resigned on 31 July 2022)

Non-executive Director
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel (appointed on 31 May 2023)
Mr. WANG Jian (resigned on 31 May 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Company, Mr. CHUI Mo
Ming and Mr. YAN Chi Tat will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In accordance with Article 112, Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel who was
appointed as Directors of the Company after the 2022 annual
general meeting, should retire in the 2023 AGM but being eligible,
offers herself for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.
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BIOGRAPHIES DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 35 to 41 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from the date of Listing and has renewed for a further
three years.

Ms. LEE has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 31 May 2023, which
may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter of
appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into
a service agreement with the Company under which each of them
is appointed for a period of one year commencing from the date of
the Listing and has renewed for a further three years and shall be
automatically renewed for such further period after expiry of the
renewal term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS'/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there is no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in which
a Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company and the
Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the 2023 Financial Year.

REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS
In compliange with the CG Code, the Company has established
the Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ uneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board vyith eference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the recom dations of the Remuneration Committee and the
nij results of the Group. Details of the remuneration
any’s Directors are set out in note 11 to the
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company has executed a Deed of Non-competition dated
25 November 2015 in favour of the Company, which contains
certain non-competition undertakings given in favour of the Group.
Particulars of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus.

The controlling shareholders have provided a confirmation to the
Company confirming of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the 2023 Financial Year. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders with the Deed
of Non-competition and as far as the Independent Non-executive
Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of the Deed of
Non-competition.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2023 Financial Year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable non-
exempted connected transactions or non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules. To
the extent of the related party transactions constituted connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has the following transactions with connected persons
during the year and the Company has fully complied with the
announcement, reporting and/or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (where
applicable):

(i)

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered
into a lease agreement dated 1 April 2022 (the "Lease
Agreement”) with Pioneer National Development Limited (as
landlord) (“Pioneer National”) to lease the premises at Units
1104-1107, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for office use for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2022 at a monthly
rental of HK$78,000 (exclusive of rates, Government rent and
management fee payable by the tenant).

Pioneer National is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50%
by Mr. Chui, both are Executive Directors and Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
Pioneer National is a connected person and transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions since the Listing.
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(ii)

The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered into
three lease agreements (the “Land Lease Agreements”)
with Asia Time Development Limited (“Asia Time"), Hilton
Development Limited (“Hilton Development”) and Land
Treasure Development Limited (“Land Treasure”) (as
landlords) respectively to lease various pieces of land in
the New Territories, Hong Kong for a term of three years
commencing from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024 at an
aggregated monthly rental of HK$195,000 (exclusive of rates,
Government rent and management fee payable by the tenant).

Each of Asia Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure
is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50% by Mr. Chui, both
are Executive Directors and Controlling Shareholders of
the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, each of Asia
Time, Hilton Development and Land Treasure is a connected
person and transactions contemplated under the Land Lease
Agreements constituted continuing connected transactions.

Pursuant to HKFRS 16, the Group, if entering into a lease
transaction as a lessee, should recognise the right-of-use
assets on the consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group according to HKFRS 16. Under the Listing Rules, the
entering into a lease transaction by the Group as a lessee will
be regarded as an acquisition of an asset under the definition
of transaction in Rule 14.04(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

As the Lease Agreement and Land Lease Agreements were
all entered into within a 12-month period and between
the Group and the same group of connected persons, the
connected transactions contemplated under the Lease
Agreement and Land Lease Agreements are required to be
aggregated under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As one
or more of the relevant percentage ratios in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreement and
Land Lease Agreements on an aggregated basis exceeds
0.1% but all are less than 5%, accordingly, all of the Lease
Agreement and Land Lease Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to the announcement
and reporting but are exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(i)
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On 30 September 2022, the Group through its subsidiary (as
tenant) entered into three surrender deed with Asia Time,
Hilton Development and Land Treasure to early terminate
and end the remaining lease term of the above Land lease
Agreements respectively (collectively the “Surrender Deeds”).

In accordance with HKFRS 16, entering into the Surrender
Deeds will result in a decrease of approximately HK$3.40
million in the amount of right-of-use assets recognised by the
Group. Therefore, entering into the Surrender Deeds and the
transactions contemplated thereunder will be considered as a
disposal of assets by the Group. Under Rule 14.22 and 14.23
of the Listing Rules, as the Surrender Deeds were all entered
into within a 12-month period and between the Group
and the same group of connected persons, the transactions
contemplated under the Surrender Deeds are required to be
aggregated. As all relevant percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Surrender Deeds on an aggregated
basis are less than 5%, the transactions under the Surrender
Deeds do not constitute notifiable transactions under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules.

Under Rule 14A.81 and 14A.82 of the Listing Rules, as the
Surrender Deeds were all entered into within a 12-month
period and between the Group and the same group of
connected persons, the connected transactions contemplated
under the Surrender Deeds are required to be aggregated.
As one or more of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the Surrender Deeds on an
aggregated basis exceeds 0.1% but all are less than 5%, all
of the Surrender Deeds and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are subject to the announcement and reporting
requirements but are exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2)(a) of
the Listing Rules. The Surrender Deeds also constitute a
subsequent termination of the connected transactions arising
from the Lease Agreements under Rule 14A.35 of the Listing
Rules.
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ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the continuing
connected transactions set out above have been reviewed by the
Independent Non-executive Directors who confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Auditor, SHINEWING CPA (HK) Limited (“SHINEWING"), has been
engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions
disclosed in item (iii) above in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. SHINEWING has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in item (iii) above in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

DISCLOSURE UNDER LISTING RULE 13.21

On 8 January 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a
revolving credit facility up to an aggregate amount of HK$20 million
and later revised to HK$25 million on 13 January 2020. Pursuant
to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding right to
modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions thereof
at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon demand
made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2019 and 13
January 2020.
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On 18 February 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available a facility of HK$20
million to both Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop Construction and
an aggregate of HK$250.61 million to Yee Hop Engineering only and
later revised to HK$15 million to the borrowers and an aggregate of
HK$35 million to Yee Hop Engineering only on 6 November 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding
right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 18 February 2019 and 6
November 2020.

On 27 March 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank making
available a credit facility up to an aggregate amount not exceeding
HK$20.88 million and later revised to HK$37.63 million on 10
February 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no
tenor, the bank reserves the overriding right to immediately modify,
terminate, cancel or suspend the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2019 and 10
February 2020.

On 5 December 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities up
to an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$149.0 million and later
revised to HK$128.4 million on 13 November 2020. Pursuant to
the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank shall have an
unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine
whether or not to permit drawings in relation to, the facilities. The
facilities are subject to review at anytime and also subject to the
bank's overriding right of repayment on demand including the right
to call for cash cover on demand for prospective and contingent
liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 5 December 2019 and 13 November 2020.
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On 7 July 2020, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed the
acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a term loan
facility in an amount up to HK$15 million. Pursuant to the terms
of the facility, the bank shall have the overriding right at any time
and at its sole discretion to terminate all or any part of, or reduce
or decrease, the facility by prior notice to the borrower. The facility
shall be repaid in full within 36 months from the relevant date
of facility drawdown. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020.

On 20 May 2022, Yee Hop Engineering and YH Qing Chuang
Limited, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a facility
letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities for an
aggregated amount not exceeding HK$100 million. Pursuant to
the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank shall have an
unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine
whether or not to permit drawings in relations to, the facility. The
facility are subject to review at any time and also subject to the
bank’s overriding right of repayment on demand including the right
to all call for cash cover on demand for prospective and contingent
liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 May 2022.

As one of the conditions of the facilities set out above, the
Company has undertaken to the banks, among others that Mr. Jim
and Mr. Chui should, directly or indirectly, own no less than 51%
shareholdings in the Company or the Company shall maintain
ultimately controlled by Mr. Jim and Mr. Chui.

At the date of this annual report, JJ1318 and Mr. Chui holds
40.25% and 29.75% in the Shares of the Company respectively.
JJ1318 is 100% beneficiary owned by Mr. Jim.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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(a) RROWEFRE

(a) Long position in Shares

Number of Shares

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interests of our

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company
HEERN JPiE S NN

BEENA B, Emiy B EE BESOE I

Mr. Jim Interest in a controlled 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%

BEhAE corporation (Note 1) 201,250,0000%

SISl EE R (M)

Mr. Chui Beneficial owner 148,750,000 Shares 29.75%

wgeE BEREAA 148,750,0000%

Ms. Lee Sze Wing Interest of spouse 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%

Mabel (Note 2) Bie (B FE 2

FRAARL (BiF2)

201,250,000/

(b) RAEQATHEQATINIZISHWEFE

(b) Long position in JJ1318, an associated corporation
of our Company

Percentage of
the issued share
capital of JJ1318

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest

FRi16111318
EEHA B3 REEE ERITREBSL
Mr. Jim Beneficial owner (Notes 1) 100%
EEE ERmBA W)
Notes: st
1. 1J1318 is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Jim. Accordingly, 1. 318HEREERHER 2
Mr. Jim is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by ]J1318 Hit - BEZBHFRBEEN - Bt
under the SFO. WRBRI18FEMRD T HER
b
2. Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel is the spouse of Mr. Jim and is deemed, or 2. FREZTREREZERR RIEZ

HEHRGD - RS EEREL
EHEARERZ RO P HEEER -

taken to be, interested in Shares in which Mr. Jim has interest under
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executives
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2023
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and Chief Executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Number of Shares
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Br b aft B3R R & SN - 702023F3A31H ¢
MEARRESE FETHAE R SH
EEEMEMBHEATRERRRSEEM
HEEE (EE R BFH K EE KA EXVER)
REMERD  HERD REST HEAE
RERIBIERSR KA EEDIZE352{68 E
AGFENELMARIRIBEEETRSTA
GARRNR RERZTH A ERIORE -

FERRRADQA K EMBEBE
BERH - HERORESZFH

BmlXRR

M2023F3A318  BEEMA - THA
T (BEENARBEBITHRAERIIN R
RARMRD RABBERG T - e ARE
BE N HAEIEHIEEXVERSE2 K30 SR A€ A
naEl RBRGTRRIEES RBEENE
36 FENELMAERSSAE -

RARB RN REBERONETR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interests of the

Name Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company

FEEEN KRB RE
=1 54 EntE RH&E RSO E St
JJ1318 Beneficial owner 201,250,000 40.25%
11318 BamlA A

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the registered required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

Br EXFRIBEEN  EEHTANBEFE
i AT RAR R B RARBIR D -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed, at no time during the 2023 Financial Year was the
Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
Eligible Participants (as defined below) have made or may make to
the Group so as to motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and attract,
retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business relationship with the
Eligible Participants whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 25 November 2015, after which no
further options will be issued. The total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not in aggregate
exceed 50,000,000 Shares (10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of Listing), unless approved by the shareholders in general meeting
(the maximum number of Shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time). No
option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to be granted
to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant exceeding 1% in
aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant. The
offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted when the offer
letter has been duly signed and a consideration of HK$1 in total has
been paid by.the grantee. The exercise period of the share options

granted.is.determinable by the Directors and ends on a date which is

not later thaf ten '§/ears from the date of the offer of share options.

EEREROIEFHEF

BRPTIREEE SN - ARA] - HERAREHE
EARTB B8 2% B Sk [R) Y B 2 R 7020234 B
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Eligible Participants include: (i) any Eligible Employees. “Eligible
Employees” means any employee (whether full time or part time,
including any Executive Director but excluding any Non- executive
Director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which the
Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital (“Invested
Entity”); (i) any Non-executive Director (including Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company, any subsidiary or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (vii) any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group, and, for the purposes of
the Share Option Scheme, options may be granted to any company
wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

The exercise price of options shares shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day"); (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately preceding
the offer date of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the offer date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to Directors and employees of the Group and other eligible
participants to subscribe for Shares not exceeding 10% of the
Shares in issue, 50,000,000 Shares.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme and
no option was exercised during 2023 Financial Year. There was no
option under the Share Option Scheme outstanding as of 31 March
2023.
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SUFFICIENT OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules since the Listing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the 2023 Financial Year.

EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme, there is no equity-linked agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that required the Company
to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares has been entered into by the Company
during or subsisted at end of the 2023 Financial Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company has
been entered into or existed during the 2023 Financial Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The employees and remuneration policies of the Group during the
2023 Financial Year is set out in the subsection headed “Employees
and Remuneration Policies” on page 14 of this annual report. The
content is part of the report of the Directors.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as Auditors of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held
in September 2023. The closure of the register of members of the
Company for determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will be despatched
to shareholders of the Company in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WA R

311 Gloucester Road,

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YEE HOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yee Hop
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages 71 to 204, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 90 and 91.
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BAREZEIE
RERMANBXAE  BREZSEASRK
MR ABENGREMBRETREZNE
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RUHERERREELERE M2
HEEHREFERER -

BESNNETEE
B2 RERA WS MR RS R E90E91
HOVERTHR -

The key audit matter
HREZEH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EFNETREEZER

For construction contracts, there is considerable
judgment in assessing the appropriate contract revenue
and margin which in turn affect the recognition of
contract assets (liabilities). Revenue is recognised over
time. The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
by reference to the proportion of the actual costs
incurred relative to the estimated total costs, that best
depict the Group's performance in transferring control
of goods or services, which involves the assessment
of the completeness and accuracy of contract costs
incurred and forecast costs to complete.
REESOME - NEHEEE S OGS MNEEE
EREBHE HEMTESHNEE (BE) MR -
Wes B R - TKBITRAEETHNERIBR
BRERAEFE  ERE EEBERTKBOEE
MEANX HFRA (HERBRRTKBELHEED
BIRN) - W EPRESNERKAEE R E KA
mENLOIERNES AR ERERE EEER
EEEMIAMEEGETENBOBR  HP PRk
MAEAEEGAORARERT IR TERE RE
G

Our audit procedures were designed to test revenue
recognised during the year to ensure the Group’s
accounting policy on construction contracts is in
accordance with the standard.

TR T B AZ IR Fr DOBI B 5 A B 3R 1) I 25 DA 7
R ESEENREESNSTHREREBER—Z -

We assessed whether the construction costs recognised
were in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
and supported by the audit evidence available through
critically challenged the forecast costs to complete,
contract costs, and the completeness and validity of
provisions arising from customer disputes. We assessed
reliability of management’s assessment in budget costs
by considering the historical actual costs and estimation
of budget costs of completed projects.
BMERBELEREHRTINA AHKRARREE
P E OB EE T BRE RA B AT (4 P i
ROEEKAREERE ESENSARRKLHA
SONEZREXF BFMEBZERBEERKER
ExIRENBERANMAEFUFHEEEERE
PRAE) S R B AT SR o

We have assessed progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation under
input method by recalculating the revised estimate
of the progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation of the construction works based
on the latest budgeted costs and the total actual costs
incurred. [
BB EST TG R AR TR M ER R AR 4
BB SRR TR B AR R
BRI REBERAET T2 ENBORE
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Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 22 and 24(a) to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 108 to 114.

ESEWREREGHNEERE
BLRGA P IRR W 2224 A M 5
108E114B M2 5K »

The key audit matter
HREXEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENESNAREZEE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had trade receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$131,450,000
and HK$135,502,000 respectively.

2023%3A318 - ESENESEKRIBERE L
B E 5 R4 131,450,0007T &% 135,502,0007T ©

The expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
and contract assets are estimated by the management
based on the ageing of customers collectively using
a provision matrix by reference to the Group’s past
default experience of the debtor, an analysis of the
debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

EoRBRBRGHNEENTRBEEBE ((AHE
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= BHOE BRI ARRIERTE T EEL AR -

We have identified the impairment of the trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter in
view of the significance of the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets and the ECL estimation
performed by the management involved significant
judgements and estimates.
ERESRWFERGHNEEREENEZENUR
EREMETONRBEEBRMET S RERAG X
et BMEREEZRURIBERENEENRE
REARERZEIE -

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
management estimation on ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets and challenge the reasonableness of
the significant judgements and estimates, including use
of significant unobservable inputs adopted in the ECL
estimation by the management.
BPNEFREFEETREEEHE S RUER
BREENTEREEBEMGE  LHERA G RE
ST EEMIRELER  EREREREBERYEE
FRAEGHRANEZTIEREARUE -

We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology and reviewed the input data used by
the management with reference to the latest available
general economic data and the cash collection
performance against the Group'’s historical trends and
credit loss experience.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement,
Corporate Governance Report, Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management, Report of Directors, Five Year Financial Summary,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of
the auditor’s report, and the Management Discussion and Analysis,
which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information those we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report. We conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
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Independent Auditor’s Report
By BT E

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
By BT E

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wang Kei
Practising Certificate Number: P07788

Hong Kong
30 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBEsaRkEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BT T BT T
Continuing operations BEKEXER
Revenue Weas 5 707,799 736,003
Cost of revenue W ER A AR (631,589) (632,069)
Gross profit EH 76,210 103,934
Other income and gain H A YA R Wz 6 26,128 9,597
Administrative and other expenses 1T M E B 2 (75,321) (66,087)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HEAX (928) (223)
Reversal of impairment losses CREERERE
(impairment losses) of o CREEE)
financial assets 10 511 (2,437)
Share of result of an associate DiE—EBE N R EE 1,739 3,574
Finance costs & A A 7 (27,057) (7,101)
Profit before taxation B A A A 1,282 41,257
Income tax credit (expense) Frefise (M) 8 2,611 (8,251)
Profit for the year from continuing & K& £ 5K
operations F A5 F) 3,893 33,006
Discontinued operation ERIEER
Loss for the year/period from BRIEEBRTF HR
discontinued operation 518 9 = (16,141)
Profit for the year F A Al 10 3,893 16,865
Profit for the year attributable to RATRHERANEBEERN
owners of the Company: Al
— from continuing operations —REFELEE 12,079 34,562
— from discontinued operation —JREERILER - 4,950
Profit for the year attributable to KA BEE AEMLERRF
~_ ownersof the Company . 12079 39,512
Loss for the year attributable to SEIEIR R E IS F A
non-controlling interests: B
— from continuing operations —RERBBERELEER (8,186) (1,556)
— from discontinued operation —REERIEER - (21,091)
Loss for the year attributable to SRR FE AL F A B 1R ”
,,,,, non-controlling interests ... (818) (22,647
3,893 16,865
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEERkEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
H et BT BT T
Other comprehensive (expense) H 2 (BIs) W :
income
Items that may be reclassified HigngeEmoiE
subsequently to profit or loss: BamIHE
Share of exchange reserve of an pak (=Rl kNG
associate 2 IE SRR (1,692) (3,493)
Exchange difference arising BREBINERESE
on translation of foreign B X =58
operations (4,147) 3,583
(5,839) 90
Total comprehensive (expense) FRE2E(FAX) BmiEsE
income for the year (1,946) 16,955
Total comprehensive income LT &BEREFAZE Y
(expense) for the year attributable  (Fiz) 48%8 :
to:
— Owners of the Company S VNGIEZZ =N 7,169 38,172
— Non-controlling interests — IR E (9,115) (21,217)
(1,946) 16,955
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share from continuing 2K B 35 B & & #5458
operations BREF
Basic and diluted BEARREE 14 0.02 0.07
HKS$ HK
BT BT
Earnings per share from continuing K BE#FEEEEBERDRIE
and discontinued operations EBEREN
Basic and diluted BEARREE 14 0.02 0.08
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R R

At 31 March 2023 7202343 HA31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIEE - HEES KRG 15 78,053 72,273
Right-of-use assets CREEE 16 3,203 7171
Investment properties WEYE 17 394,963 268,904
Interest in an associate A — & QR 18 68,286 75,601
Other non-current assets HEM3EmBEE 20 460 460
Long term deposit RHETFR 25 13,552 12,929
Pledged deposit EEAER 25 39,814 30,870
Loan and interest receivable JE U E SR R B 23 - 18,421
Deferred tax assets BETIEEE 21 5,610 11
603,941 486,640
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables Z 5 R IA 22 131,450 98,779
Amounts due from joint operations FEW & & IR 30 7,275 3,093
Contract assets GHEE 24 135,502 107,879
Deposits, prepayments and other Z&  AERER
receivables H b W 318 25 24,386 20,123
Loan and interest receivable JE U B SRR R B 23 19,741 -
Tax recoverable AT U B IR 6,491 =
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBR LIRS 26 127,196 161,357
452,041 391,231
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and retention payables 2 Z N FIER
ERHRE € 27 88,496 71,548
Contract liabilities EHBE 24 2,658 =
Accruals and other payables FERTE A IR H b FE AT 3K
I8 28 22,731 25,012
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 20,962 13,906
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 29 54,659 34,578
Amount due to a related company FET —BBER BRI
I8 30 3,494 -
Tax payable FE SR I8 35 4,423
193,035 149,467
P
Net current assets REBEEFE 259,006 241,764
Total assets less current liabilities EEZLBERABERS 862,947 ‘

728,404,
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

At 31 March 2023 7202343 HA31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT T
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 29 67,600 24,242
Long service payment obligations RHARR 7 © &I 31 1,315 673
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 315,508 223,161
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEAR 21 5,521 6,150
389,944 254,226
Net assets BEEFE 473,003 474,178
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital fi&% 7R 32 5,000 5,000
Reserves f# 475,509 468,340
Equity attributable to owners RARIEER NELER
of the Company 480,509 473,340
Non-controlling interests JEER S (7,506) 838
Total equity ERBE 473,003 474,178
The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 204 were FNE204ENREVBHRETBES
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 2 R2023F 6 A308 #t ) K 5 #E T 5% -
June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: WEHTHALTREEE
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin Chui Mo Ming
. #EH
Director Director

EFE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAER AR
Non-
Share Share ~ Merger  Exchange Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
k& ROEE GkEE EIRE EtEE  REEN B FERER st
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
BETR  RETR  BMTn  BETR BETr  BETn  ABTn  BMTn  BEIR
(Note 3) (Note b)
(Hita) (i)

At 1 April 2021 202154718 5000 112583 14,808 5,157 1124 258421 397,099 46710 443809
Profit(loss) for the year Mﬁﬁﬂ(ﬁﬁﬁ) - - - - -1 951 (264D 16865
Shae of exchange reserve of AME-RBERAZ
an associate R - = - B = - W) - (49
Exchange difference arising BERNFRELR
on translaton of foreign EXZE
operations - - - 2153 - - 2,153 1430 3,583
(Loss) profitand total ER(FE) Bk
comprehensive (expense) 2E(Ax) hEaE
income for the year - - - (1,340) - 39512 38,172 2117 16,955
Capital contrbution by FERERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - 40,761 - 40,761 31,599 72,360
Reclassfication upon disposal RHENERR
of subsidiaries [ B = - - (269)  (40.761) 40,761 (2692) (56254 (58946)
At31 Merch 2022 Ra0nF3E31A 5000 11258 M88 115 L4 I8N0 4B 88 474178
Profit loss) for the year EMEN () - - - - - R0 0 B8 3893
Share of exchange resenve of HME-HEERAZ
an associate B e - - - (169 - - (169 - (169
Exchange difference arising BEBNERELR
on translation of foreign BHES
operations - - - (3218) - - (3.218) (929) (4147)
(Loss) profit and total ER(FiE) gk
comprehensive (expense) RERD)URES
income for the year - - - (4910) - 12,079 7,169 (9,115) (1.946)
Capital contrbution by FERERLE
non-controling interests - - - - - - - m m
At 31 March 2023 7202337318 5000 112583 14,808 (3,785) 1124 350779 480,509 (71506) 473,003
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #{Z2023F3H31HIEFE

Note a: Merger reserve represents the difference between the — ffita : A HEBREIBEEE EHTKE

nominal value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired MEBARME BITRAmERE
pursuant to a group reorganisation over the consideration KWEZEHBARMNENREZ
paid for acquiring these subsidiaries. o

Note b: Other reserve represents the difference between the — Afitb - H M &5 E £201693 8311

carrying value of the additional equity interests of the LIEFE RSB B A~ 7 R INIR
subsidiary acquired and the consideration paid of HK$116 WEEEEEENREEE 16T

during the year ended 31 March 2016. LERE o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES & EE
Profit (loss) before taxation BB e A (B518)
— Continuing operations — B ER 1,282 41,257
— Discontinued operation —BRIFEK - (97,176)
1,282 (55,919)
Adjustments for: AU TIHEBEL A%
Bank interest income RITHE WA (1,244) (797)
Loan interest income =& /PN PN (1,080) (1,048)
Provision for long service payment REIRRTS € BB 642 90
Finance costs A& P AR 27,057 11,074
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEENE 4,547 5,952
Depreciation of investment properties "EYERTE 21,232 =
Net unrealised exchange loss RNETE R FE - 96
Loss from changes in fair value less cost EMEENTEEZE 2 EIE
to sell of biological assets LS B K AR - 5,989
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary e — R E AR Rk E - (4,307)
Loss on early termination of a lease REHKILHE Z BB aa1 -
Gain on disposal of plant and MBS KRB NS
equipment (139) (1,390)
Government subsidies IBZJT?@EJJ (7,492) (4,978)
Share of result of an associate e —HBE R RIEE (1,739) (3,574)
Interest income on bonds BHEGEF 2 EWA - (621)
Amortisation of intangible assets Em A EME - 150
Reversal of impairment losses SR E ERRIRERE
(impairment losses) of financial assets OR1EE1E) (511) 11,560
Impairment loss of goodwill B RAEEE - 8,334
Impairment loss of property, plant and W - R RREN
equipment REEE - 9,505
Impairment loss of other intangible Hithmp & EREEE
assets - 173
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets EAREENREEE - AN
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - 2R R ERE
equipment e 24,026 38,593
Operating cash flows before movements HEESFPINLE
in working capital Reme 67,022 18,993
Decrease in inventories FERD = 9,420
Increase in biological assets EYEEE N - (4,157)
Increase in trade receivables E 5 W R IEIE N (31,638) (8,175)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and %Be - ANFIEREAM
other receivables JiE W SR IR 5 AN (5.,025) (2,112)
Increase (decrease) in trade and retention E Z A FE M e
payables RE &80 O L) 16,948 (10,902)
(Decrease) increase in accruals and other F’E?Eﬁﬁ &ﬁf‘@ﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ
payables (Rt ) 18 (213) 9,641
Increase in contract liabilities GHE f@gi‘?]l] 2,658 1,454
(Increase) decrease in contract assets EHEE S R (27,623) 7,494
A
Cash generated from operations ZWM}E@JP)T SRE 22,129 21,656
Income tax paid BAFTEH (14,496) (2,927)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & )EBI PRSI & %5 7,633 18,729
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES wEES
Repayment from loan to an associate BEE AR EEENR 7,362 14,165
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HE S RREN TG
equipment IR 1,948 2,487
Interest received B FI B 1,244 797
Release of pledged deposits BRER B IR F X 5,101 —
Net cash inflow from disposing HEMRBARMBSRA
subsidiaries FER - 85,688
Redemption of zero coupon bonds ERZ &S - 44,452
Repayment from an associate TERE N RIER — 10,953
Purchase of an investment property BEREYHE (38,300) (33,298)
Placement in pledged deposit FABEBTR (14,346) (30,870)
Advance to joint operations BRTEEER (4,182) (3,093)
Purchase of plant and equipment BB R (32,657) (10,157)
Advance to an associate BRT L QR = (21,690)
Advance of loan receivable JEU B FRE TR - (6,896)
Prepayment for acquisition of WHEIEmB & EM TR
non-current assets FRIE = (5,811)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING wEES (FTA) GRS
ACTIVITIES FEE (73,830) 46,727
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEED
New bank and other borrowings raised EEEHRITRAMEE 88,944 62,562
Government subsidies received B UK T 48 Bh 7,492 5,042
Advance from (repayment to) a related FE N AR R R (EEF)
company 3,494 (9,847)
Capital contribution by non-controlling FEEREREHE
interests 771 72,360

D ER S EPNGIEY)
—HREENBR - 1,306
ERRITREMEE

Advance from a director of a subsidiary

Repayment of bank and other

borrowings (25,505) (83,903)
Repayment to lease liabilities EBREEaE (13,487) (4,538)
Interest paid for lease liabilities RHEAEIMNMFIE (21,997) (3,781)
Repayment to a director of a subsidiary BT —HNB AR

—ZEERIAE (2,300) =

Interest paid on bank and other PIRIT R EMERZTH
borrowings B (4,828) (9,944)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES B E )EBFT1SIR & /558 32,584 29,257

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE INCASHAND HRE&REBEESEBYWORL)

CASH EQUIVALENTS HENFEE (33,613) 94,713
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FUNREMREEED
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR . 161,357 71,138
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNERE R BB R B (548) (4,494)
B AT AT AT AT ATATAY, mas
CASH /-\Nlj::k SH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FRORERIBEEEDY

END OFE__}'*—IE YEAR, represented by bank (AR TTEHREIREERT)
balance;&\ipnd cash 127,196 161,357

Kl

Kl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

1. GENERAL 1. —REHR

Yee Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company") was incorporated EAERBERAR ([XRAF]) R
as an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in 20152 A2 RIBEHA E B & A0
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 F22F N AE (19614 F3f1 - 4845
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman GERIETT) RAESHESFEMAL -
Islands on 12 February 2015 and its shares are listed on The i E AR 9 7A2015F12 H18R £ &
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 December 2015. BERSMABRAR LT H&EHK
Its ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin R RERBEERFRRALE
and Mr. Chui Mo Ming (the “Controlling Shareholders”). ([ERBRRER]) - AQAFIWEMdESE
The address of the registered office of the Company is F& b ik AWindward 3, Regatta Office
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman,
Cayman, KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands, and its principal KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands + iy &
place of business is located at Room 1104-06, 11/F., Nan Fung DEEMBUNE BN EERGL
Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Hong AT195% Fg & 7 R 0 11481104-06
Kong. Ee

The Company is an investment holding company while the AAR R —BEEERAR  mE
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of EMBARIEEREL BB RIER
foundation and other civil works and tunneling works in Hong ElRMHEMEREM T ARTREARE
Kong and Philippines, premises revitalisation and enhancement BT RPEARLME (THED)
(formerly known as sub-leasing of premises) in the People’s ZFEEC IR (RIBYESME)
Republic of China (the “PRC”). During the year ended 31 REZ=2022F3A31HIEFE - ARQ
March 2022, the subsidiaries of the Company also engaged in A B 2 B IR AR B SE K E I B
the research and development and breeding, sales and trading LEHE  HEMBESHU KBRS
of aquatic products and related services in the PRC which was ZEBENEFE202291 72885
discontinued last year upon the completion of the disposal of B EIRINERBFREBRA A
Shenzhen BGl Fisheries Sci & Tech Co. Ltd* &I ZE A FE RIS (TERE*F]  SERAEWNE R AGHE
AMRAF] ("BGI Marine”), which together with its subsidiaries ABIEXEEER]) ((HEBHE])E
(collectively referred to as the “BGI Group”), on 28 January I FIBHRWFAIR37 - B A
2022 (the “Disposal”), details are set out in notes 9 and 37. AIM E B EBEH N E42 -

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 42.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC and the Br B0 HR B K2 I 12 2 B S B BT B A A
Philippines whose functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”) (Hge B8 28 AARE (AR
and Philippine Peso (“PHP") respectively, the functional B RFEEELR((FRELR]D)
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is Hong Oh - RRBREAMME QR AIEE
Kong dollars (“HK$"). For the purpose of presenting the BB AEK ((BE]D -REVEE
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its FmEms  AQa RERBA
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) AIUAT A [AEE]) RABEE
adopted HK$ as its presentation currency. REZWEE -

* English name for identification purpose only. B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

MR

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for its first time,
the following amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the”HKICPA") which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 April 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED TO 2. ERMEBMBRESE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Bl ([ &8 MK HEER J)
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (continued) RABET 2 ()

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not 2 {8 5 *E?&Z%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?&%
yet effective BRI BEBMBREEL
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEEWEBEAMEKAATEEME
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet mRER ] BB S 2R
effective. RASET AN ©
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts' BENBREE RREY
October 2020 and BIZ175% (B1E
February 2022 20205107 &
amendments to 2002F2AFH
HKFRS 17) RHREERE
1752531 K)
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and EREMBRERD SRENCHERR
Leaseback? F16% (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets ERUMBRELEN KREEREBEAFN
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10RRAEEE AELECHEER
Associate or Joint Venture? FTERIE28H (8 BRBAS
ETN
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as B gER HEENEATE LI
Current or Non-current and %15);7 (CHEN MBARBERES
the related amendments to 5% < 1 B{E 3] (2020
Hong Kong Interpretation E)BBRE 25—
5(2020) Presentation of ERASRBREX
Financial Statements — BERIZEHER
Classification by the Borrower ETHE

of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand

Clause?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with N P22 2 3B B E?
Covenants? ESLACCHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies' BRGER BHHRLRE
and HKFRS Practice F1FRB B
Statement 2 WEEREBR
CEFLACCHES)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting ARG ER BEEFZER'
Estimates’ EREACCHES)
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets ENEE B-RHEEMEHE
and Liabilities arising from a F125% (BFIK) ERBEHEEHRE
Single Transaction'
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 1 E£2§235E1 R1B3 & mmFE M
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 2 Eé\%(z)zﬁﬂ R1Bsz &R FEH
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 2 E@%iﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁiZ%FfﬁﬁéZﬁE%ﬁfﬁi?&
determined.
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application ARREZBZTRH  EBAMIEER
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material BRELREBIABTEHAE
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group. IZ%ZE&EM‘%#/RLEZEK%;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's
return
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group'’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities
of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date
when control is lost, (ii) derecognises the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost (including any components of
other comprehensive income attributable to them), and (iii)
recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in profit
or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity,
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to
retained earnings as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's interest in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
Under the equity method, interest in an associate is initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profit or loss and
changes in the other comprehensive income of the associate is
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, which determined using the equity method together
with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the interest, any excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate is
recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying amount
of the interest.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Interest in an associate (continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s losses (if any), the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss
with respect to its interest in an associate. The Group assesses
whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When an objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the interest (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the interest in an associate. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the

date when the investment ceases to be an associate.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate. The Group’s share in the associate’s
gains or losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of

the parties sharing control.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Interests in joint operations (continued)

The Group, as a joint operator, recognises in relation to its
interest in a joint operation:

o its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

o its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred
jointly;

o its revenue from the sale of its share of the output

arising from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interests in joint operations in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity enters into a transaction with a joint
operation in which the group entity is a joint operator, such as
a sale or contribution of assets, the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint
operation and the Group recognises gains and losses resulting
from such a transaction only to the extent of the other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity enters into a transaction with a joint
operation in which the group entity is a joint operator, such
as a purchase of assets, the Group recognises its share of the
gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created and
enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties, discounts, sales rebate and sales related
taxes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group'’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

Revenue from the contract is recognised over time. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services. When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to the
extentyof contract costs incurred that are expected to be
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under
the contract, then a provision is recognised in accordance
with an onerous contract. An onerous contract exists when
the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the
contract and the net cost of continuing with the contract.

The Group's construction contracts normally include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the construction
period once milestones are reached. These payment schedules
prevent the build-up of significant contract assets. The Group
also typically agrees to a one to two years retention period
for 5% to 10% of the contract value. This amount is included
in contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group'’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Property management services

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis and
recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed.

Service income

Revenue from service income from provision of administrative
services to its joint operations is recognised over time. As a
practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice. The service income recognised
in profit or loss is included in the other income and gain line
item.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract includes sales
rebates, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring

the promised goods to a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration
by using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to which

it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated

with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in

circumstances during the reporting period.

Sale and leaseback transactions
The Group acts as a seller-lessee

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by
the Group as a seller-lessee. For a transfer that does not satisfy
the requirements as a sale, the Group accounts for the transfer

proceeds as other borrowing within the scope of HKFRS 9.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is
the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an
obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under HKAS
37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercise of purchase
option, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property are
presented within “investment property”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine
whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to some of its machineries and properties. Leases
for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease

components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rentalyincome from operating leases is recognised on a

r;, added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
re_cogn%ed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
rather than by reference to the underlying asset. If the head
lease is a short-term lease to which the group applies the
exemption described above, the sublease shall be classified as
an operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interest as appropriate).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over
a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of
a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payment
to its employees on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
the amount of future benefits that the employees have earned
in return for their services in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method,
discounted to its present value and reduced by entitlements
accrued under the Group’s retirement plans that are attributed
to contributions made by the Group.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in an associate, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition and over the lease terms due to application
of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between
the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values at initial recognition. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management, including cost of testing whether
the related assets are functioning properly and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group'’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets,jon the same basis as other property assets, commences
eassets are ready for their intended use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
(including properties under development for such purposes).
Investment properties include leased properties recognised
by the Group as right-of-use asset and leased out under
operating lease.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
development are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under development.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method. Costs incurred
for investment properties under construction are capitalised
as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction. An investment property held by the
Group as a right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost in
accordance with HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and
demand deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are
short-term (generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents, as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the cost of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(i

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting
for any loss allowance.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

3.
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or originated credit impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
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at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity investment
that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration
arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss to the extent it is not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the other gains
and losses line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost,
contract assets as well as financial guarantee contracts. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective

financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of

money where appropriate.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasgnable and supportable, including historical experience
_and ward-looking information that is available without

urjdue < st'or effort.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

BERETTHE®

T A (&)

THEE (&)
EREEREMEBREEENHHR
ERRFEIF TR EFIGZHE A
R1E (&)

FERRBERLMGE)

LER  HEHEBNBEBERIARE
ERREDBEZZINE  &F 8N
TER:

s  ERTAINSNEAE)XABE
EFGERKFARENR

o HHREBESARTEES
FAEOBE A8 TFE 0 275 -
B T SR EROR 0B ST
SESIE AT

s BEHRAREZEXENERLEN
mER

s FA-—EBANEMESETARN
I:lz\}—lllg/\/\ %iij.]u

s BEBANEE KEIRMER
B ERKFAEHNEANTHE
tEREBABRTHEREE
HYBE ) K8 T & ©

Bim Ll AP i%ﬁﬂﬂ REE
HRECREENFEERRB 98
R (ERHONE tHEtL%?EET)
ARKIEIE N RIFEREEFEE
BEBENENBRATEEREMBRRIME
Gl




110

Yee Hop Holdings Limited 3% & 1ZX AR A 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
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Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes BRBABER AR E 8RB RS
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, HURERABTEANRERER
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to e Hem T AWETEAE
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers ERRBRE EEEAEBREBERK
a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has E&EZINBIRER M E TR (i
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with WESNBFR) EEEBAIELD
the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not BIFE - AREERSRMEERE
available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. ERRBIRIE

M BEREAOME  AKEKS
T AHATE — T R B B R S B
@ B T BB E T AT VA FERR
BHl- REFHEERR B MBER
BRVERRAESEARE LI -
AEBEZEBEEBEBAZIAKEN
R H) D o

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.
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The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either

of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:
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e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the s BEBAEBRMFEER X
debtor; or
e information developed internally or obtained from o NEBHA AR AR IEIT &Y
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external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).
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Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised

- m{pr_of

or:loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
The Group's financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading,
or (3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period,
to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXREBE®

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued) SRTIA ()

Financial guarantee contracts B BEREN

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the MBEREHN R —EEREITAE

issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder BHEENZK NEEREAREE

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make BEBAEEZERBRES TANKRI

payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt REBRIEMEEBRNER

instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are EEERZTNUBERSOND

initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated as REQNFEE  Hig (WMWIEETE

at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, RN EFAEZ BN IFRNE

are subsequently measured at the higher of: BEUBEE) RUATREETE

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in e REBESUMBHMEEAFSR
accordance with HKFRS 9; and ETHBERESE X

e the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, e VITHRSER(WMER)IRE
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with Wz R IBUR P sR 1) 25T
the revenue recognition policies. HEHE

Derecognition of financial liabilities HIFER T RIE &

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only EEEEASENETHEER T

when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or HEERE  ARB A RIEERS

they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of BAGE-ERLEEISAA BN

EEAE N RENKE (BRERD
ERIRCEEXCDAERE) ZHE
M ERN B ER

the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EREGHHBER®
(continued)
Provisions BE
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present HAREEBESFRERB LR
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, SHETEE MAEEATGERAET
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that ZEMT WA EGHAZEETNE
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount B RIMER R -

of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the RERREHRBETRERTMS
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the RENFREGTHE ULERE
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and BMEAENERRTHABREER E#
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is HERETARAETEAMFEREA
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present EFfER HREERZIRER
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those ENREMEYRREEYEER
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is R) - BRER B D HEHLHE
material). When some or all of the economic benefits required MzsFEEAI B 56 =77 e - AR
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third BERSEBENREBERESRERER
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually SitE - AIBRUGRIERAREE -

certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.

Impairment losses on property, plant and ME- - EBERRE REWHE
equipment, investment properties, intangible BRYEEURERAREE (B8
assets and right-of-use assets (other than goodwill) BRSM) 2 BEEE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the RBERR AEEMBEYE - %
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, BRRE REME BYEER
investment properties, intangible assets and right-of-use BREEAREREEERTEE
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those HEFE - UETEE S ERTFRETR
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication RERELRREEBE -HEET
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in MBS AgHEEARDS
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. BMIEL A UETHEBBRNRE
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount B (nAE) - WA G A EEN
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable AREEE AEESGAREE
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU") to which the PR eELEMN ((REEEEM])
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of MR E S8R - R AER — B
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated B-BHoEER CXEETS
to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the PEZERELEEMN  SRIM
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent XEEREHEINEGE —BERS
allocation can be identified. e/ REELSEMLES -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in
profit or loss.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions and value in use of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill
and other intangible assets for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability
at the measurement date.

A fair

acco

alue measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
asmarket participant’s ability to generate economic

|
|

benefits| by Using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling Hit to another market participant that would use the
asset i gts highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of
inputs, as follow:
Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly

observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

BEREFTHE®

DNPEFEE)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4. BREESHE RMETH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BHEREZMNEERR
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which RERAASE B2 BUR (R M 3%,
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are M) ARARERAREERAE
required to make judgement, estimates and assumptions BRTEME ~ P as & 2 DA R 4R
about the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and U BHREE T EED HE - (A5
expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated MR At REARKJIRRBE
financial statements. The estimates and associated assumptions KE R EMEARBENEZIEL -
are based on historical experience and other factors that are ERERTEEB RN ZEMET -
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on et R BRREFEEEERN -
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are WIS E] B B Z M - Al st
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if fI%ETAEAfEuH’Eﬁf T EA R
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the S RHE ET R B AN AR MR R AR
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current EyNES uT,HHFEJ&ﬂiPK,HﬁF%Ew

and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies ERAEBERNE XA E

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those RARRIEENEATEE SN
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the F2MERY R 2 BRI (R
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's T3 BAGN - AR B TEAR G B B R
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect KER CHREREATE AR
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the FI o

consolidated financial statements.

Classification of joint arrangements EERENDE

Yee Hop-Amain JV and Amain-CW Yee Hop JV are joint Yee Hop-Amain JV}&Amain-CW Yee
operations as the Group have joint control of the arrangements Hop WEBE & %% REAAKREH
and have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, HE BT LR =S AR5
relating to the arrangements. Pursuant to the respective FRZYmMHEEEZARNEEE
contractual agreements regarding each of these joint BEAEEE BEAHELFSaLER
arrangements, all major decisions and the decisions regarding HRNEBEAME MBEERATE
the relevant activities of these joint arrangements require R EEELHNBBREBRRTE
the unanimous consent of all parties to the arrangement. HEAKLZHEE T —HRAE AL
Accordingly, the directors of the Company concluded that the AAREERARIEBHEERH

Group has joint control over the joint arrangements. VA LR -
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Classification of joint arrangements (continued)

The directors of the Company also assessed whether these
joint arrangements are joint operations or joint ventures under
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. After considering the rights and
obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with reference
to the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the
contractual terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements,
and the relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of the
Company concluded that all of the Group's joint arrangements
should be classified as joint operations under HKFRS 11 as
the relevant joint arrangement document specify that the
parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and
obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Accounting for construction contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as
the percentage of completion of construction works under
the input method. When determining the total budgeted
costs, management makes reference to information such as
current or recent offers from subcontractors and suppliers and
estimation on material costs, labour costs and other costs for
the completion of the projects provided by its internal quantity
surveyors. Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for
the construction contract as the contract progresses, the actual
outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs
may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect
the revenue, cost and profit recognised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4. ARG HE RMEETH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BIRZFENEZRIR G
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract EZEWURE EHNEE - &S
assets, deposits and other receivables, pledged REMERRE 2 EKHFER
deposit, loan to an associate and loan and interest m—REBE A ARERURERE
receivable AR EWRF B W EE R

The impairment provisions for trade receivables, contract ZBORKFHE 6HEE BER
assets, deposits and other receivables, loan to an associate and HMEWKHRIE M- HBEER a8
loan and interest receivable are based on assumptions about KA K B W B SR K E MR B/ R (B
ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions BEENHBEHEEBENRRE -
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, N B R R E Bl e R IE R R E
based on the number of days that an individual receivable BREARKAEBRNHRERKRD
is outstanding as well as the Group's historical experience FESE &5 R ATHEEE R - {2 A E
and forward-looking information at the end of the reporting EHZEBEREERBEFENE
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could ANBUE - ZEBRERMETHE(A
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be BRHNMEREAETERATLE A
necessary to make additional impairment charge to the profit B EZHEREHBINRES
or loss. At 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of trade i o R2023F3A31R - BHE WK
receivables, contract assets, deposits and other receivables, RIE - -AHNEE e hHMERK
pledged deposit, loan to an associate and loan and interest RIE-BERAEHX - m—HBEEA
receivable are approximately HK$131,450,000 (2022: A E A R E W E 1 K FEH B Y
HK$98,779,000), HK$135,502,000 (2022: HK$107,879,000), fR B 7 Bl % /3 78 131,450,000
HK$32,426,000 (2022: HK$28,217,000), HK$39,814,000 70 (20224 : & #98,779,0007T)
(2022: 30,870,000), nil (2022: HK$7,362,000) and 78 #135,502,0007T (20225 : & %
HK$19,741,000 (2022: HK$18,421,000) respectively, net 107,879,0007T) - /& #32,426,000
of accumulated loss allowance for ECL of approximately gL (20224 : 7% %28,217,0007T)
HK$1,084,000 (2022: HK$2,117,000), nil (2022: nil), 7 #39,814,0007T (20224 : B ¥
HK$918,000 (2022: HK$156,000), nil (2022: nil), nil (2022: 30,870,0007T) ~ & (20224 - B ¥
nil) and HK$595,000 (2022: HK$835,000) respectively. 7,362,0007T) & /& #19,741,0007C

(20224 : #1¥18,421,0007T) - 10
KRIEHEEBEZRAEBBEER
2 B #4978 #51,084,0007T (20224 :
2 117,0007T) ~ £ (20224 ¢
) « 5 1918,0007T (20224 : i
#156,0007T) * & (20224 : /&) -
7 (20224 : &) N B %595,000 JT
(20224F : B#835,0007T) °




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment loss on interest in an associate

In determining whether the Group’s interest in an associate
is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount.
Impairment assessment had been carried out at the end of
the reporting period on the interest in an associate with
reference to the investee company’s financial performance,
financial position and cash flows of the underlying investment
and comparable industry information. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, no impairment is considered
necessary. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount
of the Group's interest in an associate is approximately
HK$68,286,000 (2022: HK$68,239,000).

Impairment loss on financial guarantee contracts
The directors of the Company use their judgement in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for the guarantee
contracts, and assumptions included the probability of
default by the specified counterparty and an analysis of the
counterparty’s current and future financial position.

As at 31 March 2023, the contingent liabilities from the
guarantees in respect of performance bonds in favor of its
clients amounted to approximately HK$80,303,000 (2022:
HK$50,790,000). Further details about the guarantee contracts
are set out in note 36.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful life and after taking into account of
their estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
The estimated useful life reflects the directors’ estimate of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group's property, plant and
equipment. The residual values reflect the directors’ estimated
amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal
of the assets, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal,
if the assets were already of the age and in the condition
expected at the end of its useful life. As at 31 March 2023,
the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are
approximately HK$78,053,000 (2022: HK$72,273,000).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment assessment of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit

to which the assets belongs.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of investment
properties are approximately HK$394,963,000 (2022:
HK$268,904,000) respectively. Further details about the

investment properties are set out in note 17.

B8 8 = o M BT % fh 5t T 88
BRZNEERR @)

REWE 2 BER G
REYRLER AR R E RREE
(&) JE - BEEBEERDRER
SR B 1 th A B BT S ET 0
HEFE:-(WEEEEMHEHELES
BB RBERA T BEEEER:
QEEREERTENANKES
B MAERERE BNSE
FEREERSERMBIANRRRSR
ENFRE: ROBREARMGFA
WoeEMNEERRER (BEAS
MEBRAREEMKRE) - EAA
AE 1 511 Bl & 2 /Y AT e [0 & BR B -
AEEGFEEMBRESELEM
B R U (B 5 28 o

R—ZEBE-_=Z=F=ZA=+—H "
REYWENEMED BN A B
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WakopER
Revenue W &5
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REBOFERNREDTAT -
2023 2022
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue from contracts with BBV EHREERF155
customers within the scope of HEANEFEHOWE
HKFRS 15

Disaggregated by major products or BRXEEmARBRNDIF
services lines

— Construction revenue under —E R EM T ARTE
foundation and other civil works R Z RN 563,801 594,277
— Construction revenue under —BETRERB N ZEE
tunneling works g 140,768 141,726
— Management fees income under —MEFECRARIET
premises revitalisation and ZEBEBIWA
enhancement 1,180 -
705,749 736,003
Revenue from other source H i 3R B9 Uk 2=
— Rental income under premises —MEFCRARETZ
revitalisation and enhancement HelkA 2,050 =
707,799 736,003
Set out below is the reconciliation of revenue from contracts TREFNRBEREFFAFILEHNZ
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment WHmHlosBERMBEERE B2 H
information. R o
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDBEE @
(continued)
Revenue (continued) W (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023F3HA31HLFE
Segments
2
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
HEREAM MEFLR
TARIR BEIRE F4 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Types of goods or service Emak BB AR
Construction revenue under WEREMTARTRET
foundation and other civil ZEENR
works 563,801 - - 563,801
Construction revenue under BRETRBT 2 BEWS
tunneling works - 140,768 - 140,768
Management fees income under  ZE L RFARET 2
premises revitalisation and EEEWA
enhancement - - 1,180 1,180
Total revenue from contracts HEFAIVAK 2 Bk
with customers = 563,801 140,768 1,180 705,749
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE2022F3A318 EFE
Segments
2 E
Foundation
and other civil Tunneling
works works Total
HE K E A
TARIR BRiE T2 HBEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BT
Types of goods or service EmoiR B ER
Construction revenue under WEREMFTARTRETZ
foundation and other civil works fe=alhgay 594,277 = 594,277
Construction revenue under BRETRRIE T BEk s
ﬁuq.neling works - 141,726 141,726

svenue from contracts with HRBMITV AL 2 Bl
‘ cugomers 594,277 141,726 736,003

p=1113
o>
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Annual Report 2022/23 “F 3k

Wk oIBER @

Revenue (continued) W ()
Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition B [ 7 58 1Y W 25 5 HF
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥T T BT T
Over time Bi& B 705,749 736,003

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with
customers

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of transaction
price allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$869
million (2022: HK$907 million). The amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
construction contracts. The Group will recognise this revenue
as the relevant performance obligation on the construction
contract is satisfied, which is expected to occur over the next
2-34 months.

RENEFIRERTENEE
ZR 5 E%

202338318 D EEEXRETT
(AP ARBIT) 2BHNEE RS
BIR BB AN BH869HE & T (2022
F:BE7TEE L) cZEBEERE
HAKEEEAVEROWE - &
EEBENIEEEERAONBENERT
EPK R (FERT A R R2ZE341E A 8
) MR LU o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ"),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods sold and services provided. The
directors of the Company have chosen to organise the Group
around differences in goods and services. No operating
segments identified by the chief operating decision maker
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group commenced
to engage in the business of premises revitalisation and
enhancement segment, with the objective to generate rental
income from sub-leasing of its premises in the PRC and it is
considered a new operating and reportable segment by the
chief operating decision maker. Operating segment regarding
the breeding, sales and trading of aquatic products and related
services business was discontinued during the year ended 31
March 2022. The segment information reported does not
include any amounts for this discontinued operation, details
which are described in note 9 and note 37.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:
1. Foundation and other civil works;
2. Tunneling works;

3. Premises revitalisation and enhancement.

5.

Wz KkoEHBER @)

2 EHESR

FITHAAR ((THRAR]  ET2K
LIRRE) MEAEEIRD B M FHE
DEMERERENERZRNAE
M E m R H AR ER - AA A
EZCRERTRAE MR RF AR
REE - TELEARARERERRN
SENAERNDBRUBREDH
RIEAEZ D HB

REE20229F3A318 ILEE - K&
ERBRREMERTLCRARNOER
SEEERBBESHEETRL
MEELHSWA B p S =E
DRERRERS—AFTNEER
AEHRDHB-BEKEEZE HE
RESUREBREHEESHE
REE2022F3A318 EFERIE -
FIsREMm o BERT N EEHER
IEEBOEMESEE  FHEHAM
M FE37 o

BEms  AEEAIZ2HO AT
1. WEREMEIARTRE:

2. BETIRE:

3. MEEERIE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoBER @)
(continued)
Segment revenues and results o EB UL I AR
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results LWTEERAIEREEEDHEDH

from continuing operations by reportable and operating

AEBEREFELEET M EER

segments. EEDM o
For the year ended 31 March 2023 Eﬁ§2023ﬂ53}§ 31ALEE
Continuing operations BT
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other civil Tunneling and
works works enhancement Total
HEREf S
TRIR BEIR  ELRAR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT BET T BET T
REVENUE &
External segment revenue SR 3 EB U 563,801 140,768 3,230 707,799
Segment profit (loss) o E8m F (B 1E) 59,291 17,592 (72) 76,811
Share of result of an associate DE—FEBE AR EE 1,739
Unallocated income RO EUA 26,128
Unallocated expenses AOEFAYE (76,339)
Unallocated finance costs RO E A (27,057)
Profit before taxation B 7 Al Vi ) 1,282
r
™
1 N
X
— -“ i “
it Pz
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Wk oIBER @

Segment revenues and results (continued) DEBUE K A& (E)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B E2022F3A31B ILFE
Continuing operations SEISE T
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
HEREAM ES
TARIE BEIR FERAR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  AETET BETT BETT
REVENUE =
External segment revenue SR 5 Eh U 2R 594,277 141,726 = 736,003
Segment profit (loss) 80 A (E1E) 89,349 13,001 (564) 101,786
Share of result of an associate DE—RBE R BEE 3,574
Unallocated income RO BUA 9,597
Unallocated expenses AAEEME (66,599)
Unallocated finance costs RABREKAK (7,101)
Profit before taxation B 5t A A 41,257

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned
by (loss incurred from) each segment without allocation of
certain administrative and other expenses, certain selling
and distribution expenses, directors’ salaries, finance costs,
impairment losses reversed (recognised) on financial assets,
share of profit of an associate and other income and gain.
This is the measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

-
A7

R DR S St IR B FE3 AT AN
SEGFHEER - 53 mH,(&
B EENHELEDAE TITHR
HifAX ETHERDHEHAX
EEHe MEKAS ED (ER)
TRMEERERBRE DHEBERQR
i M DA B B M A R I s B9 IR T
PR ER R A (RS HER) © M5
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

Wz KkoHER &)

SMEEREHE
TR S B T 2R AR 5
BHMEERAEA

Segment assets T EHEE
2023 2022
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Foundation and other civil works HE R AL RTR 190,540 196,191
Tunneling works BriE TH2 74,819 47,736
Premises revitalisation and YR R
enhancement 466,782 318,307
Total segment assets DESEE B 732,141 562,234
Corporate and other unallocated NalREMRDBEEE
assets 323,841 315,637
Total assets BEMRE 1,055,982 877,871
Segment liabilities DEEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Foundation and other civil works RN H MR T 82,228 76,846
Tunneling works BEiE T2 10,954 10,035
Premises revitalisation and YIETEC R
enhancement 343,856 231,562
Total segment liabilities DEEEBTE 437,038 318,443
Corporate and other unallocated NAIREMARDEAE
liabilities 145,941 85,250
Total liabilities BEMARE 582,979 403,693

! BTN
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

1. All assets are allocated to operating segments, other
than interest in an associate, amounts due from
joint operations, certain plant and equipment, other
non-current assets, loan and interest receivables, bank
balance and cash, tax recoverable, certain deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, certain right-of-use
assets and deferred tax assets. Assets used jointly by
reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the
revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and

2. All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other
than certain accrual and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, tax payable, long service payment
obligations, amount due to a related company, certain
lease liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. Liabilities for
which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated
in proportion to segment assets.

L2 AR

5.

Wk oIBER @
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WakoBER @
(continued)
Other segment information Hitt 7 8 & ¥
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
andother  Tunneling and
aivil works works ~enhancement  Unallocated Total
WEREM NEELR
IAIR  REIE # AR &3t
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
AETn  BETn BETn B¥Tn BETR
Year ended 31 March 2023 HENBFIANALEE
Continuing operations BELELE
Amounts included in the measure of seqment ~ BEEFEAMENRL HEEH
profit or segment assets: 28!
Depreciaton ik 14,751 338 21,269 10,069 0940
Additions to non-current assets TEERDEE 11,756 397 167410 20878 204,021
Amounts regularly provided to the chief ERNTELERRERMETEE
operating decision maker but not included in B ESBRNG A BRENEE:
the measure of segment profit or segment
assets:
Bank interest income FANEMA - - - (1,204) (1,204)
Loan interest income SFFBMA - = = (1,00) (1,080)
Government subsidies BFEY = = = (7.492) (149)
(ain on disposal of plant and equipment, net HERBRAE NG FE - o = (139) (139)
Share of profitof an associate Mi-REEAF 28 = = = (1,139) (1,739)
Finance costs MERE - - - 27,057 2,057
Income tax credit FEhEs = = = (2611) (2,611)
T
o
- AN AN AN A A
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkDEER @)
(continued)
Other segment information (continued) Hig o B &R (8)
Continuing operations FFERE R
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement  Unallocated Total
HEREL WEELR
TAIE  BEIR 7 AR a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Aetr  BETn AT AEfn BETx
Year ended 31 March 2022 BEANEANALER
Continuing operations HEREER
Amounts included in the measure of segment  @IEAFEA B,
profit or segment assets: AREENLE:
Depreciation it 11,174 2563 - 16,306 30043
Addltions to non-current assets REFNDEE 4,065 1375 127,926 9,786 143,152
Amounts regularly provided to the chief EHnEERERRARM
operating decision maker butnotindudedin ~ BFREEEHESFRAE
the measure of segment profit or segment AHEENSE:
assets:
Bank interest income FOFERA = = = (669) (669)
Loan interest income ERFEHA - - - (1,048) (1,04
Interest income on bonds EEREHA = = = (621) (621)
(ain on disposal of plant and equipment, net HERERAERE 58 - = = (1,390 (1,39)
Share of profitof an associate HMi-EBE RN - - - (3,574) (3574)
Finance costs BERE - - - 7,101 7101
Income tax expense FERER - - = 8251 8251
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Wz KkoHER &)
HinpEE R ()

#FE R

AEENES  PERGEEEEL -

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(continued)
Other segment information (continued)
Geographical information
The Group'’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC
and the Philippines.

BRAKBEXRBEIIBEFOHEEE
RN ELREMER - FALE
BIRBDEENEHNDREENM
BUE2R -

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

Year ended Year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
B ZE2023F HZE20224F
3A31HILLEE 3A31BILEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue from external customers 2R BAMNBEF RIS
Hong Kong BE 699,493 726,938
The PRC 2] 3,230 -
The Philippines JEEE 5,076 9,065
Total et 707,799 736,003
Non-current assets*
ERBEE*
At 31 March At 31 March
2023 2022
A202345 R20224
3A31H 3A31H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Hong Kong aBE 173,918 160,778
The PRC H 395,102 272,247
The Philippines JFRE 15,299 21,794
584,319 454,819 o
* Non-current assets exclude other non-current assets, long term S FRBEETBIEEMIERDEE
deposit, loan and interest receivable and deferred tax assets. EHER  ERERRFERETH

BEE- 4
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Wk oIBER @

Information about major customers FEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year RIBEFEARAEERKRERE
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are BI0%MEPWESIAT
as follows:
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Company A’ NGIIY 112,748 N/A TNE A 2
Company B A AB! N/A RiE A 2 126,691
Company C' AaEc N/A RiE A 2 102,998
Company D' A AID! N/A TE M 2 109,947

{ Revenue from both foundation and other civil works and tunneling !

works segments.

2 The revenue from that customer was less than 10% of the total 2
revenue of the Group during the reporting period.

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

KEMEREMEARTESD B RE

BIRD AP U E -

RBSHERERTPNEE DR
AEEBKZEH10% °

6. HAWARKE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations HREREXEY

Bank interest income |RITHEHA 1,244 669

Gain on disposal of plant and HEME  HERFENE
equipment 139 1,390
Government subsidies (note 1) IS Bh (H7aE1) 7,492 =
Rental income from equipment RBHERA 469 246
Insurance claim REEEE 1,915 541
Interest income on bonds B A E WA - 621
Interest income on pledged deposit B AF A E LA 2,229 668
Loan interest income (note 2) BRRBEWA (F5E2) 1,080 1,048
Sundry income FEIFUA 1,845 2,921
Service income (note 3) RIS A (BT 7E3) 9,715 1,493
26,128 9,597
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN (continued) 6. H AR W= @)

Notes: et -

1. For the year ended 31 March 2023, government subsidies 1. HZE2023F3A31H L FE - RF M
amounting to approximately HK$7,136,000 (2022: nil) was Bh #) 7% #7,136,0007T (20224 : &)
received under the Employment Support Scheme and approximately B R 3t 3 5T &1 W ER & 4978 #4,0007T
HK$4,000 (2022: nil) was received from Construction Industry (202F : T) EEEEZ S EME
Council as the Anti-epidemic Fund to support eligible construction RIMEES  LEPEEREERA
company to overcome the challenge from outbreak of COVID-19. 7 ARCOVID-19/8 B #5 2R ey PR 8 - H
Other government subsidies of approximately HK$340,000 (2022: IR TR BN IE S TR E RRE R AR R )8
nil) was received under the “Ex-gratia Payment Scheme for Phasing VK BX BB Y HA DA AT € ) 7 R EE W A9 A
Out Pre-Euro IV Diesel Commercial Vehicles” upon retirement of B EET E BT UER 497 #5340,000
certain motor vehicles JC (20224 : 4%)

2. The amount represented loan interest income from loan receivable 2. ZeRRERKE —HBAERAZE
from a related company (note 23). K EFEE S WA (HH5E23) -

3. The amount represented service income from joint operations and 3. ZeBRRRKREAEEBHEBER
an associate. A2 RAGWA -

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WMERX
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations BREREER
Interests on: FE -
— bank overdraft and bank borrowings —RITBESIRIRITEE 2,268 2,484
— other borrowings —-HiEE 2,792 918
— lease liabilities —~HERAE 21,997 3,699
27,057 7,101
=
8. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 8. FTSBi(ER)HX
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations BREKEER
Current year taxation REZHIA :
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH 3,615 9,954
P
Deferred taxation (note 21) REBIIE (Kat21) (6,226) (1 ,703)”
(2.611) 82514
%
, S
g
. | —
ot Wi
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INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued)
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2

million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group is
calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Accordingly, provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax
("EIT") for the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year. No PRC EIT has been
provided for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 as the
assessable profits are absorbed by unrecognised tax losses.

Under the Philippines National Tax Law, the tax rate of the
Philippines subsidiary is changed from 30% to 25% since
11 April 2021 following the effective of Corporate Recovery
and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE) Act. Accordingly,
provision for the Philippines Corporate Tax for the Philippines
subsidiary is calculated at 25% (2022: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profit for the year. No Philippines Corporate Tax has
been provided for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022
as the Philippines subsidiary did not have any assessable profits
subject to Philippines Corporate Tax.

8.

e (ER) B @)

R _BHEHBEEHE  5E%
TENEEE2EB THEAOFE
iR A8.25% BB BHE2EBE TH
m F B F SR B B16.5% ° H =
2023 &2022F3A31B I FE -
AEBEERBERENEEFNEHR
B_RANEHBEEHEFTE - A&
EZRAEHBHEHENRNEEE
EENEMERN R GEBIER
16.5%H) B — B R EF o

BiEPEAREMBECEMERE
(¥EMBHED REEMBHE
EHE FRNERAANKERA
25% ° AL - P BB QRSP
BEMEH ((PELEMREHR])
BB R T N AT E R B R I 8925%
T o B ZE2023%F %202293H31H
IHFEE BARERHEFE B RE
R IBRERW I EFIRPH
EATSTFHAE -

BEGEREBRME  FEREWE
UNGIEO o X TS =R L S5 )
%) (CREATE) 1% 8202154 118
H30% % M A25% ° A It - BLIE=
EfBARMNIERECERBED
T F AEFHE SR TR T H925% (2022
F:25%)ftE - ARFEREN B
ARV ETFBHNIFRELER
B JE =R B s K - B L AL E2023F K
20229F3A31H It FE W EETIRIERE
BERER -
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8. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continued) 8. MBHUER)BEXW)
The tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled to the AEEMRE(EE) HXHEEEGERE
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit T E b 2 T UK 25 2= B 3k B B A1 V4
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HERMAT ¢
2023 2022
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations BREKEER
Profit before taxation R A5 A A 1,282 41,257

Tax calculated at the domestic income & & 1 AT 1551 %£16.5%

tax rate of 16.5% STEHHIEA 211 6,808
Tax effect on share of result of an Sih— AR E AR EE 2
associate Mg E (287) (590)
Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ I H A BBRRWAZ
tax purposes MG (2,455) (443)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible {7575 @ A~ A F08 2 H 2
for tax purposes Mg E 3,686 1,773
Utilisation of tax loss previously not FABERERR
recognised MIEE 1R (1,680) (124)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised ~ RIERFH EEENHEETE 1,597 2,233
Effect of two-tiers profits tax rates MBS LB ERNE
regime (165) (165)
Effect of different tax rates of REM AR LS 2 B
subsidiaries operating in other RNRIIREETEHH 2
jurisdictions or subsidiary subject to MEBARTRBR 28
statutory tax rate (3,500) (1,221)
Effect of tax exemption granted (note) EE T % 2 & (f1:F) (18) (20)
Income tax (credit) expense RERZFREH (KL
for the year (2,611) 8,251
Note: Tax exemption represents a reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax Bt BT Ea 9 BN FA20224E/20234F %2021
for the years of assessments 2022/2023 and 2021/2022 by 100%, FR0202FE R EE MR 100%E 5 F
subject to a ceiling of HK$6,000 (2022: HK$10,000). B - FRAEE,0007T (20224

75 %10,0007T) °
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DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 16 December 2021, the Group entered into a sale
agreement to dispose of an indirect subsidiary, BGI Marine,
which BGI Group carried out all of the Group’s aquatic
products business. The disposal was effected in order to
re-deploy the Group’s resource on other business development
opportunities with better outlook and prospects and develop
the Group's existing business. The disposal was completed on
28 January 2022, on which date control of BGI Marine passed
to the acquirer.

The loss for the year/period from the discontinued operation
is set out below. The comparative figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
had been restated to re-present the sales of aquatic products
as discontinued operation:

BRIEER

20215128168 » KEB T H
e LEMBENBAREKNSE
FMERNSFEEREHEAEE
FrEKEXK ETHERATH
AEENEREFALZEHEMAS
FEEREMAIENEBEEKS
VTEEEEMNREES ZBELE
B 20224 1 A28H R M E A G *
MIEHIEERZEBR TWES -

ERIEEBHFE/ HHEEEST
wr-FERaMEME2E KSR
TR BRBFERLED - FKE
HEEMZIECD R LLRT

For the

period ended
28 January
2022

B 220224
17281 LA
HK$'000
BT

Loss of BGI Marine for the period
Gain on disposal of BGI Marine (note 37(a))

ERXBFNHRER (94,087)
HEERF IS (B17E37a) 77,946

(16,141)
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 9.
The results of BGI Marine for the period from 1 April 2021 to

28 January 2022, which had been included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,

EARIEER @)

AT BEXEFNR2021F4818 &
2022F 1 A28H HAM M ¥4 (BT A
GBEBEEREMERMEKER)

were as follows:

For the

period ended

28 January

2022

B ZE2022F

1A28H I EAfH

HK$'000

BT

Revenue Uk =5 92,048

Cost of revenue g %8 A A (84,762)

Gross profit EA 7,286
Loss from changes in fair value of biological assets “£MEERFEEZSH 2

less costs to sell BIEREE KA (5,989)

Other income and gain E A A & 2= 9,507

Administrative and other expenses TR REMAST (58,734)

Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HFAXZ (18,027)

Impairment loss of goodwill EEREEE (8,334)

Impairment losses of financial assets cRMEEREESE (9,123)

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment ~ #3 - #28 & SR @R E 18 (9,505)

Impairment loss of other intangible assets EmEpEEREEE (173)

Impairment loss of right-of-use assets PHREEERERE 111)

Finance costs & A (3,973)

Loss before taxation bR AT E 18 (97,176)

Income tax credit FriSfiik e 3,089

Loss for the period B B8 (94,087)

é
e

L

! BTN
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9. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

9. ODRILE®K®E

For the
period ended
28 January
2022
HZE20224F
1H28H 183
HK$'000
BT T
Loss for the period from discontinued operation REERIEEBHABREEERE
includes the following: THIEIE
Staff costs BIRA
Salaries and other benefits e RHAER 17,507
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRAEFIFT B K 997
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration & T 48 7N (& H Bl & K 5h
o fnote 1)) ] (Her1)) 18504
Impairment losses on financial assets: TREERERBE :
— trade receivables — B ZEWERIE 8,678
— other receivables — H {th EUGRIR 445
__Total impairment losses on financial assets =~ @BAEMEEAESE 9123
Amortisation of intangible assets (included in cost — #EFZ& & # 8 (FF AU R AN)
of revenue) 150
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y MRRREBTE 12,878
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 1,624
__Total depreciation and amortisation  fTEME#HE® 14652
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense BERRAZHFEKRAER 70,195
Research and development expenses recognised BRI EFZ
as an expense (note (i) (Bta20)) 14,164
Government subsidiaries (note (i) RS #6 B (A7 a2i)) (4,978)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEME AR AW (4,307)
Bank interest income RITFI B YA (128)
Sundry income HIBIRA (94)
Other income and gain EA A R iz (9,507)
Intergsts on: 8
bl Kiborrowings —RITEE 2,888
her' borrowings —HibtgE 1,003
— lease liabilities —HEBHE 82
"'F'Tnar%e costs A& B AR 3,973

MR
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9.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

Notes:

(i) The BGI Group's research and development costs were mainly
expenditures incurred for the formulation, design and evaluation of
various aquatic products. Management assessed that those internal
projects are in the research and initial development stage, and
did not capitalise any of those expenditure as an asset, of which
approximately HK$14,164,000 was recognised in cost of revenue.

(i) Government grant was received from the PRC government
authorities for the Group’s construction on laboratories of which
an amount of approximately HK$4,978,000 was transferred from
deferred income to profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Other government subsidies of approximately HK$699,000 were
received from the PRC government authorities for development of
agriculture business without unfulfilled conditions during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, BGI Group contributed
approximately HK$24,445,000 to the Group's net operating
cash inflows, paid approximately HK$10,637,000 in respect
of investing activities and paid approximately HK$5,700,000
in respect of financing activities. The carrying amounts of the
assets and liabilities of BGI Group at the date of disposal were
disclosed in note 37(a).

9.

Annual Report 2022/23 “F 3k

BARIEER @)
Hiat -

(i) HERGHFEENHERMBERANE
ZARME - B REBESEKERM
EAEMSH - BB h%ERNIE
BENARRNLSHERE B E
ERMEEMZESHAEE HF Y
75 ¥514,164,0007C FE R B USRS ©

(i)  BRITHBYA B R BT SR Fr AR
ARASEEREESR HPEHE
2022F3A31H IEFEE BELEWA
8 A 1835 4078 14,978,000 - H A
BT 488 B 40 78 699,000t & Bl K
I EB P B LA B & Z£20224F3 A31H
IEFEERBEED B ERERK
&4 o

HE2022F3A31B ILEE » #AE
FEEAREBNEERERAF
B B 4B 1£24,445,0000T © FLIRE
EEN ST 4978 #510,637,0007T © whBS
B EE) T 497 #5,700,0007T © E
REFEEZEERBEREER
HARBRTE (B Ty A K 5E37(a) I 55 -
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FE=A
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting): FEHEMN MR GEA) T3 &8
EE
2023 2022
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations RELEXED
Staff costs B TR
— Salaries and other benefits —FekEMER 159,580 171,917
— Retirement benefit scheme — R E B
contributions 7,306 7,738
— Provision for long service payment  — RHIARF & B & 642 90

Total staff costs (excluding directors’ B T#K A (EEH &

remuneration (note 11)) (HaE11) %450 167,528 179,745
(Reversal of impairment losses) SREE (BRRERIE)

impairment losses of financial B -

assets:
— loan and interest receivable — W E R F B (240) 276
— trade receivables — g 5 EWFIE (1,033) 2,117
— other receivables — E fib pE W g IE 762 44

Total (Reversal of impairment losses) % Bt & & (B EIREEIE)
impairment losses of financial assets  Jal B /&5 18 42 28 (511) 2,437

Depreciation of property, plant and ME - R RREBTE

equipment 24,026 25,715
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 4,547 4,328
Depreciation of Investment properties % & E i & 21,232 =

__Total depreciation and amortisation  #T# R#sHm@E 49805 30,043
Loss on early termination of a lease RERIBEEZEIE 441 =
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELRD BN & 980 1,115
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 1. EERITHRE M
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2022: B S ERARRQ RSLAL (20224F < L
nine) directors and the CEO of the Company were as follows: i) EERITBRHNFIOT
Year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023F3A31HLFE
Non-executive
Executive directors (E0 Independent non-executive directors director
i £ fhes Biungs FifrEz
Mr. Jim Mr. Leung Mr. Wong
YinKwan, ~ Mr.Chui  Hung Kwong, Mr. Xu Mr.Yan Mr. Lee Mr.Yu  ChiKeung,  Mr.Wang
Jackin-~ Mo Ming Derrick JunMin ChiTat  LukShiu  HonKwan Johnny Jian Total

EARAL  AEMRE  RERRE  RERRE  ESERE  BRART  AEMARE TR IRMs it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000.
BETn AT RRTn AMTR RRTn TR RRTn MMTR RRTn TR

(note (v))
GE)
Emoluments pad or FEBATRARER
receiable in respect ERBRRERES
of a persons senices EREGLER
a4 director, Whether
of the Company ar s
subsidiary undertaking
Fees we = - - - - 10 10 pL| - n
Other emoluments; EfhEM :
Salaries e 279 1825 1,360 - 1,600 - - - - 1575
Discetionary bonus BiEka 500 40 250 - 500 - - - - 1,650
Retiement benefit RIERE M
scheme contrbutions n 145 90 - 148 - - - - 610
Totdl @z 351 230 1,700 - 28 1 1 bl - 10,555

! BTN

i
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S M. EBRTHEARTH =)

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2022 B FE20223A31HILFE

Non-executive
Evecutive directors (E0 Independent non-executive drectors director
§rEs ilies BUFNAES FinEs
Mr.Jim Mr. Leung Mr. Wong
Yin Kwan, Mr.Chui Hung Kwong, Mr. Xu Mr. Yan Mr. Lee MYy ChiKeung, — Mr.Wang
Jackin MoMing Derrick JunMin ChiTat LukShiu~ Hon Kwan Johnny Jian Total
EREGE  BHBRE  ZEREE  RERRE  EEERE  ZRAGE  AEMRE  TEERE TER: it
HK$1000 HKS1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
#%tn  BETn ARTm #Efn BETn BEfn #ETr BETn #Efn BETn
(note (v)
GE)
Emoluments paid or FEBALRAR AR
recehatle i respect AWBARAEES
ofa erson'ssences ENSEREM
a3 director, Whether
of the Company or it
subsidiary undertaking
Fegs e - - - - - 0 10 10 - 0
Other emoluments HfhEm :
Slaies ) 240 1716 1230 5719 13% - = = = 781
Discrefionary bonus BErA 460 415 19 - 434 - - - - 1508
Retiement benefit RIREFE AR
scheme contrbutions 03 137 & 113 131 - - - - 667
Total it 3063 2268 1512 692 19 1) 10 10 - 10,176

Notes: et -

(i) The discretionary bonus is based on the individual performance of (i) BBEANBEEEZAAREAR
the directors and the Group’s performance and profitability and the REBZRBERENEE N RE AT
prevailing market conditions. SEETE ©

(i) ~ Mr. Yan Chi Tat is also the CEO of the Company and his (i) BEEEENDREADRRITEHELE
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by BTREXHBENGTMREFRESE
him as the chief executive. ZITRABFTIRBEOZERS

(i)  Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any emoluments iy PWMEFEA - BFETHREEREWN
for both years. BEERETAME -

(iv)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors and CEO vy HRREFERN  AEBILERARDR
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the FAEERITHRER I FEMME
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years. ERMAREBRMAREBRKH

RENSERBERA(E o
UnMin has resigned as executive director on 31 July 2022. (v) BRERLER2022F7A31HET#H

TTEER -

' &4 & &N B FE0000909
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12. BEHMAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEBRTEGESHFMALH  Hi
Group, four (2022: four) of them were directors or the CEO POA (20224 : (U A) AR QB EE
of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 11 FATHARE  RENFHEHER
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2022: one) EB R o FER— B A (2022
individual were as follows: F = AN)BFOT ¢
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries, allowances and other benefits %4 ~ 85 & H (48 F 1,251 1,219
Contributions to retirement benefits R K48 F| 51 2 5%
scheme 68 67
1,319 1,286
His emoluments were within the following band %2 HM RN AT EE
2023 2022
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE%A EE#E
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 7 #51,000,001T &
75 %1,500,0007T 1 1
13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no interim #H E2023F K2022F3A318 L F
and final dividend has been proposed or paid. & - B R oK (5 A B R R HA AR

B o

1SN
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF
a) From continuing and discontinued operations a) REFEKEEBRREHK
573
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per RRRHEEAEGEOERER
share attributable to the owners of the Company is NESER RN TR T 5 gt
based on the following data: "
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings Z R
Earnings for the purpose of ARGt EEREREFT
basic earnings per share Eopebil 12,079 39,512
Number of shares K& E ‘000 ‘000
TR’ TR
Weighted average number ARFTEERERZFT
of ordinary shares for the B DNHE 19 AR 2 B
purpose of basic earnings
per share 500,000 500,000
b) From continuing operations b) XREFERKEXER

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is

based on the following data:

AARHE ARG TRE
AR R TR IS T 518
e

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings &R
Earnings for the purpose of ARFTEERERZF K
basic earnings per share 2 A 12,079 39,512
Less: profit for the year W REBERIEEBHAR
attributable to owners of the AR ARG ERNRF
Company from discontinued
operation - (4,950)
‘ fit.for the purpose of basic AR 2R B F R IE & X 75
and diluted eamings per share 88 AR B B #5582 7 69
from continuing operations pil 12,079 34,562

NN
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 14. BRER @)
¢) From discontinued operation 0 RBECKRIEEK
Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued HE2022F3A31BHILFEN
operation attributable to the owners of the Company is RRRHEEAEBGEERIEED
HK1 cent per share for the year ended 31 March 2022, B EREARREE BT AEE
based on the profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 Ml - TR HR B 202243 A31
from the discontinued operations of approximately AIEFERE B RIEEBR
HK$4,950,000 and the denominators detailed above for #4976 #4,950,0007T LA 2 32
both basic and diluted earnings per share. MR EAR R E R R Fr et

05 S E -

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings R B E20234 k202253318 1k
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares FEI B EEEE N RITE
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. TElk BRESRNENRTGRE

AR o
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W% - BBERRE

Ownership
interests in
leasehold Machinery
land and Leasehold and Motor  Construction
buildings  improvement equipment vehicles in progress Total
RELHE
BFH
FERkER HENEEE  BHERRE RE ERIE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
cosT A
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4A1H 39,128 19,517 357,691 37,7119 5102 459,157
Additions HE 24 = 4,436 4,365 1,314 10,139
Disposals HE = = 4.127) (2.737) - (6,864)
Disposals through disposal &R EHB A A&

of subsidiaries (W&#376)

(note 37(a)) (40,572) (20,090) (78,852) (1,135) (6,607) (147,256)
Exchange realignment B 5 R 1,420 573 (143) (10) 191 2,031
At 31 March 2022 1202237318 - - 279,005 38,202 - 317,207
Additions RE 16,679 = 11,413 4,565 = 32,657
Disposals HE = = (1,871) (3,895) = (5,766)
Exchange realignment 5 HE - - (1,862) (33) - (1,895)
At 31 March 2023 #2023F3A31H 16,679 - 286,685 38,839 - 342,203
ACCUMULATED S RERRE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2021 202154718 4,989 7,638 215,306 24,550 - 252,483
Charge for the year FRME 2,825 2,095 29,864 3,809 = 38,593
Impairment loss RERBIHESE

recognised in profit or

loss 3,300 850 4712 28 615 9,505
Eliminated on disposals S % - - 4127) (1,640) = (5,767)
Disposal through disposal ~ EBEENBARMLE

of subsidiaries (2376)

(note 37(a)) (11,416) (10,863) (26,359) (895) (615) (50,148)
Exchange realignment ERBE 302 280 (312) Q) = 268
At 31 March 2022 M2022E3A31H - - 219,084 25,850 - 244,934
Charge for the year FRk 333 - 20,510 3,183 - 24,026
Eliminated on disposals & B3 = = (1,871) (2,086) = (3,957)
Exchange realignment B3R - - (832) 1) - (853)
At 31 March 2023 #®2023F3A31H 333 - 236,891 26,926 - 264,150

REFE
#2023F3A318 16,346 - 49,794 11,913 - 78,053
2022838318 - - 59,921 12,352 - 72,273
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - HBRRE @
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are bt  #eERXREEE DEA
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account BERECH REGHFREEER
of their estimated residual values, over their estimated useful BT EEERERAITE :

lives as follows:

Ownership interest in 4.75% — 10% per annum HETHREFH BFLTIS%E
leasehold land and WA EER 10%
buildings
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term of HEMEERE L EFEsk
lease or 3 years ZFIREE
Machinery and equipment ~ 20% — 33.33% per annum AR B 5% HF20%E
33.33%
Motor vehicles 20% — 25% per annum RE BF20%%E25%
The leasehold land and buildings are located in the PRC under PHANETHHEE i REFA
medium-term lease. A E o
16. LEASES 16. HE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FAREE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Motor vehicle A - 593
Buildings B 3,203 6,578
3,203 7,171
The Group has lease arrangements for motor vehicle, REEHIE PREME -
office properties, site offices and storage area. The lease HMEBRRAERFRREHEESR
terms are generally ranged from two to three years. The BN FRE=F -
lease payments are fixed. HENREBEERAS -
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year B E2023F3A318 EFE
ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately FTRAEEEAERNBE
HK$4,462,000 (2022: HK$9,786,000) due to new leases 4,462,0007T (20224 : B #&
of office properties. 9,786,0007T) * M A T & #
NEWEHK - -

151
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE ®)
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2023 2022
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current FETRED 315,508 223,161
Current TR ED 20,962 13,906
336,470 237,067
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HELSEEMNE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year —&FR 20,962 13,906
After one year but withintwo ~ —F LA ERFLAR
years 27,164 20,410
After two years but within five ~ ME ERFURA
years 95,075 64,288
After five years HEFE 193,269 138,463
336,470 237,067
Less: Amount due for settlement 3 : 71218 A A 5| Hf
within 12 months WAELENEE
(shown under current (RREEETIR)
liabilities) (20,962) (13,906)
Amount due for settlement after 71218 A 1 &I/ &7
12 months WA ENEE 315,508 223,161
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE @)
(i) Lease liabilities (continued) (i) HEEEE)
As at 31 March 2023, included in lease liabilities was M2023F3A310 - MEARE
an amount of approximately HK$924,000 (2022: FEEEMS—EEEDQ RS
HK$6,649,000) due to a related company. During the FRIA 4975 #924,0007T (2022
year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into a F B #6,649,000T) - B E
number of new lease agreements in respect of renting 202353H31B IEFE - A&
office properties (for its own use and sub-lease purposes) REEHLAEME(BERAK
and recognised lease liabilities of approximately ERAR LZEFTHER
HK$133,397,000 (2022: HK$104,414,000). # O UTHIAEAERBENER

133,397,0007T (20224 : & #&
104,414,0007T) °

The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Jim Yin RRRMIERR R ERAI AL
Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling interest in RZBBERAR R Em MIER
the related company. M o
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) REEZEINESE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Depreciation expense on FERAEEEDN
right-of-use assets: HEMX :
— Motor vehicles —HEE 97 192
— Buildings —EF 4,450 5,760
4,547 5,952

Impairment loss on right-of-use  f& A& EHRMEE1E

assets (note 9) (K1at9) - 111
Interest expense on lease HEABZFERX

liabilities 21,997 3,781
Expense relating to short-term B % HEEHFRX

leases 1,143 929

|
|
k=
b 2
B
! P VAV AV
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. & (&)
(iv) Others (iv) HAit

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$36,627,000 (2022: HK$9,248,000).

On 28 January 2022, right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$515,000 and HK$663,000
respectively were eliminated through the Disposal,
details are set out in note 37(a).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
early terminated a lease contract, the respective
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$3,883,000 (2022: nil) and approximately
HK$3,442,000 (2022: nil) are derecognised accordingly,
resulting in a loss on early termination of approximately
HK$441,000 (2022: nil) recognised in profit or loss.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 March 2023, lease liabilities of approximately
HK$336,470,000 (2022: HK$237,067,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$3,203,000 (2022: HK$7,171,000) and
investment properties of approximately HK$394,963,000
(2022: HK$268,904,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

H E2023F3831HILEE -
HERSRLAEANBE
36,627,0007T (20224 : B &
9,248,0007T) °

MN2023F1 8288 - HAl4 A
7 #8515,0007T & 7% #663,000
THFEREEEUARTEERRE
ERALESEKE  FEH
REFEE37(@) ©

HE2023F3A318 ILFE -
AEBEREFRIEBES4
JERILEREREEEREE
B & 4975 13,883,0007T (2022
F o) R#E3,442,000
gL (20224  #|&) - BH I8
HHERREERLEBEBOBEE
441,0007T (20224 : f&) ©

HERHHEEZE
M2023F3A31H » 9B
336,470,0007T (20224 : /&
#237,067,0000T) M E &
&3 [F #9786 #3,203,000 7T
(20224 : #¥7,171,0007T)
MIEEFERBREERNBK
394,963,0007T (20224 : A%
268,904,0007T) I B W ¥ —
fER -BRERAASENAE
BEMERERIN  HEWHZ
WEEMERNZG HELE
TEIEREERMEESR -
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEYZE
Leased
properties Completed
under leased
development properties Total
HEDHEEYE CEREENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T BET T
COST A
At 1 April 2021 #202154818 134,857 = 134,857
Additions RE 127,926 = 127,926
Exchange realignment IE 5 A% 6,121 = 6,121
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31R 268,904 = 268,904
Additions NE 167,235 = 167,235
Transfer & (351,860) 351,860 =
Exchange realignment R ZEE (6,052) (10,852) (16,904)
At 31 March 2023 2023434318 78,227 341,008 419,235
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEtiE
At 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 7202144818 &
2023438310 = = =
Charge for the year EEMBR - 21,232 21,232
Exchange realignment IE 3t A% = 3,040 3,040
At 31 March 2023 7202363310 - 24,272 24272
NET CARRYING VALUES EEFE
At 31 March 2023 72023434318 78,227 316,736 394,963
At 31 March 2022 2022434318 268,904 = 268,904
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REYE @)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
additional an investment property amounted approximately
HK$167,235,000 (2022: HK$127,926,000) which representing
right-of-use assets and renovation costs of approximately
HK$128,935,000 (2022: HK$94,628,000) and HK$38,300,000
(2022: HK$33,298,000) respectively. The investments
properties were leased and were under development
(renovation) during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022
and up to the date of this report. Under the lease agreements,
the Group is permitted to sub-lease the properties to others.
While it is the Group’s intention, the properties were
recognised as investment properties. The properties were
located in Guangzhou. The Group commenced to engage
in the business of premises revitalisation and enhancement
segment, with the objective to generate rental income from
sub-leasing of its premises in the PRC.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties as at 31
March 2023 was approximately HK$464,990,000. The fair
value has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by
the directors of the Company. The valuation was determined
by establishing the market value of the properties on an “as-if”
completed basis with appropriate deduction on construction
costs and professional fees to be incurred. Details of the
valuation techniques and assumptions are discussed below.

H E2023%F3A31BILEE K
SEBERTEBREMENEE
167,235,000 jT (20224 : B
127,926,0007T) * BI{E AEEE K
B ¥ AR 95 Bl # 7% #128,935,000
7T (20224 : & #94,628,000 JT) &
75 #38,300,0007T (20224 : B
33,298,0007T) ° R &E £2023F &
2022F3A31 B IEFEURE EARR
R REYWEE LAY IEERA
(B - BREHEHR AKE
BEBHEMESATHA-BE
AREBRNER  BZEWER
REBIREYFE - WEWEMREM -
AEBRBREWEELRARS
X BORBBAERS
BEHMEAESHS KA -

AEEMKEYWER2023F3A318
B A F{E A 5 7% #464,990,0007T ©
ZATEEBEARAESHETH
HESH HERZR O] TXH
AWMEEWENTE  LEE MR
BERARGEANEEER -4
BT R BREAFFIEE T XF® °
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REY =X @)
The following table gives information about how the fair TR B AR EE FE202343 A31
values of the investment properties as at 31 March 2023 are BIREMENRFENER (FRIRZ
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs s B B9 i B B i Mg )
used):
Relationship of key
Significant Range of input and significant
Fair value Fair value as at Valuation unobservable unobservable unobservable input to
hierarchy 31 March 2023 technique input input fair value
20235 EEN EATENBR
383188 TUBR TIER BAEREEN
DYESR DVE ERE BAE BAEEE TUBRBAEZBA
Investment properties  Level 3 Approximately - Income Vacancy 4% 10 15% The higher the vacancy
HK$464,900,000  approach rate (2022:5% to 15%) rate, the lower the fair
(2022: value
HK$510,341,000)
RENE F=/ nsk KRt FEXR 4%FE15% ZEXHS ATEE
464,900,0007C (202F : 5%ZE15%) &
(2022
7% #510,341,0007)
The above investment properties are depreciated on a LM EMERTIFERUNERE
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: FHRITE -
Leased properties Over the lease terms of ranging HEWHE RNT108126F
from 10 to 12 years #9786 HA




158

Yee Hop Holdings Limited &4 %A A R A &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

18. R—REE N NT 2R

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cost of investment in an associate — R—REEB2EARZ
unlisted TWERA—FFELT 44,462 44,462
Share of post-acquisition profit and DR W 18 5 F
other comprehensive income Em 2wl 23,824 23,777
68,286 68,239
Loan to an associate (note) m—EBE QB ER (W E) - 7,362
68,286 75,601

Note: Loan to an associate is deemed capital which is unsecured,
non-interest bearing where settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future. The Group measures the loss
allowance for loan to an associate at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL. No impairment loss was recognised during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022. The loan was fully repaid during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had interest in the
following material associate:

HiaE

m—EEE AR ERARRAEAR -
HEER - Tt B R &2 A
T8 RARRMEE - REEE N[ — B
ERARBRNEBRBENIREMN2
BAEHEEBBNSEITE - RE
F2023F K&2022F3A31HIEFEIW
ERARESE BHEREREZE
2023F3A31R L FERHEE -

M2023% &2022F3A318 » K&
RTAEREE QR

Proportion of
ownership interests
Principal or participating shares
Form of Country of  place of (lass of indirectly held by the  Proportion of voting  Principal
Name of entity entity registration  operation shares held Group power indirectly held  activity
AEEBEREL
fERRENSE BEEE
ERtR BEFA HRER IREEHE  FRERGEA Rttt RERILA IERK
2023 2022 223 202
Perfect View Enterprises Incorporated ~ HongKong ~ HongKong ~ Ordinary 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property development
Limited ("Perfect View")  sEfFKz B b Lak NEER
ELAXBRAH

(&%)
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18. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 18. R—EHE QT 2R (5
The summarised financial information prepared using HKFRS BRARNEE SN F R ER /f
in respect of the associate of the Group is accounted for using AR ZBRBEBU GRS LR
equity method is set out below: W ERZEH T

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current assets mEEE 180,477 217,666
Current liabilities mEAaE (9,762) (28,546)
Non-current liabilities FEmBEE - (18,522)
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
B %2023F B 220224
3A31H 3H31H
LEFE LEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue Weas 291,894 164,190
Profit for the year F 35 A 4,347 8,935
Other comprehensive expense AEEHMEERY
for the year (4,229) (8,732)
Total comprehensive income AEEREWEEE
for the year 118 203
The reconciliation of the summarised financial information Lﬁiﬁlj Z TS E R L B B
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in the NElZ ERREENERSTIAT

associate is set out below:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Net assets of the associate Bt NRI 2 BEFE 170,715 170,598
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7858 B 1A B 7= B 5 1
interest in Perfect View ALl 40% 40% @
Carrying amount of the Group's REERERERR
interest in Perfect View BREE 68,286 68,239 |
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18.

19.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 18. A—EEE QT 2R (@)
As at 31 March 2023, the directors performed an impairment H2023F3A318 EEHE R s
assessment of the interest in Perfect View and determined that ETRENG TETETRZE
it is not impaired based on the estimated recoverable amount ELFREBENFERKRMGF TKE
with reference to a value-in-use calculation of Perfect View. CRHETHE ZAEEANERS
That calculation used cash flow projections based on estimated MBARERZBE ARIEFESE
future cash flows expected to be generated by the associate BEEt RREB R WERABRF
and applied a discount rate at 11.93% (2022: 10.53%) per A %11.93% (20224 : 10.53% ) °
annum. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculation BB REMTAEENCRABER
related to the estimation of cash flow included gross margin ENETERRVEEMNERMIRE -
and discount rate. Gross margin represents budgeted EFEEEEENE - EERA
gross margin, which is based on past performance and the EXEREEEBHMSERNPE
management’s expectation for the market development. The P62 FA &0 BE 3R R R A A A & - B
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market B AT 5 E AR R 1T R B R A9 AT
assessments of the risks specific to the relevant industry. - ERERREMNZERINE
Management believes that any reasonably possible change in AEEAEEHEITEETNEL
any these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount EamEEEBRAE T KES5E -
of the interest in Perfect View to exceed its recoverable B E£2023%F &202293A31H IEF
amount. During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no - MERRREESE -
impairment loss was recognised.
INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS 19. REEXEB 2 EE
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had interest in the following M2023F3A31H - AEBR T E
joint operations: EEBHBRER
Country of Principal place  Class of shares  Proportion of participating Proportion of
Name of entity Form of entity  registration of operation  held shares held by the Group voting power held Principal activity
B4R BREA RLES IDEERY  FRROER AEEEEZ SRR LA BERZELA EEE 4]
2023 2022 2023 2022
Yee Hop-Amain JV Unincorporated  Hong Kong Hong Kong na 70% 70% 66.67% 66.67%  Construction
#izE B B &R it
Amain-C\W Yee Hop JV Unincorporated Hong Kong Hong Kong na 2% 2% 50% 50%  Construction
FEE (3] B TER B4
Notes: Bt

The entity is incorporated on 4 November 2021.

The entity is incorporated on 25 October 2021.

w
i
folg
S

72021611 A48 s AL -

i ZEBEMN2021410A258 51k s -
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20. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 20. HMttERBEE
Other non-current assets HittEREEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Club debenture REEIBESH 460 460
The club debenture represents club membership in a private BEEEEHIER S — L AEL
club with indefinite useful life in Hong Kong and is measured HERFERFHNEZLBSELIE
at cost less impairment. The directors of the Company consider AR RESE - RRAREERAE
no impairment identified with reference to the second hand RBEHR WEBZZBLEIHE
market price of the club debenture as at the end of the F_F MG ERIERRE -

reporting period.

21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 21. EEBIEEE (BE)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets UWTEEERBEE (AR WD
(liabilities) for the financial reporting purposes: LAMES #53s Aig
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Deferred tax assets BEEMIEEE 5,610 1
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIEAE (5,521) (6,150)

89 (6,139)
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

(continued)

21. EEHEEE (BR) @
The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities) RAFERBAFE EEROE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and EREREELEE (AR REZSHMN

prior years: T e

Goodwilland  Allowance for

1A

NS

intangible ~ impairment
Revaluation assets  loss of trade
Accelerated of property, ~ arisingfrom  receivables
tax plantand  acquisition of and other
depreciation ~ TaxLlosses  equipment  subsidiaries  receivables Others Total
YERELE  EREURE
Eff%. ELNBER REMEGEE
nEHERE  HEEE HERRE  BVEE AEERER it g
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
AETT  RETn BBt #%Tn AETT BT BETR
At 31 March 2021 M021%E38317 (7892) 50 (1579 (276) 645 11 (8941)
Credit(charged) to profitorloss &P A (M) 5
(note §) (Hits) 1753 (50) - - - - 1,703
Credit (charged) to profitorlossin - 2 IEERETEFA
discontinued operation (note§) (118 B (H9) - = 208 1,489 1,505 (113) 3,089
Himinated through disposal of ~ ERIH EMB AT A
subsiciaries (note 37(3)) WBn) - = 1,461 (1.213) 2.37) = (1,989)
Exchange realignment e - = %0) = 87 ) (1)
At31 March 2022 R02E3A31A (6,139 - - - - - (6,39
Credit to profitorloss (note 8~ 5 AB&(H/28) 638 5,558 = = = = 6,226
Exchange realignment ErEE - 2 - - - - 2
At31 March 2003 R3E3A3IA (5501) 5,590 - - 5 : 8

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$45,364,000 (2022:
HK$23,505,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$22,362,000 (2022: nil) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$23,002,000 (2022: HK$23,505,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in theytax losses of approximately HK$22,362,000 (2022:
' \'w_ill_ expire in 2028, approximately HK$12,766,000

:HK$12,766,000) that will be expired after three years
he year of assessment to which they relate to, the
re__r;naingg tax losses of approximately HK$10,236,000 (2022:
HK$10;739,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.

alll

KA

RRER AEEBARHABE
5 18 % #545,364,0007T (20224 : #
#23,505,0007T) A] A A #K 85 R 2R Sk
F o BBz EE1E4%5%22,362,000
TL (20224 « ) FERIEEFIRE E -
R A 2R 2R s O &9 7 B FEORIE - R
2 7k ) 75 #£23,002,0007T (20224 :
75 123,505,000 ) FERIREFRIBE
E - TIARE R 45 %22,362,000
g0 ( 2022 &) B E BT KT
ER=ZFHIE HEHRFEEELD
7 10,236,0007T (20224F : B
10,739,0007T ) A £ R HR 45 2 o
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 21. FEEREBEEE (BE) @)

(continued)
Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends

declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from
1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries have been disposed of through the
Disposal (note 37(a)).

RIBEM®ERERE - 520085171
B #E Bt P B B B A =) AT B BN A9 i A
FrE RSB - 426 8
BHRERW AP B AR R4
F 5| B 2 8 s = B8 F IR TR B
18 B R A 5 B AL S99 &l 7 [0 A
EZHBER mMEREZHEAELS
R A] 8 B i 2R B [B] o A =20224F
3AMBLEFE  FEMBARZR
R AAEMNZEEREREDE
BEEEEMLE (HFE37@) °

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EZEWRFIE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade receivables E 5 WG IE 132,534 100,896
Less: allowance for impairment loss OB EBEREE (1,084) (2,117)
131,450 98,779

At as 31 March 2023, the gross amount of trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$132,534,000 (2022: HK$100,896,000).

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

MR2023F3A31H BEF A4
EXEMNEZRERKRERE LB
#132,534,0007TC (20224 : B ¥
100,896,0007T) °

AEBEBERZFERTHEME
Hom e
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. ESEWFIE &)

For construction services, the Group does not have a
standardised and universal credit period granted to its
customers, and the credit period of individual customer is
considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in the
project contract, as appropriate. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, presented based on the certified

MEERBME  AEEREFE
REBNEEMRTEES @5
B P =B B IR AR 4 M8 B fE 2R &
REEGOTHRTE (MER) - RIR
HEEEREHRERERBHES

MZERSIRNERmBA A2

report or dates of delivery of goods which approximates B 5 RIGRIER BRE DT (FIFRE
revenue recognition date at the end of each reporting period, REVBEFBE) T
and net of impairment loss recognised:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
0 to 30 days 0230H 91,616 33,423
31 to 60 days 31260H 23,008 35,696
61 to 90 days 61290H 10,658 12,845
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 796 5,379
181 to 365 days 181%365H 5,226 -
Over 365 days 3658 A 146 11,436
131,450 98,779

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses
on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different

AEBZBER2HBEHEEEE
KSR EE 5 EIF IR B 18
H-BHRUWRENEHEERE
DE2EZEBHANBEENLSHRRE
BB ARNIBITHEMRRA DT ETT
EEt YHMEBANEEEER &
BAKEMEITENBREBEENRRA
Fr s B HBEE A MBI AR R 5
MR G EH R -

HRASENBEEEEELRY
AR EREMTARTIR] R[BEE

customer segments in the segments of “Foundation and IRITREFPSMBERERNTEE
other civil works” and “Tunneling works”, the loss allowance ?E *E_E ERBBRANEERE
based on past due status is not further distinguished between */FEAKE | 18 B 5> BF A9 T
the Group's different customer bases in the corresponding H%}E HzEEY

segments

i R, Al

4 K . . ) . R N N PR

Has been no change in the estimation techniques or RARE AR B RMREER

I{‘ 5|gn|f|q t assumptions made during the current reporting JA L -

6 petiod

¥ VA
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25 EWRRIE @)

AEEREENEARS K IEMER
EARFEARRRARGBER
HRESENREN R BEREY

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based
on individually significant customer or the ageing of customers
collectively that are not individually significant by using a

provision matrix. [E18 -
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount  allowance amount
mEF
EHEEEX EBHAE HEEE KEFEE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2023 R202353A31H BT E¥Tz BT
Current (not past due) BIER (K@) 0.36% 131,779 476 131,303
More than 6 months but less 2 iR e fE A
than 12 months BAR128 A
past due 67.48% 452 305 147
More than 12 months but less @ E3B 381218 A
than 24 months 1B R241E A
past due 100% 303 303 -
132,534 1,084 131,450
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
INFEFH
BHEEX HRELE BEEE  EETE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2022 R2022463A318 BETT BETT  BETR
Current (not past due) BNER (R HA) 0.05% 81,781 37 81,744
More than 6 months but less R B E A
than 12 months BAR12(EA
past due 63.6% 450 286 164
More than 12 months but less ~ # ER#8:81218 A
than 24 months B 72418 A
past due 100% 1,397 1,397 -
83,628 1,720 81,908 ‘
Individually assessed {15 2.30% 17,268 397 16,871 ]
100,896 2,117 98,779
]-W

o)
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. B35 EWHIE#)

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade
receivables is set out below:

BHRUEREBERENED
o

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
1 April 4518 2,117 5,191
Impairment losses (reversed) WEEE (FE) #ER
recognised (1,033) 10,795
Eliminated through disposal of FREENRBAR
subsidiaries (note 37) i 58 (A72%37) - (13,869)
31 March 3A31H 1,084 2,117

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of trade receivables contributed to the loss allowance
during the year ended 31 March 2023:

- decrease in balance more than 12 months but less than
24 months past due resulted in an decrease in loss
allowance of HK$1,094,000.

The Group writes off trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs earlier.

REZE2023F3A3MBIEFE - B5
JEWREMERESENUTEKX
B RSB

—  @wHBE12EAEB K248 A
RS ) - EERSIEEER
D #1,094,0007T, ©

EREEBRTNEBARRBREYH
WEARRE EKEXKRDE - F
MEBARBERREARERFT -
2 E 5 FE YRR B HI R R A BB (JA
REREERE)  AEEBMER
2 FE WA
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23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE 23. ERERKFE

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Fixed-rate loan and interest receivable  FEU [E £ F| R &R R A2 20,336 19,256
Less: allowance for impairment loss W OB EEEEE (595) (835)
19,741 18,421

As at 31 March 2023, included in the loan and interest
receivable was principal amount and interest receivable of
approximately HK$18,000,000 (2022: HK$18,000,000) and
HK$2,336,000 (2022: HK$1,256,000) respectively from a
related company, which was unsecured, carried fixed interest
rate of 6.0% per annum and repayable on 15 November
2023.

The Group measured the loss allowance for loan and interest
receivable at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. As at 31
March 2023 and 2022, in determining the expected credit
losses for these assets on an individual basis, the directors of
the Company have taken into account the financial position
of the counterparty, considering various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information, as appropriate, in
estimating the probability of default of each of these financial
assets occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

M2023%F3 8318 @ B E & & F
EREER—EHEEARNASE
N ) B 9 Bl #9 7% #18,000,0007T
(20224 : # #18,000,0007T) &
752,336,000 T (20224 : &
1,256,0007T) ' s FEFIA AEEA -
FFEAE6.0% - HR2023F11H15
HEE -

AEBZHEERI2E A BHEEES
EMSHETERKRERKERTE
B E BB - 7220234 202243 A
31 RERRTELEEENTER
EEEBEER AQRERTERS
HFEHFOPHERR  ZESEINE
RIENERRENLEER (@
) RmEsrhSeREERS B
EETEFEEERNEEEDONB
X PARRERBEANENESX -
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23. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE (continued) 23. EWEFZRFE &)

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of loan FE U E R IR R SR (E S R s )
and interest receivable is set out below: FENMT -
2023
HK$’000
BEET T
1 April 2021 202154 A 1H 559
Amount recognised during the year FAERHE 276
31 March 2022 20224F3A31H 835
Amount reversed during the year FAEEEHE (240)
31 March 2023 202343HA31H 595
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or R EERE R R SR EBRE
significant assumptions made during both years in assessing B tERREFE ARG R R e &
the loss allowance for loan and interest receivable. ZHRJHEZL -
24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 24. EHNEEREGHNERE
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets (a) BHEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Analysed as current: DHBRE :
Retention receivables of construction — EEEEA 40 /& W (R [E &
contracts (note a) (Kita) 83,336 92,697
Unbilled revenue of construction BEANZRBEER L
contracts (note b) Wz (K7 azb) 52,166 15,182
135,502 107,879
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 24, SHNEERENER®
LIABILITIES (continued)
(a) Contract assets (continued) (@) EHEE®HE)
Notes: Hiat -

(a) Retention receivables included in contract assets represent the
Group's right to receive consideration for work performed because
the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by
the customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date
of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on the
service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.
The due dates for retention receivables are usually one to two years
after the completion of construction work.

(b) Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s
right to receive consideration for work completed but not yet
billed because the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by
the customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the
Group obtains the certification of the completed construction work
from the customers.

Contract assets are included in current assets as the Group
expects to realise these within its normal operating cycle.

The recovery or settlement for contract assets pursuant to
the terms of contracts as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 is as

(a)

FTAB KA E 2 EUURE € 15
AEEGRDBLH TI2UWERE
2R RERAEBERERS
EEREGHRE —THEAY
REEERTMER S AIE
B o it A IEBEEF T2 5 FR
H CB R A S @t A S @A
EEETRNREEERM
ERzZBEHEERBH) &8
BESEBREE HEWGRIE -
BURRESZFHARE AR
EIRTIE —EMF -

FABREEZARBERE 2K
mIEAREE R KB H AR
SE7 TREEREZ#F -
REZBAENEFEPHA
SEMEKEETRRIME
BAAMEEEABITRART
PR - i REREEN TR &
RS (ERHAERBTDH
PIEZBETRREFEEFPR
) RHNEESEBRERS
FE YRR

AWEENREEE NI -
REAKEEEHNERLE
BRRERRSEE -

R20234F %20225%3A31H -
EHEEREBASDETHKE

follows: SEEENT
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Within one year —F R 114,464 95,188
Over one year tBiR—F 21,038 12,691
135,502 107,879
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24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

24, SHNEEREGHNERE®

(a) Contract assets (continued) (a) EHNEEE)
The Group measures the loss allowance for contract REBRBENZHBEHEE
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. At 31 March EBENSHETTEANEEERSE
2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the impact of B E - 1020234 K202249F3 A
loss allowance for impairment of contract assets was 3N AEEFHENEER
insignificant. B EERENTEBTIERX
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EXHAEE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BEFT
Construction services (note a) BERTE (M ita) 1,802 -
Receipt in advance T FRIE 856 -
2,658 -
Note: Mt

(a) The excess of cumulative billings for construction work
over the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss is

recognised as contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2022 that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1
April 2021 is approximately HK$5,722,000 (2023: nil).
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that
related to performance obligations that were satisfied in

a prior year.

@ NESEIZEIERFER
HARWENLOERRA
mafmk-

H E20229F3831H L FE#E
RE Wz FT AR2021F4 816
& B ELNAES5,722,000
JC (20234 : &) - REEHR
BREFF—FEERITERNE
FHEBEKE -
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25. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25.

RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

The following is an analysis of deposits, prepayments and
other receivables at the end of each reporting period:
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BE BANRERHME
K18, B R
B ANRAREMERKE
REBEHK - #2S  ANRER
Hth M B AATIT -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Other receivables H {th jE kI8 9,056 5,083
Loss: allowance for impairment loss R E IR E (918) (156)
8,138 4,927

Deposits Ze 10,736 10,361
Long term deposit REZS 13,552 12,929
Prepayments for suppliers HERE MR FIE 5,512 4,835
37,938 33,052

Amount shown under non-current EREEEE NI~

assets (13,552) (12,929)
Amount shown under current assets  RBIEEIE AT~ S R 24,386 20,123

The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits and other
receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. There has
been no change in the estimation technique or significant
assumptions made during the current reporting period.

AEBZBEENNREARREES
BHeHEiERe REMBEEKE
BERE NAREHRE - HFFR
M BEBARRILEEE
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25. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25. & -FEMNRERHEAME
RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT (continued) WRIE BEBER @)
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables ®BRE - AARERAEMERKE
(continued) (&)

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of %o N H b e YR IE 6 R (B B 18 B
deposits and other receivables is set out below: WHEEHINT
HK$°000
BT T
At 1 April 2021 R2021F481H 112
Increase during the year F NI 489
Eliminated through disposal of subsidiaries % 8 H & i & 2 &) i 3
(note 37) (K1at37) (445)
At 31 March 2022 7202253 A31H 156
Increase during the year F AL 762
At 31 March 2023 202343 H31H 918
Pledged deposit 2 FFR
Pledged deposit represents deposit pledged to borrower to EEAERRERERTERANE
secure facilities granted to the Group. Deposit amounting FOUNEAEEESRE - 488
to approximately HK$39,814,000 (31 March 2022: 39,814,0007T (20223 A318 : /&
HK$30,870,000) have been pledged to secure long-term #530,870,0007T) B 17 7k B 1E 3 A
borrowing amounting to approximately HK$39,814,000 (31 15 4975 %39,814,0007T (20224
March 2022: HK$30,870,000) and are therefore classified as 3A31H : A #30,870,0000T) B &
non-current assets. The pledged deposit carried fixed interest HEE AU BRAIERDEE-
rate of 5.25% (31 March 2022: 5.25%) per annum. B IR 17 3R 8 B E F A K AB5.25%

(20224F3H31H : 5.25%) °

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 26. RITHEBRAE
Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily RITERBEESHRITERANRIE
bank deposit rates which range from 0.01% to 1.2% (2022: FEFEN T FFE01%ET2%

0.01% to 1.2%) per annum. (20224 : 0.01% £1.2%) BRELFI S, -
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27. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 27. EZEFARERENRESR
The following is an analysis of trade and retention payables at MNERERR BEFHRNKRBRE
the end of each reporting period: HRESH T :

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables Z 5 S IA 56,485 44,267
Retention payables FERRE & 32,011 27,281
88,496 71,548
The average credit period on purchases of goods is from 30 to KEEmmFHEERA30£180H
180 days (2022: 30 to 180 days). The Group has financial risk (20224 : 30E180H) - A&EED I
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are 51 51 7% @ B B IR BUR LAME (R FT B &
settled within the credit timeframe. The following is the aged NZHEBEBREEBRALS RS
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date AR BHREMNFIERESRE A BHG
at the end of the reporting period: BEHREROITHAT -
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0 to 90 days 0%E90H 48,164 43,565
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 5,357 72
181 to 365 days 181£2365H 2,115 538
Over 365 days 3658 LA E 849 92
56,485 44,267
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28. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. EEtE AR HMEMARE

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Accruals et E R 12,810 14,874

Other payables (Note (a)) H{th e S FRIB (22 (a)) 9,921 10,138

22,731 25,012

Note: Hiat -

a) As at 31 March 2023, included in other payable of approximately a) MR2023F3A31H - 4978 #6,597,000
HK$6,597,000 (2022: HK$8,897,000) is payable to a director of JC (20224 : 7 %8,897,0007T) M E
a subsidiary of the Company, which is unsecured, non-interest MHENFIEREEER T ERA
bearing and repayable on demand. RERE R RN AR T — R B

RAZ —BERNFIA -

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 29. RITRHEMEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank borrowings, guaranteed (note (i) R/TEE - BIER (A712L0) 42,082 27,950
Other borrowings, secured HmEE - 2|\ (W20)
(note (i) 38,209 30,870
Other borrowings, unsecured HmfEE - S| 200))
(note (iii)) 41,968 -
Total other borrowings HEmgER% 80,177 30,870

122,259 58,820
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 29. RITRHEMEE @)

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the $ETF1§ T%E%Fﬁ%@ﬁ’]ﬁ‘ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ'
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on I 2B LA T E T 1R B SR E B IR
demand clause as follows: e
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 1 year —F R 42,417 21,818
Between 1 and 2 years —EWE 76,856 28,662
Between 2 and 5 years —EhRF 2,986 8,340
122,259 58,820

Carrying amount of bank borrowings — H 7B ¥} & B KL

and other borrowings that are not —FRNEENRITEE

repayable within one year from the REMEERTE -

end of the reporting period but M ERERKEERK

contain a repayment on demand

clause 14,567 12,760
Carrying amount of bank borrowings ~ ZBR & BIR LT —

and other borrowings that are FNEEREE

repayable within one year from the RERERERN

end of the reporting period and RITEBERAMEER

contain a repayment on demand ZIRHEE

clause 27,515 15,190
Carrying amount repayable within one —FREZRTBE

year and do not contain repayment RERBEEBEIN

on demand clause BRmEE 12,577 6,628
Carrying amount that are not BEAR—FNEER

repayable within one year and do TEEREXRER

not contain repayment on demand BRI BREE

clause 67,600 24,242

122,259 58,820

Amounts shown under current REEEEBE TR

liabilities H & & (54,659) (34,578)
Amounts shown under non-current FEmEBBEETIR a

liabilities Eoje 67,600 24,242 |
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 34. BITREMEE @)

Notes:

(i) The bank borrowings of approximately HK$24,746,000 (2022:
HK$27,950,000) were denominated in HK$ carrying interest at
variable-rate with an interest rate of 3-month Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 1% to 2.75% (2022: 2% to 2.75%)
per annum, guaranteed by the ultimate holding company and its
subsidiaries. It also consists of approximately HK$17,336,000 (2022:
nil) denominated in RMB carrying interest at fixed-rate between
4.85% and 5.20% (2022: nil) per annum, guaranteed by the
ultimate holding company and its subsidiaries.

(i) As at 31 March 2023, other borrowings of approximately
HK$38,209,000 (equivalent to RMB33,423,000) (2022:
HK$30,870,000 (equivalent to RMB25,000,000)) are secured
by deposit of approximately HK$38,209,000 (equivalent
to RMB33,423,000) (2022: HK$30,870,000 (equivalent to
RMB25,000,000)) and carried fixed interest rate of 8% (31 March
2022: 8%) per annum.

(i)  The other borrowing from an associate of approximately
HK$41,968,000 (equivalent to GBP4,322,000) is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable at the discretion of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group obtained
new borrowings of approximately HK$88,944,000 (2022:
HK$62,562,000). The proceeds were used to finance the
Group’s operations.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has the following undrawn
borrowing facilities.

Bz

(i) #4975 #24,746,0007T (20224 : &
27,950,0007T) KSR 1T 18 B A S ¥ &
B E=EANBEETRAERE
((BEBRTAERE]) MFEFER1%
ZE2.75% (20224 : 2%%E2.75% ) §)
FERERGE  AEKERARAR
HEWBARER ENMBEHNEE
17,336,0007T (20224 : #) » LA A
REFE REEFFNEL485%E
5.20% (20224 : #8) 518 » BHRE
B A 7 R EL A S A AR HEHE(R ©

(i) M2023F3A31H HbEE Y
75 #38,209,0007t (HE R AR
#33,423,0007T) (20224 : %
#30,870,000C (FHE RN AR
25,000,0007T)) F #9774 #38,209,000
T (H8&E N ARM33,423,0007T)
(20224 : #%30,870,0007T (FEE R
AR¥25,000,0007T) HTF 0 AEHRHE -
I 3% @& & F F £8% (202243 A31
H:8%)it 8 °

iy REABEARAZHMEENSEE
41,968,0007T (A5 7°4,322,0005 8% )
AEEE TR RAAERBER

EEE -

HE2023F3A31HILEER A&
B & 15 37 {8 B 478 188,944,0007T

(20224 : #162,562,0007T) ° AT

BRIBAERNISEHEERSE -

R2023F3A31H  "REBHBIA TR
REMEERE -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Floating rate expiring within one year ~ —4 R E|Hi1% % 8) FI| & 174,247 172,241

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's bank borrowings with
carrying amount of HK$24,746,000 (2022: HK$27,950,000)
are subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of
the Greup's financial ratios. If the Group were to breach the
tssthe drawn down facilities would become payable

' on.'deq(r

nd. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with
these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management
of ||qu14|ty risk are set out in note 34. As at 31 March 2023,
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had

.quﬁ Préached (31 March 2022: nil)

M2023F3A318  AEBEKEmEE
575 #24,746,0007T (20224F : B
27,950,0007T) MER{TIE B /A B T8
AK%I ST R EFER
HEAEBMERKERAE
Tmﬁxmﬂéﬂ#“%,,fkma g o
AEEBTHENEETHERLRE
NER - EEAEBEERSES
[B B B HE — B EE B E B R34 o B
20239F3A31H F HEIRIMABEEH

MR EIrERER (20223 A318 -
;) o
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30. AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) JOINT
OPERATIONS/A RELATED COMPANY

The amounts due from joint operations were trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
The Group allows an average credit period of 180 days to its

joint operations.

The amount due to a related company was non-trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
The controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. Jim Yin
Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial and controlling interest in the

related company.

The Group measures the loss allowance for amounts due
from joint operations at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
The management considered that the amounts due from
joint operations to be low credit risk and no recent history of
default, and thus no impairment losses recognised during the

year ended 31 March 2023.

31. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group
is obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances to certain employees
who have completed at least five years of service with
the Group. The amount payable is dependent on the
employees’ final salary and years of service, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group. The
Group does not set aside any assets to fund any remaining

obligations.

Movement of present value of provision for long service

payment obligations is as follows:
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30. B (fF) 68K — 8

31.

BB A A k0B
JEWEEXBNBEBESHE &
BH - T EBEREBRERKEE A&
BHRTHELEKISOBNEHEE
By o

N —RBEEARREBIHES T
g EER TEHERREREE -
ARREBRBRRERETEEREE
NEEEER MR ER -

AEBURER12E A BHEEE
BHSHETERIAE S EBREN
EEEGB TEERE BRAEE
¥R HENEERREE  BRH
W B NTEE - Bt R ELZE20235F3
RA31 8 I FE AN EERRERIE -

RBRBEEE
REFEREGRD  AKEAES
THRATHELEERBRASASET
RELAFRBOE TEESN—
ERE - BNRARFZERED
REFE MRS FHME - IR
BASBERAKFIAAKEHRKR
ENFER - AKBAUEBRETM
BENSERBTEEREES -

RGBS BTN REREEH N
T

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT BT T

At 1 April R4H18 673 583
Charged to profit or loss EECEREN]CS 642 90 o

At 31 March M3HA318 1,315 673
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31. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 31. RMBRBEEE W
(continued)
Movement of present value of defined benefit obligations is as AERBINEANBREZHNAT :
follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 April R4H18 673 583
Charged to profit or loss EECEEN]CS 642 90
At 31 March M3H31H8 1,315 673
The provision represents the management’s best estimate of BiEREEEENBRERREAEE
the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting period. As at B BEHREMET o 702023F &2022
31 March 2023 and 2022, the amount is calculated based on F3IA3MH @EIREBETAEER
the principal assumptions stated as below: RETHE -
2023 2022
Salary inflation rate FeRX 5% 5%
Discount rate IR R 3.01%-3.33% 0.87%-2.09%
The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of AFTENETHRENSOHEER
the defined benefit obligation was carried out as at 31 March EmREECEBRARRAAM2023
2023 and 2022 by Graval Consulting Limited. The present FEN2029F3A31HETT - KEEH
value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group was AEEMNBEERERABRFELES

measured using the projected unit credit method. FLUERTE o




Annual Report 2022/23 “F 3k

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. ®RA&
Number of
shares  Share capital
RGO E B2
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &R EE % #0.01TH
ZER
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 R2021F4 318 ~ 2022F
and 2023 }2023F3H31H 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid ERTRHE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and ~ R20214F4F18 ~ 20224
2023 N2023%F3H31H 500,000,000 5,000

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other
borrowings disclosed in note 29, lease liabilities disclosed in
note 16, bank balances and cash disclosed in note 26, and
equity attributable to the owners of Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt

33. EAXAREE

AEBMERERN BEAKENE
BEAKELE AREBEILLE
15 R IR A S SR AR B Bl R AL
AEENBEBRBEEEZFEERTT

AREEHE RSB EM T2
BRRTEREMESR 16 R
BEWHEERE M6 RE MR
THBERAS  URARBHEEB A
FEiE s (BRIED BITRA R

ARREZBYFENELARE -
EREEHN—HD ARBESF
EREARAREZREAREER
Rk REARAEZTHEZR K
SEREBERIRMBE - BITH
P& 7 Ko 1] B AR 1) LA K2 B AT B 15 3K
BMEREEH TOERBEARARSE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. €T A
Categories of financial instruments SRTENDE
2023 2022
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT 5T BET I
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost (including bank LA 855K AR 51 7R
balances and cash) (BIERTESRNIES) 357,902 348,099
Financial liabilities EMmasE
Financial liabilities stated at LA SE R AR 1) TR Y
amortised cost TRARE 236,980 155,380

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include
pledged deposit, amounts due from joint operations, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, loan and interest
receivable, bank balances and cash, trade and retention
payables, accruals and other payables, amount due to a
related company and bank and other borrowings. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments included
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
() Currency risk
Each individual group entity has its own functional
currency. Foreign exchange risk to each individual group
entity arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC and the

HMHEEREEEEREX
AEENTIECREERAEER
EEAER BREZEXEBHREA
B 5 RWFIR - mE RE b WK
B RBERERRANE RITERR
B  BHRAFAMEMNRES
FEET &M M A e 5R08 - B —
8 B8 2 B IR A R R 1T R A M 5
E-ZFeRTANFBEREEN
HTPRE - AZEERTARRAN
R eEmsRR (%R KM E
Rk - EERRBREADHESRAR -
AfADRL IR % F R BR H R B T X
EEEEERERZSHMERNEA
B DAREOR BB R A BT EE T
BEREE -

m5E R

() EEER
BEEBNEEERESAAD
MIIBEEH - EREOBEER
HREBRBNEELBEIAIF
EREENNERER
EREERSELIINERAR
AEBMERESTE  FERNMIE
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. €T A
Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEEZERBUR(B)
(continued)
Market risk (continued) B R (E)

E¥m R (E)
R¥EBH - REBASMNES
BENEBREENRKREENT

0] Currency risk (continued) ()
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are

as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =L

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT B¥%Tx A8Tr

us$ Y 1,000 = = =
GBP HgE 69,551 12,391 (41,968) =
RMB AREE 70,102 895 (67,438) =

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to US$, GBP and RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2022: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk

A& HE B AT SN R I
WA BEEESEEIE
Rk & EEERE B+
BERIMNER K o

BURE D
AEBTIEEEET R
ARERR -

74

TRFIAEBE B HIEEE
AN 38 00 K20 5% (20224F ¢
5% ) B EXE © 5% (20224F :
5%) JhRNERIEEZEEIE A B R

internally to key management personnel and represents HHNE R B B FT S R SR E
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible L - IR E R E B IMNERE R
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis BRI B 25T o URE
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated ATEBREREENINEEE

monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2022: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(a decrease) in post-tax profit where HK$ strengthen 5%
against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of
HK$ against the relevant currency, there would be an

BRIHE - R R E RN
‘ﬁ% T“‘{t5%(2022¢ 5%

AEHRE JL
THME(8) BT RRBE Y
18 B & FHE5 %8 Bk B 12
FHE A0 G ) o qns s 5 48
EHEES% B G Y IBRE

equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

EHRENEREE -

— -“ . [r-‘)t-- .

l
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(i)

40.

E@MIA %
MEERETERERKE (&)

Market risk (continued) B R (E)
Currency risk (continued) () EEEEE)
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BRRE DT (8&)
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Effect on post-tax profit R B 18 05 ) 19 52 22
us$ ey (42) -
GBP R (1,152) (517)
RMB AR (111) (37)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities, pledged deposits
and bank borrowings (see notes 16, 25 and 29 for
details). The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other
necessary action when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowing (see notes 26 and 29 respectively). It is the
Group's policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
sk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong
\terbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").

() FEE
AEEEHEHACEHEESR
&  BEBERRBTEE (G
15 R M 5E16 - 25%29) B9 A F
B ERR - AEE B W E
FIRE R - Rifn - BIEE
BRI RER - WHERIBR
IR E R F R R b 5 %

o A
T o

ASKE I HEERARRRITESR R
FRBITEENRESREF X
Rk (9 5l R FE26%29) ° A
SENBRRIRFTEEMEE
BEREATFEMNEAR -

AEEHBENTRE BN ERE
AR ANTREE AR
EE—H - AKBNRESRE
MEEBREZEPRBBRT
RZFE (BEBBITEAER
B HKE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. €T A

Financial risk management objectives and policies MERKEEEZERBER (B

(continued)

Market risk (continued) B R (E)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FIEER (&)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined A TBRE ST T ER RS
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative RIFETETENFNERRE
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The TE o DT TR AR A HA AR 4
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments AXNERTARBEFE
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were AL - ERHREEZEEE
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2022: A B &5 A = & 2 B £ B 101
10 basis points) increase or decrease is used when E2E (20224 : 10fEEEZL) 20
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management gOR D  HIEEREH N X
personnel and represents management's assessment of SR T AL F B EH MYRTAE o

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2022: 10 il K & £ F T BE101E E 25
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were (2022 - 101 &%) BT AE
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year HthEERFIE - AXEH
ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase by H E2023F3A31HIEFER
approximately HK$24,000 (2022: HK$86,000). This is BR Bt 18 5@ A R 18 a0 4
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest 75 24,0007 (20224 : B HE
rates on its bank balances and variable-rate bank 86,0007T) cEEERHRA
borrowing. SEMEBRITASRRZERTT

f& & BRI R @ o

Credit risk EE R

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to BN FE36FT I ER - 74202343 31
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due H AEBENKAEERR (X8
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and BAEERRSHFRERBITAMT
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the carrying DRSS EREERMER P EIELX)
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated KBRS AR RIS B #R
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the cREENRESREREREEMR
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to guarantees issued BREREENIRBESTE -

by the Group is disclosed in note 36.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the AEEERRREREE  AEEE
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of BECZKEFEEECERAEE -

credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures EREHREMERIET AR
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue FEER IR 3 15 pE U Bl a8 HR (B 7 - BE
debts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider mME ARAEFRR/AEEHEER

that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. [Rfg B2 KRR D e
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. €T A (s

1A

NS

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL
on an individual basis for customer with significant balances
and/or collectively by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate.

For loan to an associate and loan and interest receivable,
the Group determines the ECL on an individual basis,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as
well as the general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtor operates. In addition, the Group reviews
the collectability of zero coupon bonds at the end of each
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk of other financial assets is managed through an
internal process. The Group closely monitors the outstanding
amounts of other financial assets at amortised costs and
identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in order to reduce
the risk of a credit related loss. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

HMEEREERERBEEE)

EEmAE (&)

EZRBKBARANEEMS -
AEBEERBEEVHREEAF
SR REMEREER
AEBERBEG - AKERFEEK
EHRNEFERBETRAGEEER -
R/RERESLEEBERERNUR
BEBAKERETENEBEAEMNR
2 RE R B EREETEE -

FhAV B2 R B EE e B RROA R R R
EREMEME  AEEREBE
FEERERIREKAREMET
EN—REERR HEBEBEES
BETEBETE - 1o ARER
EMEPRBRFSTREESFNAL
Y - LA B AR 01 AT U (3 2 BE AT 1R
REVBIERRE °

Hie@REENEERRERA
RBEFERE AKET Y EERHEH
RAFTENHEMEREENRER
RE X REIHFEAEERR
LA A (= & R B A BE 1R 2K o BL otk
FOARRESRALAKEZEE
RERE KIEREE -

HRRXZHFRAFEREENR
BEBREENREEFRRT SR
PESHMEERRER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. €T A
Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEEZERBUR(B)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EEmE (&)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk K B E G A 15 B R
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises AEBERREERRERERECE
the following categories: AT #4851 -
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
Al fut BREANCEFENELE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of 12-month ECL

default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
RiF RENERSBVAERREERRABERE 12@AABBEEER
MEEEERENEREE (HAE R

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

A] ¢ BYIREREEERBREFERENIIIFEER 2HRBEESE -BEFEERE
ENEREE(BRE_BR)

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL - credit impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

E %Y E-HAZHEEFHHEENGARRRERE >HBEMEEEE -—HREERE
ETFZER  eREENFAREEREAE (%ﬁ
REZMER)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
ks EORKXABHABARENTBRE - AMA  HIBDHME

SBEWEFIEN S EBTE
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets, contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts, as well as the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk grades

are disclosed in respective notes.

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial asset at FVTPL
as disclosed in note 23 best represents its respective maximum
exposure to credit risk. The Group holds no collateral over the

balance.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 9% (2022: 16%)
and 42% (2022: 65%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors

respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2022:

100%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2023.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and obligations under finance leases and ensures

compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2023 and 202 the Group had not breached

any of the covenant clauses of its borrowings (note 29).

34.

E@MIA %
MEERETERERKE (&)

EEmAE (&)

A E B g e 1= B AL (B
AEBNEREE ANEENRM
BRERAENNEEEERE  URAEAK
BZEERREENZAEERR
RAAREMT P IR EE -

I 23 E  AEEEATE
AAABENSREENREERE
REREZENEKREERR A%
%) 3 B B AE BR A A (T o

R9% (20224 1 16% ) K%42%
(20224 : 65% ) W& 5 JE W TR IB 42
B RIEBAEERKERAR
AREBANZE RAEEHE
EREERR -

AEEZEMEEHHNEERR
EFRREF  HR2023F3A31H
E 5N RTEEEE100% (20224 -
100%) °

MBELEE

EEERDESRARE AREE
EREFEEER/EANRE R
BeFEY URKEEMNEKRE
HES UHERSRERIOF
Z - EEEERRITERNERR
MEMEEEFE UHERETERZ

s
7 °

72023F M2022F3A31H * AEE
WEERTAEREE (KE29) 8
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights within one year after the
reporting date. The table includes both interest and principal

cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,

Annual Report 2022/23 “F 3k

34. €T A )

HMEEREERERBEEE)

mBELmE ()

TRAMBAKED 0 E EE HRRA
FTEERABRHEEABMNRT
BHEHA - ZRXREAEEA K
ERIMNNZFERREBEER
BRRERERR -ABME &
BRTTAAREERRE AR —
FRTEEERN  HEREREE
BHREFRORITEEDHEAKFTNE
BB -ZXBERENEERASRESR
E-RBEHR WANEBRERF

B X RIRBR S BRREBH R

s

the undiscounted amount is derive from interest rate at the g
end of the reporting period.
Weighted Within Total
Average  1yearoron Morethan  undiscounted Canying
interest rate demand ~ 1to2years  2to5years Syears  cash flows amount
15R5, FERRE
Liquidity table b EEE HETHH% FEX 1225 21555 BEsE HELE FaE
% HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
ERIn BHTn EHIn ERIn BHTR ERTn
At31 March 203 R03E331H
Trade and retenton payables BHENTERERRES NIARER 88,49 - - - 88,49 88,496
Accuals and other payables EErERRAREMNE NIATER 731 - - - 0731 731
Amount due to  elaed company Ef-BBEANE NIATER 3494 - - - 349 349
Bank and other borrowings (note BAREMEE ) 205102572 45,845 36,581 45,020 - 127,46 12259
Financial quarantee confract HEERAD NIATER 80303 - - - 80303 -
20,869 36,581 45,020 - 304 236,980
Lease labiltes e 208102788 4501 45,135 144,780 3300 467,951 336470
At31 March 2022 RnE3A31A
Trade and retention payables BHRNTERENRAS NI EE 71548 = e = 71,58 71,548
Accuals and other payables EiERRAMENGE NV ER 501 - = = 2501 2501
Bank and other borrowings (note BREREE R 2302448 31,39 2410 233 - 66,197 58
Financial quarantee contract HRERAY NIATER 50,790 S = = 50,790
|
178,740 2470 N37 - 213547 155,389_.1
i
Lease [ieltes L 2810270 2410 33,264 %,763 159,799 31643 BT
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 34. €T A (s

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Notes:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “within one year or on demand” time band in
the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2023, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of the bank borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$24,746,000 (2022: HK$27,950,000). Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the directors of the
Company do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that the bank borrowings will
be repaid by monthly installments after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal
and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$25,620,000 (2022:
HK$28,910,000).

ii. The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest
rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

The amounts included above for guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if
that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period,
the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this
estimate is subject to change depending on the probability
of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by
the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Fair value measurement objective and policies

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
or rates from observable current market transactions as input.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the management
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurement.

The dl|( ctors of the Company consider that the carrying

amou of other financial assets, and financial liabilities

ts approximate to their fair values.

re_cordé at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statemg

ot %5 L B o B E ERBE

Di?‘
-

nmBEE AR (E)
Wit -

MAEREREGEEERNRITEER
REXEHASMTERAFIAT—FR
B3R Bk | A BF FE B} - 120233 A
318 - RITEBEEZARAUB AL EE
#4976 #24,746,0007T (20224 : B &
27,950,0007T) ° & & B 7 & B & B
Bk ARABERW TRARITA
éﬁﬁﬁﬁ%/l%ﬁé%ﬁﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁ% N
ARIEEHERITEEBKRBER
eI R }%EIHEEA%‘Z& K
BEANHEE- C AERER
FIEIR &ML 7%% ﬁ%zs,ezo,oom
(20224 : 51#£28,910,0007T) °

i WIBFERBEARENREE
BRI E AR AT A 3EhT
A RABHIBHELASEN
gHE -

AEREREDFTANSEINY
FHHREREERAKEREL
HABN2BERNESSE R
BERBEARNER  AEERZR
RATEBARB LM EASHE
AR WEMGEFRETEF I REE
RIBHRROAEMEME - MLt a]
MBI REERUFIAFEDN
TRENFEEERZEEEEM
5 o

AFHEITEBEEREFE
TREERTRAENAFEIR
BAREERN RREMERK

ABRRAMERHHEXSE AR
BORRBSRED T METE ° i
BAESF —RBABE  AEE
JE3& M E o E R R A BUR
AEAYE-
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35. COMMITMENTS 35. A&iE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Capital commitments contracted for — HtUA TN &BRERE B
but not provided in the consolidated ~ ¥REE 5] 4B R B EHH
financial statements in respect of: B AR
— Acquisition of investment — B E %
properties 50,039 39,452
— Acquisition of plant and — YR Es K R
equipment 496 1,758
50,535 41,210
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. AAAE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided
the following guarantees:

RBEYR - AREELATE
*

2023 2022
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Guarantees in respect of performance FLBXEHFNEEF
bonds in favor of its clients BXm ARER 80,303 50,790

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it was not
probable that a claim would be made against the Group
under the relevant financial guarantees. The directors of
the Company have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of these contracts. Accordingly,
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12
month expected credit loss which is insignificant at the end of
the reporting period.

ARAREERA REMVBYHE
RAREEEHBARNAEETK
ARREECETRENE LR
REVRERZEAHNUNER  FE
R B I 48 R E IR 00 o H U MRS
R - ZBEERN2EANEREE
BRSHEENBRBEREN -

é
e

! BTN
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

39. HEKMB QA
68 20 B 5E9AT At - 7202241 A

As referred to in note 9, on 28 January 2022, the Group (a)
discontinued its aquatic products business at the time of
disposal of BGI Group. The net assets of BGI Group at

the date of disposal were as follows:

28H  AEBERNHEEXNEF
SERRIPKERL - EXE
AEERLERHNEETFE

NN
Consideration received 2R E
HK$'000
BT
Cash received (equivalent to EWRIRE (FHEREL
approximately RMB85,831,000) AR #85,831,0007T) 105,021
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which HAEZHENEERAEN
control was lost: D
HK$'000
BT T
Property, plant and equipment W - R KR 97,108
Other intangible assets HEmpEE 1,736
Biological assets EYEE 9,574
Financial asset at fair value through RO ETAERD
profit or loss SREE 1,026
Prepayment for acquisition of WHEIERB B ER
non-current assets TEfT5RIE 33,513
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 515
Deferred tax assets RERRIBEE 3,450
Inventories Tf’f 5,144
Trade receivables Z S WA 32,669
Deposits, prepayments and other ?;zﬁ TE I K
receivables H A fE W SR IE 27,888
Amount due from an associate FE B 2 A R SRIE 10,737
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 18,456
Trade payables B 5 M E (24,100)
Contract liabilities aHaE (7,176)
Accruals and other payables FEETE N H A S 5RIE (16,887)
_Bank and other borrowings ﬁETT RHMEE (73,670)
'AKL'Vea_se liabilities HEARE (663)
“Tax payable FERIFRIE (6,072)
“Deferred income JEIEUR A (25,766)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEAE (1,461)
86,021
AN AN N BB ==
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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37. HEMEB QT &)

(@)  (continued) (@) (&)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR :

HK$'000

BT

Consideration received R ME 105,021
Less: net assets disposed of o HENEEFE (86,021)

Add: non-controlling interests N SERE AR iR 56,254

Add: reclassification of foreign currency Il : INEBMBEEENEFH O L8

translation reserve 2,692

77,946

The gain on disposal was included in the profit for the
year from discontinued operation as set out in note 9.

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries

AP FEORT AL - HE W EE
BRENERIERBOFZR

HEMBRARNRERAFR

HK$'000

BET T

Cash consideration BeRE 105,021
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of J& : HEHRITESRNIRE (18,456)
86,565

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
disposed its entire interest on a subsidiary, FIIZE Gk E
BIRAT ("EFEEE"). The net assets of ZE/F 5 Eat the

date of disposal were as follows:

Consideration received

REE2022F3A318 L&
B AEBELEENKBAF
RN EGHERR AR ([EE
HEDNEIER -EFHE
REEBBMNEEFERT -

2R E

HK$'000
BT

Cash received (HK$1 rounded to zero)

BElRe (B ITHBEREARE) -

! BTN

|
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. HEMBEQFE @)
(b)  (continued) by (&)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control HAEZHENEERAED
was lost: A
HK$'000
BT T
Inventories BE 15,694
Trade receivables Z 5 W GRIE 8,590
Deposits, prepayments and other e BNRER
receivables H e W IR 4,443
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRIRE 877
Trade payables B 5 eI IR (31,277)
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H A FE I 5RIB (2,634)
(4,307)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—REKBE AT NS :
HK$'000
BT T
Consideration received ERRE =
Less: net liabilities disposed of B EHENAEFE (4,307)
(4,307)
The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year AN EE10FT I - HEWEFE
from discontinued operation as set out in note 10. BREREERIEEBHFEE R
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNRERE FE
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration HeRE -
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of & : HE&EHRITHEBRIES (877)
(877)

MR

-
A7
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the Company
passed on 25 November 2015 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 24 November 2025. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to outside third parties for settlement in respect

of goods or services provided to the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue during any 12-month period, without prior

approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from
the offer date subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof, and provided that the Board may determine the
minimum period for which an option has to be held or other
restrictions before its exercise. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share option has been granted since the Scheme has been
adopted. As at 31 March 2023, there are no outstanding

share options issued under the Scheme (2022: nil).
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BB AR5
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial (a) BRERE MBI E AT I
statements, during the year, the Group entered into FRAE N - AN B F A B R
transactions with related parties as follows: FEIMN TR 5
2023 2022
Related party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
) bl REME BETT BT T
Hong Kong Qing Chuang Limited Loan interest income
(note i) 1,080 1,048
BEARBRIBRDA (H15ti) ERAEHRA
Windmill Street Development Limited  Interest income on bond - 621
BRFSWA
Service income 7,248 -
AR 75 4 A
Yee Hop - Amain JV Service income 2,467 1,493
AR 75 WL A
Pioneer National Development Limited ~ Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(note (i) and (i) 903 1,247

HIEBRER DR (M0 R(0) EREEENE

Interest expense of lease

liabilities 35 55
HERRNF SR
Asia Time Development Limited Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(notes (i) and (i) 272 544

BRERAR QR (W)L I)) EREEENE

Interest expense of lease

liabilities 12 31
HEABENHNERX
Hilton Development Limited Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(notes (i) and (i) 457 915

LB BRAR DA (B0 K1) EREEENE
Interest expense of lease
liabilities 21 52
MEAENHNSRX
Land Treasure Development Limited Depreciation of right-of-use asset
(notes (i) and (if) 399 799
i B R A R A (B aE0) R (i) EREEENE
Interest expense of lease

liabilities 18 46
HEEBENFISMAY

VAV WA

T

= iy

v
2 o,
v |
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BBEA RS (8

(@) (continued)
Notes:

The above transaction was conducted at terms determined
on a basis mutually agreed between the Group and the
related parties. The directors of the Company have control
and direct beneficial interest in the above mentioned related
parties.

ii. The above tenancy agreements were early terminated on 30
September 2022. Details were set out in the announcements
dated 30 September 2022.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The directors of the Company consider that they and
one employee are the key management personnel of the
Group. Other than remuneration paid to the directors
of the Company as disclosed in note 11, the Group
paid significant compensation to one key management
personnel during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022, details of which are disclosed in note 12.

40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs,
capped at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by employees.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate
in respective government retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of
the eligible employees. Contribution made to the Schemes is
calculated based on the certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the
PRC. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
Schemes is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the
Schemes.

(@ (&)
ptaE -

it 32 5 iR AN o (B R R gt O K
Rl 197 7€ 2 B 2 B8 T B iR SR8
1 ARREBER L BHE TS
ARG LERESES -

i. S ER202249A
30HIRERIE - BAFBEER
A A2022F9 A30B MR »

(b) ETEEIE A S WH MM
RARESRABER—%E
BAAEENFEEEAR -
Braan B sE 11 AT B S S T A
RAESEMHFM /N AEE
R ELE2023F &2022F3 H31
BEFER—ZEXBERAS
TR REEM FEEERH
FF12

40. RIR1E R &

REMAREE

AEBAERBEMBEAERKERR
VoATEERE - FHEAEERAEE
BESHAFBE BITAZGNE
CERE -ASEZEBLIENEN
5% (_EBR A& A % ¥1,5007T) A58
BaorrElfELHE - fmEEHER
L= IR ARR]

REFEERERNAE A5H
A B B9 B X 7] 2 B AR R U R
KiEFIEH & (581 - itk B8
nAAAGEHRK RAEERER
HRREAIR B & o sF &Y
AR YR AP B 2 SR P AR RE RO 53 A R B AR
AWETEDLAE - AEEHG
M- R EERBEFIINFBE
P 5 B B3R o
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (continued) 40. ERAREFETE (@)

Defined contribution plans (continued) FEMKETE (E)

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in BREFEREBEBEZRNAT &
the Philippines, the subsidiary of the Group in this country ERAEMHBE AR EEELE
participates in respective Social Security System (the “System”) REBX(BRD Bt WELQ
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the RIZAMBREN REEKBEED
System to fund the social security benefits of the eligible HEREBRREHES BRHX
employees. Contribution made to the System is calculated TIRIRSERE B KM T ERF
based on the certain percentages of the applicable payroll M A E TEDLETE - N&EE
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the Philippines. HEZNE—STEBRBEERIN
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the System is SEEFT TR K o

to pay the ongoing required contribution under the System.

The total cost charged to profit or loss amounted to BHZE2023F3A31HIEFE - Ri8
approximately HK$7,916,000 (2022: HK$9,402,000) of which 7 0 B 7 48 5K A8 49 75 857,916,000
nil (2022: approximately HK$997,000) is from discontinued 7L (20224 : % #9,402,0007T) -
operation for the year ended 31 March 2023. The payment HA BT (2022F : A8
represents contributions payable to these schemes by the 997,0007C) R EE R IE¥ - % F
Group in respect of the current accounting period. FRIA RN E gk A 5T B R T 5%

FRTEIMER -

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group REE20234F K%202293H318 IEF
has no forfeited contributions from the pension schemes B AEBETEREERSFTEN
(i.e. contributions processed by the employees who leave the R (BT F BRI Al
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contribution) available BEFRET 60 (R B P A M 50) 7 A
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future R ERRRFERZNRAKEETE

vears 3 -
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41. R T8 BB AR R R
THE COMPANY
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ke e
Non-current asset IRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBERARHKRE 14,808 14,808
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries g B NEI B
(Note a) (Kiita) 112,224 112,720
Prepayments TEAT K08 133 133
Bank balances and cash RITEHRKR S 316 173
112,673 113,026
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIERERTEA 605 875
605 875
Net current assets REBEEFE 112,068 112,151
Net assets EEFHE 126,876 126,959
Capital and reserve ERR#E
Share capital [N 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note b) s (B tb) 121,876 121,959
Total equity A 126,876 126,959
Note: Kiat -
(@)  The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and repayable (a) BEFIBEEKIR - 8 ik Bk
on demand. BE -
(b)  Movements in reserves (b) EHEE
Share Merger Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RAEE AOHEE BiER Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BB BETT
As at 1 April 2021 R202144818 112,583 14,808 (5,337) 122,054
Loss and total comprehensive FABBRZERT AT -
expense for the year - _ (95) (95) I
As at 31 March 2022 M20224%3H31H 112,583 14,808 (5,432) 121,959 H
Loss and total comprehensive FABBRZERAT AT fl
expense for the year - - (83) (83);1
As at 31 March 2023 M2023%F3H31H 112,583 14,808 (5,515) 121,876g -
»
1 N
X
— A N
S P O
- A 4 Ay y A 4 y 4
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 2. XA EXTEHBE QA
COMPANY
Place of Percentage of equity interest
incorporation/  Place of Issued and fully paid share capital/ and voting power
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HEL/
il K RIS BEnY BRARARRA/ EMER KAREERERRARE AL IEER
2023 2022 223 2022

Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
i [GE:3 =t 3

Yee Hop Engineering Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and construction
HK$ 14,800,001 HK$ 14,800,001
ZalRk &b &E ERRAR ERERAR - 100% - 100% IRREZ
14,800,0017C 14,800,0017C
Yee Hop Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares = 100% = 100%  Construction contracting
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
BREE 20 & TRRES 00T ERBER1,000T - 100% - 100%  BERB
Y. H. Foundations Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and construction
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
EAE B B LRRELI000m  ERBRER10007 - 100% - 100%  IEREE
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc. Philippines Philippines Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Provision of logistic services to
PHP21,250,000 PHP21,250,000 construction and mining sites
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc. Feg EE EER21,250000  EBER21,250,000 = 100% = 100%  ARERFBMAREMR
FRELER FRELR TR
Guangzhou Qingchuang Heaven and earth PRC PRC RMB 20,000,000 RMB 20,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Premises revitalisation and
Commercial Operation Management enhancement in the PRC
Co., Ltd.* (note (@)
EMEERBXERERERAA il HE ABH20,000,0007T  AR%:20,000,0007C - 63% - 63%  RPBZMFECRAR
W)
Guangzhou Qingchuang ideal Commercial PRC PRC RMB 15,000,000 RMB 15,000,000 - 70% - 70% Premises revitalisation and
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (note (@) enhancement in the PRC
ENEAEERXERERARAR HE HE ARE15000000  AR%15,000,0007 - 70% - 0%  ReEZHFECRAR
(Hita)
Guangzhou QingChuang Wangdi Commercial ~ PRC PRC RMB7,000,000 RMB7,000,000 - 63% - 63% Premises revitalisation and
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (note (@) enhancement in the PRC
ENERENEXELERARAR Gl GilEl ARE7000000T  AKH7,000,0007 - 63% - 63%  RPEZMERCRAR
(e
Guangzhou Yihe QingChuang Commercial PRC PRC RMB3,500,000 RMB3,500,000 - 70% - 70% Premises revitalisation and
Operanon Co,, Ltd.* (note (a)) enhancement in the PRC
ENRABABXERARNAMiry) A GilEd ARH3500000  ARH3500,0007 - 70% - 0% RPEZHFELRAR
Note: Kt -
(@)  These entities are registered as a private limited company under the (a) ZEERREPRERETEATA
PRC law. ABRAT o
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, ARREERE  ERIEAXE
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally B AR EEFERNEBAER

the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To FEERBE - XRAIESERA -
Lof other subsidiaries would in the opinion of the REEMKERFMNFBSEERF
BILEK

* hXAEEEEMSER -
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 7 2 NN e 1 = N TRE )]
COMPANY (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other RMEPR  ASEHEBHAEE
subsidiaries that are not individually material to the Group. mMEERBTEAHEMMTBAR -
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are sales of ZEMBRAAMEZZEXEBRIEEK
aquatic products and investment holding. A summary of these EmEiREER ZEME QAR
subsidiaries are set out as follows: THEIIET

Number of subsidiaries

g N E <=
Principal activity ~ Principal place of FTEE I
FTEXEHK business 2023 2022
Investment holding - Hong Kong —B8 5 3
HEER — The British Virgin —HBRIES
Islands (the "BVI")  ([REBEZES]) 8 8
Inactive - Hong Kong — Bk 5 4
N BB —The PRC —HE 3 2
~The BVI —EERARS 1 1
- Vietnam — 1 1
- Macau — BP9 1 1
24 20
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities WEARBEBEITHAMEFEERK
subsisting at the end of both years or at any time during both MEFEEHEFENEBES
years.
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

42. KATEEME QT (&)

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group that has non-controlling interests that are

material to the Group:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and principal

Proportion of ownership interest

Proportion of voting power held

TRINTHEBEAEEMSBEK
BB RENAREFZENE

ARZEE

Loss attributable to

Accumulated

Name of subsidiary place of business held by non-controlling interests by non- controlling interests non- controlling interests non-controlling interests
ElAWE A FERBEREN FERBEREN
HELRER BREZEXHE fadRELA FRELH) FERESRLEEE ZiEERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 202
% % % % HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
BT BRI BRI EETT
B e (note ) (note_i) (note ) (note_/') ° Q1) ° -
EREF i - - - -
(i) (i) (Wi (i)
YH Qing Chuang Limited The PRC
("YHQC") 30% 30% 30% 30% (8,186) (1,556) (7,506) 838
R EEIARAA hE
(15458
(8,186) (22,647) (7,506) 838
Note: Hiat -

BGI Marine was disposed of on 28 January 2022 following the

Disposal.

The summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group, before intragroup eliminations:

BGI Marine

ERGFRNEEFIEIRE20229F1 A

288 FALHE -

BREHAEEBEAFERERN
EAEENBRARANY K ERME
(RETEREARRIELHE) -

EAXBF

2023
HK$'000
BT

2022
HK$'000
BT

Non-current assets

Current assets

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
~ of|the.Company

FRBEE
mBEE
FnBEaE
mEBE

ARAHEA ANEEER

FEIER R
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. KRBEEMEB LT @)
COMPANY (continued)
BGI Marine BEREF
Year ended Period ended
31 March 28 January
2023 2022
BZE HE
2023 20224
3A31H 2H28H
LEFE 1B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue g %5 - 92,048
Expenses 53 - (186,135)
Loss for the year/period FA/EHNERE - (94,087)
Loss attributable to owners of the RARVHEE NEIGERE
Company - (72,996)
Loss attributable to non-controlling IR M S PR B 1B
interests* - (21,091)
Loss for the year/period FAN/HANERE - (94,087)
Net cash inflows from operating KL EBRBRESRAFRE
activities - 24,445
Net cash outflows used in investing REZBFAReRLFE
activities - (10,637)
Net cash outflows (used in) financing ~ EE & /EE) (FTFR)
activities RE ML FE - (5,700)
Net cash inflows WMEMNFEE - 8,108
* The amounts included net assets or loss attributable to 2 ZeHBRBRERNGFNB QAR
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of BGI Marine. IRIER B FEESEE -
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. KATEEME QT (&)
COMPANY (continued)
YHQC E 3=
2023 2022
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current assets IERBEE 408,659 268,886
Current assets MEEE 64,075 68,349
Non-current liabilities EmBEE (367,651) (255,596)
Current liabilities mEaE (141,677) (85,830)
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ ANA G HEE AE(HEZS
Company (29,088) (5,029)
Non-controlling interests* FEVERR R (7,506) 838
Year ended Period ended
31 March 28 January
2023 2022
Bz HE
20234 20224
3A31H 2A28H
IEFEE 1-HARE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue g %5 3,230 =
Expenses 53 (33,392) (4,955)
Loss for the year FNEBE (30,162) (4,955)
Loss attributable to owners of the ARa)HEE AE(LEE
Company (21,976) (3,399)
Loss attributable to non-controlling IR M S (L B 1
interests* (8,186) (1,556)
Loss for the year FREE (30,162) (4,955)
Net cash inflows from operating KEEBFBRSRAFRE
activities 21,498 8,622
Net cash outflows used in investing WEEB AR F5E
(47,655) (76,428)
REFEBMBRESRAFE
23,150 86,587
sh (outflows) inflows Re (R RAFE (3,007) 18,781

e .amounts included net assets or loss attributable to
: trolling interests of subsidiaries of YHQC.

ZEHEBREEATAIME QR FE
iR FEEREE -



Annual Report 2022/23 “F 3k

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M RRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & £2023F3A31HILFE

43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 413 MEETEHELE B BYER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRENWNAEBRETHELE LS
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BEEHFE BREES AR H
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities FoMmEFDELELBBERBEL
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will HROBERNGEHRERERS
be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as HARETHRERNZEAE -

cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2023: B E2023F3A31HLFE :
Non-cash changes
#RE29
Financing cash  Finance costs New lease Early Exchange
11412022 flows incurred  arrangements termination  realignment 31/3/2023
00E FELHE pliki:3
4818 RERERE BA HEEZH REAL TR 38318
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000

BRI BRTR ERTR ERTR ERT ERTT BRT

Bank and other RITREMBEE HH29)

borrowings (note 29) 58,820 63439 - - - 122,259
Interest payable ERBEGrAEHER

(included in Accruals REMEME)

and other payables) 2] (4.828) 5,060 - - - 479
Amount due to a Ef-BNELAR-4

director of a subsidiary ~ EHEEIE (3t \Est

(included in Accruals BRERAMERNZE)

and other payables) 8,897 (2,300) - - - 6,597
Amount dueto arelated  ER—HEERAZE

company - 349 - - - = 3,494
Lease liabilities HEAR 237,067 (35,484) 21,997 133397 (3,442) (17,065) 336,470

305,031 4321 27,057 133397 (3,442) (17,065) 469,299

203
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43. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 413. METEELEZ2EGEYHE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued) (%)
For the year ended 31 March 2022: B ZE20229F3A31HIEFE :
Non-cash changes
£ R VL)
Financing cash Finance costs New lease The Disposal Exchange
1/412021 flows incurred ~ arrangements (note 37(a)) realignment 311302022
1% FEtRE HESE 2000
4B BERGNE A FHERR GE=IE) EiA% 3A318
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EETT AT AT BRI EETT BETT EETT

Bank and other RITRE R (HH29)

borrowings (note 29) 153,831 (21,341) - - (73670
Interest payable OEEGINHE -

(incluced in Accruals REMERTE)

and other payables) 2898 (9.944) 7,293 - - - u7
Amount due to a ER-HHEAR-2

drectorof asubsidiary ~ EEEHIE (2 A fER

(included in Accruals ERREMERZE)

58,820

and other payables) 7,591 1,306 - - - - 8,897
Amountduetoarelated  [ER—FEEER A

company 9,847 (9.847) - = = = =

Lease s BERf 136735 8319 3781 104414 63) g B3

312,902 (48,145) 11,074 104,414 (74333) (881) 305,031

44. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 44. FEFRERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered MBI E2023F3A3MBIELFE K
into new arrangements in respect of office properties and SERPAEMERABIT LN
motor vehicle. Right-of-use assets, investment properties T oFRAEEE REWMEKME
and lease liabilities of approximately HK$4,462,000 (2022: EBED K /B EAL462,0007T
HK$9,786,000), HK$128,935,000 (2022: HK$94,628,000) and (2022% : #%9,786,0007T) * %
HK$133,397,000 (2022: HK$104,414,000) respectively were #128,935,000 7T (20224 : B ¥
recognised at the commencement of the lease. 94,628,0007T) & 7% #133,397,0007T

(20224 : #1104,414,0007T) 27
TAERIGRERER
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hFHBEHSE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEHEE
For the year ended 31 March HZ=3A318IEFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
BETT BETT BETT BT BETT
(Re-presented)  (Unre-presented)  (Unre-presented)
(EFZY) (TEEFZ) (LEEHZ5)
Continuing operations RELSEER
Revenue Wiz \ 707,799 736,003 863,865 980,053 600,288
Cost of revenue WA A (631,589) (632,069) (764,088) (870,409) (484,009)
Gross profit ER 76,210 103,934 99,777 109,644 116,279
Gain from changes in fair value EMEEATEED
of biological assets less costs to Wega ml 88 B A AR
sell - - - 13,196 410
Other income and gain Hen A R Mz 26,128 9,597 40,829 45,803 1,933
Administrative and other expenses  1TIR & E 1 (75,321) (66,087) (68,592) (110,389) (65,583)
Selling and distribution expenses  $5%& L 5 #F (928) (223) - 21,177) (1,286)
Reversal of impairment loss SREERBAE
(impairment loss) of financial BEAEER)
assets 511 (2,437) (559) (1,996) -
Share of result of an associate NE—HEBELRXA 1,739 3,574 19,024 1,175 (@)
Finance costs %N (27,057) (7,101) (4,804) (7,576) (1,548)
Profit before taxation R AR A 1,282 41,257 85,675 28,680 50,201
Income tax credit(expense) FiEHiEe (Fx) 2,611 (8,251) (7,012) (6,174) (10,481)
3,893 33,006 78,781 22,506 39,720
Discontinued operations BRIEER
Loss for the year from E%@_%%%Ziw
discontinued operation Eia - (16,141) (40,511) - -
Profit for the year EREF 3,803 16,365 38,270 22,506 39,720
Other comprehensive income FREM2ENS
(expense) for the year (%) (5,839) 90 17,815 (12,016) (4,079)
Total comprehensive (expense) — FR2E (F%) Kz
income for the year k] (1,946) 16,955 56,085 10,490 35,641
As at 31 March M3A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE T BB T T BETF T BT T BETT
Non-current assets FERBEE 603,941 486,640 505,172 299,638 264,863
Current assets RBEE 452,041 391,231 460,793 495,096 403,921
Current liabilities mEEE (193,035) (149,467) (328,957) (372,311) (268,980)
Net current assets REEETFE 259,006 241,764 131,836 122,785 134,941 n
Total assets less current BERBRLE
liabilities =L 862,947 728,404 637,008 422,423 399,804 ‘
Non-current liabilities FRBAEE (389,944) (254,226) (193,199) (37,373) 41,312):
Net assets BEFE 473,003 474,178 443,809 385,050 358,4923

! BTN
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Glossary
HAAR

In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor’s Report AN R A OB S A% SR 3R 45 BB 75 8 R}
and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise requires, BAN)  BRIEXERBRE BE T

the following expression shall have the following meanings: FHEENTERE
2023 Financial Year”  for the year ended 31 March 2023 [203FMBEE]  BE2023F3A318LLFE
2022 Corresponding  for the year ended 31 March 2022 [20224 [F 5] BE202243A31ALLEE
Year”
“"AGM” Annual general meeting of the Company [RRBEFAE] ARARRBFAE
“Articles” the Articles of Association of the [E12481 ARRABKERA &L
Company, as amended from time to time 5T
“Birmingham Property ~ a project for the development of a [MRAZEMEER] —EAEENEZEREE &
Project” residential property which consists 304 $E Az 7 5 B2 18 B FE Windmill
apartments situated at Windmill Street, Street®)304F A

Birmingham, the United Kingdom

“Board"” the board of Directors of the Company 34 ARRIEER

“BVI" the British Virgin Islands [RER XS] EBEAHS

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code [EEaTa tEERTA

“Company” Yee Hop Holdings Limited, an exempted [RAE ] ERERERAR RAE
company incorporated in Cayman Islands HEEMKNEREAR
with limited liability, the shares of which AR ERORBR LT

are listed on the Stock Exchange

“connected person(s)”  has the meaning ascribed to it under the [BEAT] BB ETMRBME THRE
Listing Rules
“Controlling has the meaning ascribed thereto under (R AR ] EBELTHAUMETHR
Shareholder(s)” the Listing Rules and, in the context of Z ARALNEIMmME EE
the Company, means each of Mr. Jim, FHE - REERINZG

Mr. Chui and JJ1318

“Directors” the director(s) of the Company [E%] ARREE
“GBP” British Pound, the lawful currency of UK (B4 REFTEMRE
[,\1 - “Group” o the Company and its subsidiaries [A£E] ARERANERR
P | .
g‘ ' "HK$" | 3’ Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of A% BERLTEREARE
. $ Hong Kong
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Glossary
EHFAE
“Hong Kong” or “HK"

“JJ1318"

“Listing”
“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”
“Mr. Chui”

“Mr. Jim”

“PHP"
“PRC”

“Prospectus”

“RMB”

"SEQ”

“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

JJ1318 Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, is wholly
owned by Mr. Jim and is a Controlling
Shareholder

the listing of the Shares on the Main
Board on 18 December 2015

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the main board of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (#RELRA), an Executive
Director and a Controlling Shareholder

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (E#E$), an
Executive Director and a Controlling
Shareholder

Philippines Peso, the lawful currency of
the Republic of Philippines

The People’s Republic of China

the prospectus in relation to the Shares
Offer of the Company dated 8 December
2015

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong)

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 November 2015

holder(s) of the Shares of the Company
from time to time
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Glossary

ERAR

“Shares”

“Shares Offer”

“Stock Exchange”

“Yee Hop
Construction”

“Yee Hop Engineering”

Shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each

the public offer and placing of totaling
125,000,000 new Shares of the Company
at the offer price of HK$1.00 under the
Prospectus

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yee Hop Construction Company
Limited (BEAZEEGRAF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

Yee Hop Engineering Company Limited
(EATIRAEMRAA), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

[Btn ]
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